
M E M O R A N D U M

TO: 

FROM: 
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RE: 

Board of Directors 

Beth Doliboa, District Administrator 

July 15, 2021 

July 22, 2021, Board Meeting 

This memorandum shall serve as notice of the Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority:  

Thursday, July 22, 2021 
8:30 a.m. 

This meeting will be held in person for board members only. 
Public participants will continue to use Microsoft Teams for virtual attendance. 

Call-in information is available prior to the meeting by emailing bdoliboa@erwsd.org. 

Cc: Board Materials via Email: 
ERWSD Managers Caroline Bradford, Independent Consultant 

Steve Coyer, Mountain Star  
Melissa Nelson, Berry Creek Metropolitan District 
Bill Simmons, Beaver Creek Metropolitan District 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 
July 22, 2021, 8:30 a.m. 

via Microsoft Teams 
 
1. Consultant/Guest Introduction  

2. Public Comment•  

3. Action/Other Items 

3.1. Meeting Minutes of June 24, 2021, Meeting☼  

3.2. Meeting Minutes of June 24, 2021, Joint Meeting 1 with ERWSD☼  

3.3. Meeting Minutes of June 24, 2021, Joint Meeting 2 with ERWSD☼  

3.4. Consideration of FY 2020 Audited Financial Statement – McMahan and Associates☼  

3.5. Information Reports 

3.5.1. Development Report* 

3.5.2. Authority and District Committees* 

3.5.3. Authority June Meeting Summary – draft* 

3.5.4. Contract Log* 

3.5.5. Sustainable Destination MOU – Catherine Hayes and Kira Koppel* 

4. Strategy Items 

4.1. Board Member Input 

4.2. Drought Update – Len Wright, David Norris and Diane Johnson 

4.2.1.  Drought conditions and reservoir storage 

4.2.2.  Customer outreach update 

5. General Manager Report – Linn Brooks 

5.1. General Manager Information Items 

5.2. Finance Report – David Norris 

5.2.1. Quarterly Financials* 

5.3. Operations Report – Siri Roman* 

5.4. Engineering and Water Resources Report – Jason Cowles* 

5.4.1. Traer Creek Tank Update – Jeff Schneider and Mark Mantua* 

5.4.2. Unallocated Water – Jason Cowles  

5.4.3. Homestake Exchange – Jason Cowles 

5.5. Communications and Public Affairs Report – Diane Johnson* 

6. General Counsel Report – Jim Collins 

7. Water Counsel Report – Glenn Porzak  

7.1. Brett & Creamery Ditch case* 

7.2. Stag Gulch Wellfield diligence case* 

8. Executive Session pursuant to § 24-6-402(b) and (e), C.R.S. 

8.1. General Counsel Review of Matters in Negotiation – Jim Collins† 

8.1.1. Unification 



☼ Action Item Attachment * Informational Attachment † Confidential Attachment 
• Public comment of items not on the agenda is limited to three minutes per person on any particular subject for 

which public comment is accommodated, pursuant to § 18-9-108, C.R.S. 
 

 
8.2. Water Counsel Review of Matters in Negotiation  

8.2.1. Eagle River MOU Update – Jason Cowles 

8.2.2. Shoshone Update – Glenn Porzak  

8.2.3. Piney River Unit Conditional Water Right – Kristen Moseley†   

9. Adjournment 

 
The administrative offices are still closed. If you wish to attend the virtual meeting, 

please contact bdoliboa@erwsd.org prior to the meeting to receive Microsoft Teams 
information. 
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Audit Committee and the Board of Directors
Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Eagle County, Colorado

We have audited the financial statements of Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. Professional standards require that we provide you with the following information 
related to our audit.

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Policies

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority are described in the Notes to the 
financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies 
was not changed during the year.  We noted no transactions entered into by the governmental unit during 
the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. There are no significant 
transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different period than when the 
transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimate affecting the financial statements was:

Estimated useful lives for depreciation on fixed assets:  Management’s estimate of depreciation is 
based on industry practice and experience. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used 
to develop the useful lives used in determining depreciation and found that it is reasonable in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.   

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.  
Management has corrected all such misstatements prior to audit procedures being performed. The 
following material adjustments were identified during our audit:

 Recognition of stock donation from Eagle County in Eagle Park Reservoir Company

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial 
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be 
significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such 
disagreements arose during the course of our audit.
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Other Items

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 87:

Financial reporting standards for the District are promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (“GASB”).  GASB has issued Statement 87 (“GASB 87”), which will require recognition of certain 
lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized 
as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract.  GASB 
87 is required to be implemented for periods beginning after June 15, 2021.

Management Representations

As is required in an audit engagement we have requested certain representations from management that 
are included in the management representation letter.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Audit Committee and Board of Directors,
management, and others within the organization and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 
anyone other than those specified parties.

Sincerely,

McMahan and Associates, L.L.C.

June 28, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
(the “Authority”), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, which collectively comprise the 
Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents, and the related notes to the 
financial statements. The prior year comparative information has been derived from the Upper Eagle 
Regional Water Authority’s 2019 financial statements and, in our report dated August 27, 2020, we 
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority as of December 31, 2020, and 
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Other Matters

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis in Section B be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis in Section B in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

The budgetary comparison and debt service schedules in Section E are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements but is supplementary information required by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  The budgetary comparison and debt service schedules have
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statement or to the financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Authority’s financial statements as a whole.  The statistical data in Section F are presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The 
statistical data have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

McMahan and Associates, L.L.C. 
July 14, 2021
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The discussion and analysis is designed to provide an analysis of the Upper Eagle Regional Water 
Authority’s (the Authority) financial condition and operating results and to inform the reader on the 
Authority’s financial issues and activities.

The Management's Discussion and Analysis (the MD&A) should be read in conjunction with the 
Authority’s financial statements.

Financial Highlights

In 2020, total net position increased by $1,996,913 from $61,308,156 in 2019 to $63,305,069 in 
2020. Depreciation expense of $5,202,025 netted with debt payments of $1,144,077 and capitalized 
expenditures of $7,379,478 are the main reasons for the increase in net position along with the 
donated EPRC stock. Overall for the year, current and other assets increased by $31,433,765. A 
bond issue in 2020 provided cash for the multi-year capital program. Proceeds being held at 
December 31, 2020, for future capital project spending were $22,448,842. Capital assets increased
by $2,177,453, which represents total capital additions and contributions, net of changes in 
accumulated depreciation and disposals. Total liabilities increased $32,043,182 during 2020,
primarily as a result of the bond issuances.

In 2020, total revenues decreased by $2,159,256 relative to 2019, and total expenses increased by 
$556,237 when compared to 2019. The Authority’s 2020 financial activity generated a net increase
of $26,559,735 in net position prior to the depreciation on capital assets. In accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), $5,202,025 of capital asset depreciation was 
expensed, which does not represent cash funding for capital assets in the current period. The net 
result after GAAP adjustments was an increase in net position of $1,996,913 for 2020, compared to 
an increase in net position of $4,712,406 in 2019.

In 2019, total revenues increased by $4,975,932 relative to 2018, and total expenses increased by 
$709,110 when compared to 2018. The Authority’s 2019 financial activity generated a net decrease 
of $128,175 in net position prior to the depreciation on capital assets. In accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), $5,154,524 of capital asset depreciation was expensed, 
which does not represent cash funding for capital assets in the current period. The net result after 
GAAP adjustments was an increase in net position of $4,712,406 for 2019, compared to an 
increase in net position of $445,584 in 2018.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Authority are presented as a special purpose government engaged 
only in business type activities - providing water utility services.

The Statements of Net Position present information on all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, 
with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in 
the net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is 
improving or deteriorating.
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Overview of the Financial Statements (continued)

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present information that 
reflects how the Authority’s net position changed during the past year. All changes in the net 
position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of 
the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in the statement for 
some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods.

The Statements of Cash Flows report the Authority’s cash flows from operating, capital and related 
financing, and investing activities.

These financial statements distinguish functions of the Authority that will be principally supported by 
service charges. The functions of the Authority include effective and economical operation of water 
systems within the jurisdictional boundaries of the Authority. The notes to financial statements 
provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
financial statements.

NET POSITION

2020 2019 2018

Assets:

 Current and other assets 46,635,412$  15,201,647$  15,990,790$  

 Capital assets, net 79,548,908   77,371,455   73,638,863   

Total Assets 126,184,320  92,573,102   89,629,653   

Deferred Outflows of Resources:

 Deferred charge on refunding 442,751        13,874          27,747          

Total Deferred Outflows

of Resources 442,751        13,874          27,747          

Liabilities:

 Long-term liabilities 59,439,496   28,792,491   29,958,748   

 Other liabilities 3,882,506     2,486,329     3,102,902     

Total Liabilities 63,322,002   31,278,820   33,061,650   

Net Position:

 Net investment in capital assets 44,249,694   49,649,611   44,880,172   

 Restricted:

Debt 7,367,144     4,090,993     3,855,181     

 Unrestricted 11,688,231   7,567,552     7,860,397     

Total Net Position 63,305,069$  61,308,156$  56,595,750$  

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the Authority’s financial 
position. In the case of the Authority, assets exceeded liabilities. The general decline in net position 
is a result of expensing annual asset depreciation in accordance with GAAP reporting.
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Overview of the Financial Statements (continued)

The largest portion of the Authority’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets, less any
related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The Authority uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. 
Although the Authority’s net investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be 
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the 
capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

REVIEW OF REVENUES

2020 2019 2018

Revenues:

 Operating revenues:

Service fees 13,273,780$  11,300,594$  11,660,639$  

 Non-operating revenues:

Investment income 43,024          218,910        228,589        

Interest credit - Build 

 America Bonds 253,044        294,369        293,272        

Settlement proceeds -                  5,006,894     -                  

Other 34,868          50,460          57,260          

 Capital contributions:

Plant investment fees 668,439        2,300,552     1,216,759     

Water storage fees 45,184          192,392        -                  

EPRC stock - water rights 3,453,871     -                  498,685        

Contributed assets -                  567,295        1,000,330     

Total Revenues 17,772,210$  19,931,466$  14,955,534$  

In 2020, service revenues continued to increase year over year. During 2020, the Authority received 
shares of Eagle Park Reservoir Company from Eagle County. During 2019, the Authority received 
settlement proceeds related to ongoing litigation from past years. During 2018, the Authority 
received contributed access to water rights in the form of Eagle Park Reservoir Stock. 
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REVIEW OF EXPENSES

2020 2019 2018

Expenses:

 Operating Expenses:

Water treatment 4,630,148$   4,419,084$   4,135,545$   

Water distribution 5,431,869     5,708,499     4,819,271     

Other operating 856,278        995,751        1,279,958     

General and administrative 3,817,675     2,607,922     2,726,790     

 Non-operating expenses:

Interest expense 1,037,704     1,486,235     1,545,717     

Other 1,623           1,569           2,669           

Total Expenses 15,775,297   15,219,060   14,509,950   

Change in Net Position 1,996,913     4,712,406     445,584        

Net Position - Beginning of Year 61,308,156   56,595,750   56,150,165   

Net Position - End of Year 63,305,069$  61,308,156$  56,595,750$  

In 2020, total expenses increased year over year. The increase is related to general and 
administrative costs increasing in 2020.

In 2019, total expenses increased year over year. The increase is related to the Authority part of the 
expense of a water distribution project in Beaver Creek at Village Hall parking structure, which 
totaled 795,981 in 2019.

In 2018, total expenses decreased year over year. The decrease is related to general and 
administrative cost decreasing.
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The Authority’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019, were $79,548,908 and $77,371,455, respectively. This investment in capital assets 
includes land and land improvements, water rights and storage, treatment plants, distribution 
systems, telemetry, water wells, and construction in process.

Most of the water and storage rights currently used by the Authority were provided by the member 
government entities at no cost to the Authority. In accordance with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB), only owned water and storage rights are shown on the Authority’s 
Statement of Net Position at historic cost, totaling $1,709,148. This cost represents mostly legal 
expenditures to establish the Authority’s ability to use these rights to provide water directly to the 
customers of each of its members and a small acquisition of new rights. Also, in accordance with 
GASB, the investment in Eagle Park Reservoir Company Stock, which provides a valuable source 
of raw water supply, is not reflected in capital assets, but is shown in Other Assets at the historic 
cost. Management of the Authority believes the actual value of these water and storage rights used 
by the Authority to be much greater than historical cost at December 31, 2020. See the Schedule of 
Water and Storage Rights in the Statistical Section (page F5-8) for additional information.  Analysis 
of changes in capital assets in 2020 is as follows:

1/1/20 Reclasses 12/31/20

Beginning and Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital assets, not being 

 depreciated:

Land and land improvements 780,962           - - 780,962           

Water/storage rights 1,709,148        - - 1,709,148        

Construction in progress 8,497,210        7,797,557        (3,780,193)      12,514,574     

Total capital assets, 

not being depreciated 10,987,320     7,797,557        (3,780,193)      15,004,684     

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Treatment plants 41,234,573     756,699           - 41,991,272

Distribution system 90,911,165     2,605,415        - 93,516,580

Water wells 15,267,165     - - 15,267,165

Total capital assets

 being depreciated 147,412,903   3,362,114        - 150,775,017

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Treatment plants (23,698,474)    (1,585,753)      - (25,284,227)

Distribution system (50,431,884)    (3,013,113)      - (53,444,997)

Water wells (6,898,410)      (603,159)          - (7,501,569)

Total accumulated depreciation (81,028,768)    (5,202,025)      - (86,230,793)

Total capital assets,

being depreciated, net 66,384,135     (1,839,911)      - 64,544,224

Total capital assets, net 77,371,455     5,957,646        (3,780,193)      79,548,908     
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION (continued)

Capital Assets (continued)

In 2020, total net capital assets were $79,548,908, an increase of $2,177,453 from the 2019 amount 
of $77,371,455.  Net capital asset additions of $7,379,478 were offset by changes in accumulated 
depreciation of $5,202,025 for a net increase in capital assets of $2,177,453. 

In 2019, total net capital assets were $77,371,455, an increase of $3,732,592 from the 2018 amount 
of $73,638,863.  Net capital asset additions of $8,887,116 were offset by changes in accumulated 
depreciation of $5,154,524 for a net in capital assets of $3,732,592. 

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note III.F to the financial 
statements.

Long-term Debt

At the end of 2020, the Authority had revenue bonds of $58,476,802 and an assessment payable to 
Eagle Park Reservoir Company of $962,694.

At the end of 2019, the Authority had revenue bonds of $27,735,720 and an assessment payable to 
Eagle Park Reservoir Company of $1,056,771. 

BUDGET VARIANCES AND FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS

Budget Variances

In 2020, revenues were above budget expectations by $23,330,408. The positive variance is mainly 
due to the Authority under budgeting for bond proceeds, which were issued during 2020. The 
expenditure budget was $32,959,183, including $12,715,249 of capital additions. Actual 
expenditures were $1,335,929 more than budget. The negative is mainly due to the payment on the 
refunded 2013 bond issuances.

2021 Budget Considerations

The Authority will continue to promote wise use of water and support a comprehensive water 
conservation program.  Additionally, the Authority will explore opportunities to develop or acquire 
new water resources.

The approved expenditure budget for 2021 is $36,500,000 including $25,563,644 of capital 
additions. 

The 2021 water use rates continue to include base fees and a five-tier usage structure. Each tier 
allows 10,000 gallons of water use per SFE. The tier pricing progressively increases above previous 
tier to further promote wise use of water. 

The 2021 monthly water rates are $20.77 service base rate per SFE, plus $7.73 debt service base 
rate per SFE, plus $3.96 capital replacement program base rate per SFE and tied usage rates of 
$4.35 per 1,000 gallons for tier one, $6.52 per 1,000 gallons for tier two, $9.77 per 1,000 gallons for 
tier three, $14.68 per 1,000 gallons for tier four and $22.02 per 1,000 gallons for tier five (32,000 
gallons and over).
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances. Questions 
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information 
should be addressed to: Linn Brooks, General Manager, Eagle River Water and Sanitation District, 
846 Forest Road, Vail, Colorado 81657.
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2020 2019
Assets:
 Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents - Unrestricted 4,799,066     2,688,310     
Cash and cash equivalents - Restricted 30,736,415    4,090,993     
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibles:

Accounts 1,835,786     2,967,323     
Interest - Build America Bonds 279,155        26,110          
Current portion of notes receivable 7,771            7,369            

Prepaid expenses 127,070        900               

Total Current Assets 37,785,263    9,781,005     

 Non-current Assets:
  Other Assets:

Patronage dividend receivable 384,040        400,633        
Notes receivable - Due in more than one year 67,636          75,407          
Investment in Eagle Park Reservoir Company 8,398,473     4,944,602     

Total Other Assets 8,850,149     5,420,642     

  Capital Assets:
Land and improvements 780,962        780,962        
Water/storage rights 1,709,148     1,709,148     
Construction in progress 12,514,574    8,497,210     
Treatment plants 41,991,272    41,234,573    
Distribution system 93,516,580    90,911,165    
Water wells 15,267,165    15,267,165    
 Less: Accumulated depreciation (86,230,793)  (81,028,768)  

Total Capital Assets 79,548,908    77,371,455    

Total Non-current Assets 88,399,057    82,792,097    

Total Assets 126,184,320  92,573,102    

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred charge on refunding 442,751        13,874          

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 442,751        13,874          

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of 

Resources 126,627,071  92,586,976    

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Statements of Net Position

 December 31, 2020 and 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
C1



2020 2019
Liabilities:
 Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable - Other 987,898        898,738           
Accounts payable - ERWSD 2,654,848     1,378,874        
Interest payable 212,930        133,421           
Loans and bonds payable - Due within one year 334,204        1,144,077        
Deposits 7,124            7,244              

Total Current Liabilities 4,197,004     3,562,354        

 Non-current Liabilities:
Other payables 19,706          68,052            
Loans and bonds payable - Due in more than one year 59,105,292   27,648,414      

Total Non-current Liabilities 59,124,998   27,716,466      

Total Liabilities 63,322,002   31,278,820      

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 44,249,694   49,649,611      
Restricted for:

Debt 7,367,144     4,090,993
Unrestricted 11,688,231   7,567,552        

Total Net Position 63,305,069   61,308,156      

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Statements of Net Position

 December 31, 2020 and 2019

(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2020 2019

Operating Revenues:
Service fees 13,273,780   11,300,594   

       Total Operating Revenues 13,273,780   11,300,594   

Operating Expenses:
Water treatment 4,630,148     4,419,084     
Water distribution 5,431,869     5,708,499     
Other operating 856,278        995,751        
General and administrative 3,817,675     2,607,922     

       Total Operating Expenses 14,735,970   13,731,256   

Operating Income (Loss) (1,462,190)    (2,430,662)    

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment income 43,024          218,910        
Interest credit - Build America Bonds 253,044        294,369        
Other non-operating revenues 34,868          50,460          
Settlement proceeds -                   5,006,894     
Interest expense (1,037,704)    (1,486,235)    
Paying agent fees (1,623)          (1,569)          

       Total Non-operating Revenues (Expenses) (708,391)       4,082,829     

Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions (2,170,581)    1,652,167     

Capital Contributions:
Plant investment fees 668,439        2,300,552     
Water storage fees, net of refunds 45,184          192,392        
EPRC stock 3,453,871     -                   
Contributed assets -                   567,295        

       Total Capital Contributions 4,167,494     3,060,239     

Change in Net Position 1,996,913     4,712,406     

Net Position - Beginning of Year 61,308,156   56,595,750   

Net Position - End of Year 63,305,069   61,308,156   

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
C3



2020 2019
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
 Cash received from customers and others 14,405,315   10,970,459   
 Cash payments for goods and services (8,344,689)    (8,924,525)    

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 6,060,626     2,045,934     

Cash Flows From Non-capital Financing Activities:
 Patronage dividend received 45,905          7,286            
 Other cash receipts and settlement proceeds 452,207        5,030,147     

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Non-capital 
Financing Activities 498,112        5,037,433     

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:
 Proceeds from bond issuance, including premium 46,512,550   2,300,552     
 Cash received from system development fees 668,439        192,392        
 Cash received from water storage fees 45,184          -
 Interest subsidy payment received - Build America Bonds - 294,369
 Cash (paid) received for return of capital asset deposit (120) (3,501)
 Cash paid for principal on debt (1,144,077)    (1,139,215)
 Cash paid for interest and paying agent fees on debt (1,460,162)    (1,505,927)
 Cash paid to refunded bond escrow agent to retire bond principal (15,096,652)  -
 Cash paid for capital acquisitions (7,378,115)    (8,454,029)    

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related 
Financing Activities 22,147,047   (8,315,359)    

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
 Interest income received 38,513          214,018        
 Interest received on notes receivable 4,511            4,892            
 Principal received on notes receivable 7,369            6,988            

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 50,393          225,898        

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 28,756,178   (1,006,094)    

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 6,779,303     7,785,397     

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year 35,535,481   6,779,303     

Represented by Balance Sheet Captions:
 Cash and cash equivalents - Unrestricted 4,799,066     2,688,310     
 Cash and cash equivalents - Restricted 30,736,415   4,090,993     
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year 35,535,481   6,779,303     

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2020 2019
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
 Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) (1,462,190)    (2,430,662)    

Adjustments:
   Depreciation 5,202,025     5,154,524     
   (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 1,131,536     (330,135)       
   (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (126,170)       126,121        
   Increase (decrease) in accounts payable - Other 87,797          133,173        
   Increase (decrease) in accounts payable - ERWSD 1,275,974     (664,034)       
   Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (48,346)         56,947          
         Total Adjustments 7,522,816     4,476,596     

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 6,060,626     2,045,934     

Non-cash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities:
 Contribution of capital assets and EPRC stock 3,453,871     567,295        

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements

December 31, 2020

D1

I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority (the “Authority”) was formed September 18, 1984 pursuant 
to an establishing contract by the following entities located in Eagle County, Colorado (the 
“members”):

 Arrowhead Metropolitan District
 Town of Avon
 Beaver Creek Metropolitan District
 Berry Creek Metropolitan District
 Eagle-Vail Metropolitan District
 Edwards Metropolitan District

The Authority, a quasi-municipal corporation, is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado 
Special District Act.  The Authority was established to make the best practical use of the 
members’ joint resources to supply water and to further develop water resources and facilities in 
a portion of Eagle County, Colorado.  The Authority also provides water service to the Traer 
Creek (the Village at Avon), Cordillera and Bachelor Gulch developments (the “contracting 
parties”) through contracts with members.

The Authority may not be terminated while bonds, notes, or other obligations are outstanding, 
unless provision for full payment of such obligation has been made.  At December 31, 2020, the 
Authority had debt with maturities through 2050.

The Authority has a service contract with the members.  Under the terms of the agreement, the 
Authority provides residents of the members water service; the Authority bills these residents at 
rates which are expected to cover its costs of providing water services and other functions.  Such 
costs specifically include debt service requirements, depreciation, replacements, operations, and 
maintenance.  As part of the agreement, the members have leased all of their rights, associated 
easements, and improvements to the Authority at no cost.   As return consideration, the Authority 
has agreed to maintain the associated improvements and to administer and protect the members’ 
plan for augmentation and water decrees at no cost to the members.

Effective July 1, 2015, the members approved an Amended and Restated Master Service 
Contract (the “Master Service Contract”).  In addition to the provisions described above, the 
Master Service Contract stipulated that:

 The members convey their individual water systems to the Authority.
 All member customers become customers of the Authority.
 Tap fees and water surcharges, in addition to Authority fees, can be imposed by 

members and contracting parties on customers within their respective jurisdictional 
boundaries and will remain revenue of that individual member or contracting party. Tap 
fees are collected by Arrowhead Metropolitan District, the Town of Avon, Traer Creek, 
Cordillera, and Bachelor Gulch. Water surcharges are collected by the Town of Avon, 
Traer Creek and Cordillera. 

 Maintenance of the existing individual water systems becomes the responsibility of the 
Authority.

 Extensions of existing lines and construction of system additions may be approved by the 
Authority and the cost of extensions or construction may be passed on to developers. 
Once constructed and accepted by the Authority, extensions and additions will become 
part of the Authority’s water system. 

 The members retain ownership of water rights and an interest in assets, including rights 
to capacity in the system to the extent necessary to ensure service to their service areas 
and to retain individual enterprise status.  
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Authority has no employees; all operations and administrative functions are contracted with
Eagle River Water and Sanitation District (the “District”), as subsequently explained.

The Authority’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”).  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is 
responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements
(Statements and Interpretations).  The more significant accounting policies established by GAAP 
used by the Authority are discussed below.

A. Reporting Entity

The reporting entity consists of (a) the primary government; i.e., the Authority, and (b) 
organizations for which the Authority is financially accountable.  The Authority is 
considered financially accountable for legally separate organizations if it is able to appoint 
a voting majority of an organization's governing body and is either able to impose its will 
on that organization or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial 
benefits to, or to impose specific financial burdens on, the Authority.  Consideration is 
also given to other organizations, which are fiscally dependent; i.e., unable to adopt a 
budget, levy taxes, or issue debt without approval by the Authority.  Organizations for 
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the Authority are such that 
exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or 
incomplete are also included in the reporting entity.

Based on the criteria above, the Authority is not financially accountable for any other 
entity nor is the Authority a component unit of any other government.

B. Fund Accounting

The Authority uses funds to report on its financial position and the results of its 
operations.  Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid 
financial management by segregating transactions related to certain government 
functions and activities.  A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set 
of accounts.

The Authority uses a proprietary fund-type, an enterprise fund, to account for its activity, 
providing water services to residents within the Authority’s boundaries.  Enterprise funds 
are used to account for operations (a) which are financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business enterprises – where the intent of the governing body is that the 
costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods and services to the general 
public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or 
(b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues 
earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, 
public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Measurement focus refers to whether financial statements measure changes in current 
resources only (current financial focus) or changes in both current and long-term 
resources (long-term economic focus).  Basis of accounting refers to the point at which 
revenues, expenditures, or expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported in the 
financial statements. Financial statement presentation refers to classification of revenues 
by source and expenses by function.
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement 
Presentation (continued)

1. Long-term Economic Focus and Accrual Basis

Proprietary funds use the long-term economic focus and are presented on the 
accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned and 
expenses are recognized when incurred, regardless of the timing of the related 
cash flows.

2. Financial Statement Presentation

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-
operating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from 
providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues 
of the Authority’s enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and 
services.  Operating expenses for the enterprise funds include the cost of sales 
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
revenues and expenses.

D. Financial Statement Accounts and Accounting Policies

1. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, the Authority considers cash on 
hand, demand deposits, U.S. government obligations and other highly liquid
investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents.

Investments are stated at fair value or net asset value.  The change in fair value 
of investments is recognized as an increase or decrease to investment assets 
and investment income.  

The Authority’s investment policy is detailed at note III.A.

2. Receivables

Receivables are reported net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts.  An 
allowance for doubtful accounts in the amount of $0 and $0 had been
established at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, to estimate 
uncollectible accounts.

3. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include water/storage rights, land and improvements, 
construction in progress, treatment plants, distribution systems, and water wells,
are reported in the financial statements.  The Authority defines capital assets as 
assets with an initial cost of $5,000 or more.  Such assets are recorded at 
historical cost.  Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the 
date of donation.  
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

D. Financial Statement Accounts and Accounting Policies (continued)

3. Capital Assets (continued)

The cost of water and storage rights includes acquisition cost, legal and 
engineering costs related to the development and augmentation of those rights.  
Since the rights have a perpetual life, they are not amortized.  All other costs, 
including costs incurred for the protection of those rights, are expensed.  See the 
Schedule of Water and Storage Rights in the Statistical Section (pages F5-F7) 
for additional information.

Each of the participating members leased or subleased sufficient water rights to 
the Authority at no cost to the Authority to meet their projected needs upon full 
build-out within their current boundaries.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the 
asset or materially extend the life of the asset are not capitalized.  Improvements 
are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related 
capital assets, as applicable.  

Capital outlay for projects is capitalized as projects are constructed.  

Treatment plants, distribution systems, and water wells are depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Assets Years

Treatment plants 5 - 40
Distribution systems 5 - 40
Water wells 5 - 40

In the event of the dissolution of the Authority, all of the assets of the Authority 
shall immediately vest in the participating members, subject to any outstanding 
liens, mortgages, or other pledges of such assets. The interest in the assets of 
the Authority conveyed to each member shall be that proportion which the 
average annual amount of treated water sold within the boundaries of each 
member, bears to the average annual total amount of all treated water sold by 
the Authority.

4. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows (outflows) of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of 
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding 
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or improvement 
of those assets and increased by any unspent proceeds from related borrowings. 
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on its 
use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the Authority or through 
external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other
governments. All other net position is reported as unrestricted.
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

D. Financial Statement Accounts and Accounting Policies (continued)

5. Long-term Obligations

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in 
Statement of Net Position.  Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the respective life of the respective debt using the straight-line 
method, which approximates the effective interest method.  Bonds payable are 
reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.  Bond issuance costs 
are expensed in the period incurred.

The deferred cost on bond refunding is being amortized over the lesser of the life 
of the new bond or the remaining life of the refunded bonds using the straight-line 
method which approximates the effective interest method.  The amortization
amount is a component of interest expense and the unamortized deferred cost is 
reflected as a deferred outflow of resources.

6. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial 
statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of 
net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) until then. The Authority only has 
one item that qualifies for reporting in this category. It is the deferred charge on 
refunding reported in the statement of net position. A deferred charge on 
refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and 
its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of 
the life of the refunded or refunding debt.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial 
statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of 
net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Authority does not have any 
items that qualify for reporting in this category at December 31, 2020.

7. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the 
Authority’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of 
revenues and expenditures or expenses during the reporting period.  Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.

8. Restricted and Unrestricted Resources

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the 
Authority’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as 
they are needed.
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II. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 
 

A. Budgetary Information 
 

In the fall of each year, the Authority’s Board of Directors formally adopts a budget with 
appropriations for the ensuing year pursuant to the Colorado Local Budget Law.  The 
budget is adopted on a non-GAAP basis and is reconciled to GAAP in Section E of this 
report.  Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations and all appropriations lapse 
at year-end. 

 
As required by Colorado statutes, the Authority followed the required timetable noted 
below in preparing, approving, and enacting its budget for 2020:   

 
1. The Authority submitted, on or before October 15, 2019, a recommended budget 

that detailed the necessary revenues to meet the Authority’s operating 
requirements. 

 
2. On or prior to December 31, 2019, after a required publication of “Notice of 

Budget” and a public hearing, the Authority adopted the proposed budget and a 
resolution that legally appropriated expenditures for the upcoming year. 

 
3. After adoption of the budget resolution, the Authority may make the following 

changes: a) it may approve supplemental appropriations to the extent of 
revenues in excess of estimated revenues in the budget; b) it may approve 
emergency appropriations; and c) it may reduce appropriations for which 
originally estimated revenues are insufficient. 

 
At December 31, 2020 the Authority expenditures exceeded budget by $1,335,929, which 
may be a violation of Colorado state statute. 
 

B. TABOR Amendment   
 

In November 1992, Colorado voters amended Article X of the Colorado Constitution by 
adding Section 20; commonly known as the Taxpayer's Bill of Rights (“TABOR”).  TABOR 
contains revenue, spending, tax and debt limitations that apply to the State of Colorado 
and local governments.   
 
TABOR also requires local governments to establish an emergency reserve to be used 
for declared emergencies only.  Emergencies, as defined by TABOR, exclude economic 
conditions, revenue shortfalls, or salary or fringe benefit increases.  The reserve is 
calculated at 3% of fiscal year spending.  Fiscal year spending excludes bonded debt 
service and enterprise spending.   
 
Enterprises, defined as government-owned businesses authorized to issue revenue 
bonds and receiving less than 10% of annual revenue in grants from state and local 
governments, are excluded from the provisions of TABOR.  The Authority’s management 
believes its operations qualify for this exclusion.   
 
The Authority believes it is in compliance with the financial provisions of TABOR.  
However, TABOR is complex and subject to interpretation.  Many of its provisions, 
including the interpretation of how to calculate fiscal year spending limits and qualification 
as an enterprise, will require judicial interpretation.
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III. Detailed Notes on All Funds

A. Deposits and Investments

The Authority’s deposits are entirely covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) or by collateral held under Colorado’s Public Deposit Protection Act
(“PDPA”).  The FDIC insures depositors up to $250,000 for all accounts.  Deposit
balances over $250,000 are collateralized as required by PDPA.  The carrying amounts
of the Authority’s cash and cash equivalents were $35,535,481 and $6,779,303 as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Authority had the following cash and investments
with the following maturities:

Standard

& Poors Carrying Less than One to 

Rating Amounts one year five years

Deposits:

 Checking Not rated 789,662 789,662 -

 Money market Not rated 4,713           4,713         -

Investment pools AAAm 34,741,106   34,741,106 -
Total 35,535,481   35,535,481 -

Maturities

December 31, 2020

Standard

& Poors Carrying Less than One to

Rating Amounts one year five years

Deposits:

 Checking Not rated (442,120) (442,120) -

 Money market Not rated 4,038           4,038         -

Investment pools AAAm 7,217,385     7,217,385   -
Total 6,779,303     6,779,303   -

December 31, 2019

Maturities

The investment pool represents investments in the Colorado Government Liquid Asset 
Trust (“COLOTRUST”) which is a 2a7-like pool.  The fair value of the pool is determined 
by the pool’s share price, and is measured at net asset value.  The Authority has no 
regulatory oversight for the pool.   

Interest Rate Risk. As a means of limiting its exposure to interest rate risk, the Authority
coordinates its investment maturities to closely match cash flow needs and restricts the 
maximum investment term to less than two years from the purchase date.

Credit Risk. The Authority’s investment policy implements the prudent investor rule as a 
guideline for investment decisions.
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III. Detailed Notes on All Funds (continued)

A. Deposits and Investments (continued)

Colorado statutes specify instruments in which local governments may invest, including:

 Obligations of the U.S. and certain U.S. governmental agency securities
 Certain international agency securities
 General obligation and revenue bonds for U.S. local governmental entities
 Bankers acceptances of certain banks
 Commercial paper
 Local government investment pools
 Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities
 Certain money market funds
 Guaranteed investment contracts 

Concentration of Credit Risk.  According to the Authority’s investment policy, it is 
permitted to invest up to the following maximum limits:

Maximum
Investment Type Percentage
U.S. Treasury obligations 100%
Qualified certificates of deposit 50%
Qualified local government investment pools 100%
Federal instrumentality securities 50%
Repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. 100%
 Treasury obligations
Bankers acceptances and commercial paper - 30%
 combined total

Fair 
Value of Investments The Authority measures and records its investments using fair 
value measurement guidelines established by generally accepted accounting principles.  
These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows:

 Level 1:  Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets;
 Level 2:  Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and,
 Level 3:  Unobservable inputs.

Unrealized gains / losses were $0, which reflects the change in fair market value of 
investments. At December 31, 2020, the Authority had the following recurring 
measurements:

12/31/20 12/31/19

Colotrust 34,741,106 7,217,385    

Investments Measured at Net Asset Value
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III. Detailed Notes on All Funds (continued)

B. Summary of Cash and Investments

The Authority’s cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in the following financial 
statement captions:

12/31/20 12/31/19

Cash and cash equivalents - Unrestricted 4,799,066     2,688,310   

Cash and cash equivalents - Restricted 30,736,415   4,090,993   
Total 35,535,481   6,779,303   

The Authority’s cash has been restricted for the following purposes:

12/31/20 12/31/19

Debt covenant and operations reserves 6,767,144   3,490,993     

Rate stabilization funds 600,000     600,000       

Capitalized interest funds 920,429     -              

Unspent bond proceeds 22,448,842 -              

Total 30,736,415 4,090,993     

C. Notes Receivable

The following is an analysis of changes in notes receivable for the past two fiscal years:

1/1/19 12/31/19 12/31/20

Beginning Ending Ending

Balance Additions Reductions Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Traer Creek 89,765     -                   (6,989)          82,776        -                   (7,369)         75,407        

89,765     -                   (6,989)          82,776        -                   (7,369)         75,407        

Less: Current portion (6,988)      (7,369)         (7,771)         

Long-term portion 82,777     75,407        67,636        

1. Traer Creek Metropolitan District (“Traer Creek”) 

On November 4, 2002, the Authority entered into a service agreement with Traer 
Creek for augmentation water.  This agreement requires Traer Creek to pay an 
amount equal to the cost of 300 shares of Eagle Park Reservoir Company (the 
“Reservoir Company”) stock for use in connection with the augmentation water.  The 
Authority is to remain the record titleholder of the 300 shares of the Reservoir 
Company stock and will retain all shareholder rights.  Pursuant to this agreement, the 
purchase price of the Reservoir Company stock was $163,070. Annual combined
principal and interest payments of $11,880 are due to the Authority on September 
15th through 2028.  The loan bears interest at 5.45% per annum.  
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III. Detailed Notes on All Funds (continued)

D. Patronage Dividend Receivable

The Authority has a dividend receivable from Holy Cross Electric Association (“Holy
Cross”) which represents allocated refundable operating profits. These amounts are held 
by Holy Cross as working capital until the financial condition of Holy Cross permits a 
refund.  Refunds are normally received annually approximately ten years in arrears.  
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Authority received refunds of 
$45,905 and $7,285, respectively, from Holy Cross.  The balances due to the Authority at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, were $384,040 and $400,633, respectively.

E. Investment in Eagle Park Reservoir Company

The Eagle Park Reservoir Company (the “Reservoir Company”), a Colorado nonprofit 
corporation was formed May 8, 1998 to acquire water diversion, storage facilities and 
water rights to operate its water storage facilities located in Eagle County, Colorado, and 
to direct releases of water from the reservoir on behalf of its stockholders. An investment 
in the Reservoir Company allows the owner to augment its existing water rights.

In 1998, the Authority acquired 3830 Class A Shares (approximately 19%) and 125 Class 
B shares of the stock in the Reservoir Company for $2,216,574 and the 
contribution/pledge of certain water rights. The $2,216,574 was financed through an 
assessment obligation payable to the Reservoir Company, which is explained in Note 
III.H.1, and is recorded as an investment in Eagle Park Reservoir Company, along with 
$143,420 of legal costs related to the issuance of the assessment payable. Since 1998, 
the Authority has acquired additional shares of the Reservoir Company through various 
transactions. As of December 31, 2010, the Authority held 5390 Class A Shares 
(approximately 21%), 125 Class B Series 1 and 131.5 Class B Series 2 shares of the 
stock in the Reservoir Company at a cost of 4,445,917.

During 2011 through 2017, the Authority’s investment in the Reservoir Company was 
unchanged.

In March 2018 Eagle County and Eagle River Water and Sanitation Districted transferred 
125.6024 and 16.8789 Class A, Series 2 shares to the Authority, respectively, valued at 
$498,685. 

During 2019, the Authority’s investment in the Reservoir company was unchanged.

During 2020, the Board of Commissioners of Eagle County transferred 874.3976 Class A, 
Series 2 shares to the Authority, valued at $3,453,871. As of December 31, 2020, the 
Authority held 6,406.8789 Class A Shares (approximately 21.4%), 125 Class B Series 1 
and 131.5 Class B Series 2 shares of the stock in the Reservoir Company at a cost of 
$8,398,473. See the Schedule of Water and Storage Rights in the Statistical Section 
(pages F5-F7) for additional information.
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F. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the past two fiscal years was as follows:

1/1/19 Reclasses 12/31/19 Reclasses 12/31/20

Beginning and Ending and Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital assets, not being 

 depreciated:

Land and land improvements 780,962          -                       -                       780,962          -                       -                  780,962        

Water/storage rights 1,709,148      -                       -                       1,709,148      -                       -                  1,709,148    

Construction in progress 4,138,871      8,224,256      (3,865,917)     8,497,210      7,797,557      (3,780,193) 12,514,574  

Total capital assets, 

not being depreciated 6,628,981      8,224,256      (3,865,917)     10,987,320    7,797,557      (3,780,193) 15,004,684  

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Treatment plants 38,365,515    2,869,058      -                       41,234,573    756,699          -                  41,991,272  

Distribution system 89,327,194    1,583,971      -                       90,911,165    2,605,415      -                  93,516,580  

Water wells 15,191,417    75,748            -                       15,267,165    -                       -                  15,267,165  

Total capital assets

 being depreciated 142,884,126  4,528,777      -                       147,412,903  3,362,114      -                  150,775,017

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Treatment plants (22,145,038)   (1,553,436)     -                       (23,698,474)   (1,585,753)     -                  (25,284,227)

Distribution system (47,434,712)   (2,997,172)     -                       (50,431,884)   (3,013,113)     -                  (53,444,997)

Water wells (6,294,494)     (603,916)        -                       (6,898,410)     (603,159)        -                  (7,501,569)   

Total accumulated depreciation (75,874,244)   (5,154,524)     -                       (81,028,768)   (5,202,025)     -                  (86,230,793)

Total capital assets,

being depreciated, net 67,009,882    (625,747)        -                       66,384,135    (1,839,911)     -                  64,544,224  

Total capital assets, net 73,638,863    7,598,509      (3,865,917)     77,371,455    5,957,646      (3,780,193) 79,548,908  

Depreciation expense for the years ended 2019 and 2020 was charged to the following 
departments:

2020 2019

Water treatment 2,188,912   2,157,352     

Water distribution 3,013,113   2,997,172     
Total 5,202,025   5,154,524     

Fully depreciated assets totaled $18,434,558 and $18,849,649 for the years ended 2019
and 2020, respectively.
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G. Long-Term Debt

The Authority had the following long-term debt outstanding during the past two fiscal
years:

1. 1998 Assessment Obligation Note

As previously explained in Note III.F, the Authority financed its 1998 investment in the
Reservoir Company through the execution of an assessment obligation note in the
amount of $2,216,574.  This note bears interest at 5.45% annually.  Debt service
payments of $151,671 are due annually on September 16th through 2028.

The obligation is secured by the Authority’s ownership of common stock of the
Reservoir Company and certain water rights owned by participating members and
leased to the Authority.  The agreement contains release provisions for the collateral
based on the timely payment of scheduled obligations.  The assessment payable is
subject to annual appropriation.

The Authority is maintaining a reserve equal to the next fiscal year’s principal and
interest payments for this obligation.

2. Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010

The Authority issued $8,695,000 of tax-exempt water revenue bonds in February
2010, the proceeds of which were used to retire the 2000 CWRPDA loan, finance
deposits to Reserve Fund (which is subsequently explained), and pay the costs of
issuance.  The interest rates on the bonds range from 2.50% to 4.00%.  Interest is
payable on June 1st and December 1st, through 2020.  The principal is payable on
December 1st and matures in various increments through 2020.

As special, limited obligations of the Authority, principal and interest on the bonds are
payable solely from net pledged revenues.  Such net revenue includes income
derived from the water treatment facilities and other legally available revenue after
the payment of operation and maintenance expenses of the system.  In connection
with the issuance of these bonds, the Authority has adopted a resolution imposing a
new Water Debt Service Rate which is collected monthly from each single family
equivalent (“SFE”) in the system.

The bond documents include a Rate Maintenance Covenant, which requires the
Authority to establish service rates at a level sufficient to cover operating,
maintenance, system improvement, insurance, and other expenses, as well as 110%
of each fiscal year’s debt service requirements of outstanding Authority bonds.

These bonds and the Taxable Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 (collectively
referred to as the “2010 Bonds”), are secured by a common Reserve Fund equal to
the least of 1) 10% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding 2010 Bonds and
any Reserve Fund Bonds (as defined in the bond documents), 2) the maximum
annual principal and interest on outstanding 2010 Bonds and any Reserve Fund
Bonds, or 3) 125% of average principal and interest on the bonds and any Reserve
Fund Bonds.   The Authority has purchased an insurance policy to provide reserve
funds if needed; therefore, no reserve has been reflected in these financial
statements for this purpose.
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III. Detailed Notes on All Funds (continued)

G. Long-Term Debt (continued)

2. Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 (continued)

In conjunction with the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, the Authority is required to 
maintain a Rate Stabilization Fund of $600,000; the Rate Stabilization Fund was 
created to help offset or reduce any increases in fees, rates, and other charges to the 
users of the water system which was created by the Rate Maintenance Covenant.

In accordance with bond indentures, the Authority has restricted cash and net 
position equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the next installment and one-twelfth (1/12) of the 
next principal installment. 

Pursuant to bond documents, the Authority has also created an Operations Reserve 
in an amount equal to three months of operations and maintenance expenses as set 
forth in the Authority’s annual budget.

These bonds were fully repaid during 2020. 

3. Taxable Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010

The Authority issued $14,650,000 of taxable water revenue bonds in February 2010, 
the proceeds of which were used to finance improvements to the water system, 
finance deposits to Reserve Fund (which is subsequently explained), and pay the 
costs of issuance.    The interest rates on the bonds range from 5.36% to 6.52%.  
Interest is payable on June 1st and December 1st, through 2039. This bond issue 
consists of term bonds due on December 1, 2025, December 1, 2030, and December 
1, 2039; these bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at par, plus 
accrued interest to the redemption date.  

These bonds are Qualified Build America Bonds, which indicates the bonds are not 
tax-exempt.  Under the Build America Program, the Authority may apply for interest 
cost subsidies from the federal government.  Such subsidies will be used by the 
Authority to pay debt service on these bonds.  During the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020, the Authority recognized revenue of $253,044 related to this 
subsidy.   

As special, limited obligations of the Authority, principal and interest on the bonds are 
payable solely from net pledged revenues.  Such net revenue includes income 
derived from the water treatment facilities and other legally available revenue after 
the payment of operation and maintenance expenses of the system.  In connection 
with the issuance of these bonds, the Authority has adopted a resolution imposing a 
new Water Debt Service Rate which is collected monthly from each single family 
equivalent (“SFE”) in the system. 

The bond documents include a Rate Maintenance Covenant, which requires the 
Authority to establish service rates at a level sufficient to cover operating, 
maintenance, system improvement, insurance, and other expenses, as well as 110% 
of each fiscal year’s debt service requirements of outstanding Authority bonds.
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G. Long-Term Debt (continued)

3. Taxable Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 (continued)

As previously discussed, these bonds and the Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2010 (collectively referred to as the “2010 Bonds”), are secured by a common 
Reserve Fund equal to the least of 1) 10% of the aggregate principal amount of 
outstanding 2010 Bonds and any Reserve Fund Bonds (as defined in the bond 
documents), 2) the maximum annual principal and interest on outstanding 2010 
Bonds and any Reserve Fund Bonds, or 3) 125% of average principal and interest on 
the bonds and any Reserve Fund Bonds.   The Authority has purchased an
insurance policy to provide reserve funds if needed; therefore, no reserve has been 
reflected in these financial statements for this purpose.

In conjunction with the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, the Authority is required to 
maintain a Rate Stabilization Fund of $600,000; the Rate Stabilization Fund was 
created to help offset or reduce any increases in fees, rates, and other charges to the 
users of the water system which was created by the Rate Maintenance Covenant.

In accordance with bond indentures, the Authority has restricted cash and net 
position equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the next installment and one-twelfth (1/12) of the 
next principal installment. 

Pursuant to bond documents, the Authority has also created an Operations Reserve 
in an amount equal to three months of operations and maintenance expenses as set 
forth in the Authority’s annual budget.

These bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Authority 
at par plus accrued interest without a redemption premium.

During 2020, the Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010, were refunded with the 
issuance of the Series 2020 Water Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds.

4. Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A

The Authority issued $11,905,000 of tax-exempt water revenue bonds in April 2013, 
with annual interest rates ranging from 2.5% to 4.25%.   Interest is payable June 1 
and December 1, through 2042.  The principal is payable on December 1 and 
matures in various increments through 2042.  The proceeds of these bonds were 
used to finance improvements to the water system. This bond issue consists of term 
bonds due on December 1, 2023, December 1, 2028, December 1, 2033, December 
1, 2036 and December 1, 2042; these bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption at par, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.  

As special, limited obligations of the Authority, principal and interest on the bonds are 
payable solely from net pledged revenues.  Such net revenue includes income 
derived from the water treatment facilities and other legally available revenue after 
payment of operation and maintenance expenses of the system.

The bond documents include a Rate Maintenance Covenant, which requires the 
Authority to establish service rates at a level sufficient to cover operating and 
maintenance expenses, as well as 110% of each fiscal year’s debt service 
requirements of outstanding Authority bonds.
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G. Long-Term Debt (continued)

4. Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A (continued)

A bond insurance policy, which guarantees the scheduled payment of principal and 
interest of the bonds was issued by Assured Guaranty Mutual Corporation 
concurrently with the issuance of these bonds.

The Authority is required to maintain a Rate Stabilization Fund of $600,000; the Rate 
Stabilization Fund was created to help offset or reduce any increase in fees, rates, 
and other charges to the users of the water system which was created by the Rate 
Maintenance Covenant.

In accordance with bond indentures, the Authority has restricted cash and net
position equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the next installment and one-twelfth (1/12) of the
next principal installment.

Pursuant to bond documents, the Authority has also created an Operations Reserve 
in an amount equal to three months of operations and maintenance expenses as set 
forth in the Authority’s annual budget.

The bonds maturing on or before December 1, 2023, are not subject to redemption 
prior to maturity. The bonds maturing on and after December 1, 2024, are subject to 
redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Authority at par plus accrued interest 
without a redemption premium.

5. Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013C 

The Authority issued $940,000 of tax-exempt water revenue bonds in April 2013, with 
annual interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 2.25%.   Interest is payable June 1 and 
December 1, through 2022.  The principal is payable on December 1 and matures in 
various increments through 2022. The proceeds were used to refund the outstanding 
Authority’s 2002 Water Refunding and Improvement Revenue Bonds, purchase 
municipal bond insurance, and pay the costs of issuance.

As special, limited obligations of the Authority, principal and interest on the bonds are 
payable solely from net pledged revenues.  Such net revenue includes income 
derived from the water treatment facilities and other legally available revenue after 
payment of operation and maintenance expenses of the system.

The bond documents include a Rate Maintenance Covenant, which requires the 
Authority to establish service rates at a level sufficient to cover operating and 
maintenance expenses, as well as 110% of each fiscal year’s debt service 
requirements of outstanding Authority bonds.

A bond insurance policy, which guarantees the scheduled payment of principal and 
interest of the bonds was issued by Assured Guaranty Mutual Corporation 
concurrently with the issuance of these bonds.
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G. Long-Term Debt (continued)

5. Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013C (continued)

The Authority is required to maintain a Rate Stabilization Fund of $600,000; the Rate 
Stabilization Fund was created to help offset or reduce any increase in fees, rates, 
and other charges to the users of the water system which was created by the Rate 
Maintenance Covenant.

In accordance with bond indentures, the Authority has restricted cash and net
position equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the next installment and one-twelfth (1/12) of the
next principal installment.

Pursuant to bond documents, the Authority has also created an Operations Reserve 
in an amount equal to three months of operations and maintenance expenses as set 
forth in the Authority’s annual budget.

The bond is not subject to redemption prior to the maturity date.

6. Tax Exempt Water Revenue Improvement Bonds, Series 2020

The Authority issued $27,125,000 of tax-exempt water revenue bonds in October
2020, with annual interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 2.25%.   Interest is payable 
June 1 and December 1, through 2050.  The principal is payable on December 1 and 
matures in various increments through 2050.  The bonds included an issuance 
premium of $4,132,135. The proceeds of these bonds were used to finance 
improvements to the water system. This bond issue consists of term bonds due on 
December 1, 2040, December 1, 2045, and December 1, 2050; these bonds are 
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at par, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date.  

As special, limited obligations of the Authority, principal and interest on the bonds are 
payable solely from net revenues derived from the Authority’s water system. Net 
revenues are defined as revenues after deducting Operation and Maintenance 
Expenses.

The bond documents include a Rate Maintenance Covenant, which requires the 
Authority to establish service rates at a level sufficient to cover operating and 
maintenance expenses, as well as 110% of each fiscal year’s debt service 
requirements of outstanding Authority bonds.

The Authority is required to maintain a Rate Stabilization Fund of $600,000; the Rate 
Stabilization Fund was created to help offset or reduce any increase in fees, rates, 
and other charges to the users of the water system which was created by the Rate 
Maintenance Covenant.

Pursuant to bond documents, the Authority has also created a Reserve Fund 
maintained in accordance with the 2020 Bond Resolution. 

The bonds maturing on or before December 1, 2030, are not subject to redemption 
prior to maturity. The bonds maturing on and after December 1, 2031 are subject to 
redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Authority at par plus accrued interest 
without a redemption premium.
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G. Long-Term Debt (continued)

7. Tax Exempt Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2020

The Authority issued $12,790,000 of tax-exempt water revenue bonds in October
2020, with annual interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 2.25%.   Interest is payable 
June 1 and December 1, through 2039.  The principal is payable on December 1 and 
matures in various increments through 2050.  The bonds included an issuance 
premium of $2,465,414. The proceeds of these bonds were used to refund all of the 
Authority’s remaining Taxable Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B. The Net 
Present Value of savings was $2,632,895. 

As special, limited obligations of the Authority, principal and interest on the bonds are 
payable solely from net revenues derived from the Authority’s water system. Net 
revenues are defined as revenues after deducting Operation and Maintenance 
Expenses.

The bond documents include a Rate Maintenance Covenant, which requires the 
Authority to establish service rates at a level sufficient to cover operating and 
maintenance expenses, as well as 110% of each fiscal year’s debt service 
requirements of outstanding Authority bonds.

The Authority is required to maintain a Rate Stabilization Fund of $600,000; the Rate 
Stabilization Fund was created to help offset or reduce any increase in fees, rates, 
and other charges to the users of the water system which was created by the Rate 
Maintenance Covenant.

Pursuant to bond documents, the Authority has also created a Reserve Fund 
maintained in accordance with the 2020 Bond Resolution. 

The bonds maturing on or before December 1, 2030, are not subject to redemption 
prior to maturity. The bonds maturing on and after December 1, 2031 are subject to 
redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Authority at par plus accrued interest 
without a redemption premium.
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H. Long-term Liability Activity Schedules

Long-term liability activity for 2019 was as follows:

1/1/19 12/31/19 Due

Beginning Ending Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

1998 assessment obligation note 1,145,986      -                       (89,215)           1,056,771      94,077            

2010 tax-exempt revenue bonds 1,900,000      -                       (950,000)        950,000          950,000          

2010 taxable revenue bonds 14,650,000    -                       -                       14,650,000    -                       

2013 tax-exempt revenue bonds 11,905,000    -                       -                       11,905,000    -                       

2013 tax-exempt refunding

  revenue bonds 410,000          -                       (100,000)        310,000          100,000          

Unamortized bond premiums 65,850            -                       (31,962)           33,888            -                       

Unamortized bond discounts (118,088)        -                       4,920              (113,168)        -                       

Total 29,958,748    -                       (1,166,257)     28,792,491    1,144,077      

Long-term liability activity for 2020 was as follows:

1/1/20 12/31/20 Due

Beginning Ending Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

1998 assessment obligation note 1,056,771      -                       (94,077)           962,694          99,204            

2010 tax-exempt revenue bonds 950,000          -                       (950,000)        -                       -                       

2010 taxable revenue bonds 14,650,000    -                       (14,650,000)   -                       -                       

2013 tax-exempt revenue bonds 11,905,000    -                       -                       11,905,000 130,000

2013 tax-exempt refunding

  revenue bonds 310,000          -                       (100,000)        210,000          105,000          

2020 tax-exempt revenue bonds -                       27,125,000    -                       27,125,000 -                       

2020 tax-exempt refunding

  revenue bonds -                       12,790,000    -                       12,790,000 -                       

Unamortized bond premiums 33,888            6,521,162      -                       6,555,050 -                       

Unamortized bond discounts (113,168)        -                       4,920              (108,248)        -                       

Total 28,792,491    46,436,162    (15,789,157)   59,439,496    334,204          
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I. Debt Service Schedules

Aggregate debt service requirements at December 31, 2020, were as follows for the 
Authority:

Principal Interest Total

334,204            2,281,848          2,616,052          

359,611            2,127,066          2,486,677          

425,312            2,115,253          2,540,565          

546,324            2,097,616          2,643,940          

1,242,664          2,072,701          3,315,365          

2026 - 2030 6,849,580          9,421,919          16,271,499        

2031 - 2035 7,970,000          7,830,498          15,800,498        

2036 - 2040 9,625,000          6,176,825          15,801,825        

2041 - 2045 11,565,000        4,239,200          15,804,200        

2046 - 2050 14,075,000        1,733,200          15,808,200        

Total 52,992,695        40,096,126        93,088,821        

2025

2024

2023

2022

2021

The Authority is compliant in ongoing disclosure requirements to the secondary bond 
market in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Rule 15c2-12.

IV. Other Information

A. Risk Management

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. 
The Authority has joined together with other special districts in the State to form the
Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool (“the Pool”), a public entity risk pool
currently operating as a common risk management and insurance program for member 
special districts.  Settled claims have not exceeded this coverage in any of the past three 
fiscal years.

The Authority pays annual premiums to the Pool for liability, property, public officials’
liability and workers compensation coverage.  In the event aggregated losses incurred by 
the Pool exceed amounts recoverable from reinsurance contracts and funds accumulated 
by the Pool, the Pool may require additional contributions from the Pool members.  Any 
excess funds which the Pool determines are not needed for purposes of the Pool may be 
returned to the members pursuant to a distribution formula.

The Authority carries commercial insurance coverage for other risks of loss.  Settled 
claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

B. Intergovernmental Agreements

1. Interconnect

The Authority and Eagle River Water and Sanitation District (the “District”) 
entered into an intergovernmental agreement (“IGA”) in 1994 to construct an 
interconnect between their two water systems to enable the transfer of water 
between the parties for the purposes of achieving operational flexibility. 
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B. Intergovernmental Agreements (continued)

1. Interconnect (continued)

In accordance with the IGA, the deliveries between the two systems are to be 
measured daily (net distribution of water) with the net amount owed by either 
party to the other to be recorded by the owing party at a rate equal to 75 percent 
of the then current water rate charges by the owing party. 

The intent of the parties is to provide long-term service to each other through the 
availability of peak use season and emergency supplemental water supply. The 
agreement provides for a payment calculation year of May 1 to April 30. If at the 
end of the payment year there is a net distribution of water to one of the parties 
that party shall make payment to the other party.  It should be noted that 
historically towards the end of each payment year (April 30) the system is run to 
create a zero balance outstanding, such that no payment is due to or from either 
party. For the payment years ended April 30, 2020 and 2019, the balance 
outstanding was $0.

The value of water distributed by the District to the Authority through the 
interconnect was $19,706 and $68,052 during the year ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019, respectively. As the system is brought to a zero balance by the 
end of each payment year (April 30), the District has chosen to forgo immediate 
payment and carry this receivable forward.  The District reserves the right to 
request payment from the Authority at any time in the future.

2. Management and Operations Agreement

Through an agreement, the District provides administration, operations, 
accounting and maintenance services to the Authority.  The District bills 
customers for the water service provided and collects and remits the monies to 
the Authority.  Additionally, the District provides capital program management 
services, which are eventually capitalized by the Authority as part of the cost 
basis of the completed facility.  Costs incurred during 2020 under the terms of this 
agreement amounted to $5,701,662 and $4,618,339 for operating and billing 
expenses, and $493,775 and $534,341 for capitalized management services, 
totaling $6,195,437 and $5,152,680 during the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively.  Outstanding management fees due to the District as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $2,654,848 and $1,378,874, respectively.  
Additionally, there was $0 and $0 related to management fees due to the 
Authority as a result of the annual cost study adjustment as December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively.  There were other outstanding payables, for operation 
services, due to the District as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaling 
$1,146,136 and $287,874, respectively.  As of December 31, 2020 there was 
$1,835,786 due from the District, for water service billed, included in the 
$1,597,850 accounts receivable balance.

3. Ground Lease

On April 30, 1985, the Authority entered into a lease agreement with the Town of 
Avon for the land upon which the water treatment facility is located.  The term of 
the lease is for 99 years.  Minimal consideration for the lease was paid in 
advance.  In addition, the Town of Avon has reserved the right to use the 
airspace above the water treatment facility for construction of municipal facilities.
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C. Commitments and Contingencies

1. Federal and State Grants and Financial Sources

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit 
and adjustment by grantor agencies, principally the federal government.  Any 
disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a 
liability of the applicable funds.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which 
may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although 
the Authority expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

2. Construction Commitments

The Authority had the following significant contract commitments at 
December 31, 2020:

Project Vendor

Contract 

Commitment Completed Remaining

ADWF Administration 

Expansion
Eidos Architects         353,316        (237,071)         116,245 

RTU Phase One JR Filanc Construction       2,274,240      (2,010,572)         263,668 

Cordillera West Wells 

Improvements
SGM, Inc. 

79,806         (13,547)        
          66,259 



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



2019
Final Budget

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) Actual

Revenues:
Water service fees 11,250,000   11,250,000   13,273,780   2,023,780     11,357,541   
Investment income 160,511        160,511        43,024          (117,487)       218,910        
Plant investment fees 800,000        800,000        668,439        (131,561)       2,300,552     
Water storage fees -                    -                    45,184          45,184          192,392        
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 25,000,000   25,000,000   46,512,550   21,512,550   -                    
Principal collections of notes receivable 7,369            7,369            7,369            -                    6,988            
Interest credit - Build America Bonds 276,559        276,559        253,044        (23,515)         294,369        
Settlement proceeds -                    -                    -                    -                    5,006,894     
Other    30,000          30,000          51,457          21,457          30,539          

       Total Revenues 37,524,439   37,524,439   60,854,847   23,330,408   19,408,185   

Expenditures:
Water Treatment:

Management contract 1,362,353     1,523,951     1,523,951     -                    1,362,353     
Utilities 581,000        581,000        578,058        2,942            538,777        
Chemicals and supplies 331,500        331,500        339,226        (7,726)           360,602        

Subtotal - Water Treatment 2,274,853     2,436,451     2,441,235     (4,784)           2,261,732     

Water Distribution:
Management contract 1,313,576     1,457,297     1,457,297     -                    1,313,576     
Utilities 310,000        310,000        337,704        (27,704)         329,171        
Repairs and maintenance 275,000        275,000        623,754        (348,754)       1,068,580     

Subtotal - Water Distribution 1,898,576     2,042,297     2,418,755     (376,458)       2,711,327     

Other Operating:
Utilities 14,000          14,000          8,884            5,116            9,552            
Repairs and maintenance 1,230,791     1,230,791     585,473        645,318        751,157        
Outside services 358,300        358,300        310,266        48,034          235,042        

Subtotal - Other Operating 1,603,091     1,603,091     904,623        698,468        995,751        

General and Administrative:
Insurance 125,000        125,000        121,608        3,392            118,692        
Legal - General 80,000          80,000          41,685          38,315          71,537          
Legal - Water rights 350,000        350,000        309,828        40,172          281,385        
Engineering 36,000          36,000          31,513          4,487            50,532          
Consulting -                    -                    10,500          (10,500)         26,903          
Management and accounting 1,742,071     2,836,752     2,739,598     97,154          1,977,277     
Conservation awareness 15,000          15,000          6,739            8,261            8,300            
Directors' fees and expenses 10,600          10,600          9,732            868               9,165            
Watershed projects 50,000          50,000          50,000          -                    50,000          
Other 286,000        286,000        496,069        (210,069)       13,751          

Subtotal - General and Administrative 2,694,671     3,789,352     3,817,272     (27,920)         2,607,542     

(With Comparative Actual Amounts for the Year Ended 2019)

2020

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Funds Available

Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual With Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2019

Final Budget

Variance

Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative) Actual

Expenditures (continued):

Debt Service:

Principal payments 1,144,077     8,915,077     1,144,077     7,771,000     1,139,215     

Interest payments 1,454,666     1,454,666     1,091,397     363,269        1,499,402     

Paying agent fees 3,000            3,000            1,623            1,377            1,569            

Payment to refunded bond

 escrow agent -                    -                    15,096,652   (15,096,652)  -                    

Subtotal - Debt Service 2,601,743     10,372,743   17,333,749   (6,961,006)    2,640,186     

Other:

Capital outlay 14,115,249   12,715,249   7,379,478     5,335,771     8,319,822     

Subtotal - Other 14,115,249   12,715,249   7,379,478     5,335,771     8,319,822     

Total Expenditures 25,188,183   32,959,183   34,295,112   (1,335,929)    19,536,360   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over

 Expenditures 12,336,256   4,565,256     26,559,735   21,994,479   (128,175)       

Funds Available - Beginning of Year 5,603,744     5,603,744     7,362,728     1,758,984     7,490,903     

Funds Available - End of Year 17,940,000   10,169,000   33,922,463   23,753,463   7,362,728     

Funds available at year-end is computed as follows:

Current assets 37,785,263   9,781,005     

Current liabilities (4,197,004)    (3,562,354)    

Current portion of long-term obligations 334,204        1,144,077     
33,922,463   7,362,728     

Reconciliation to GAAP Basis:

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 26,559,735   (128,175)       

Contributed assets from developers -                    567,295        

Contributed EPRC stock 3,453,871     -                    

Proceeds from bond issue (46,512,550)  -                    

Payment to refunded bond escrow agent 15,096,652   -                    

Change in patronage dividends receivable (16,995)         19,540          

Collection of notes receivable - Principal (7,369)           (6,988)           

Depreciation (5,202,025)    (5,154,524)    

Amortization of bond premiums, discounts, and deferred refunding costs 53,694          13,169          

Debt principal payments 1,144,077     1,139,215     

Capitalized assets 7,379,478     8,319,822     

Change in other long-term payables (interconnect) 48,345          (56,948)         

Change in Net Position - GAAP Basis 1,996,913     4,712,406     

2020

(Continued)

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Funds Available

Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual With Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

(With Comparative Actual Amounts for the Year Ended 2019)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Year Ending Principal Due Interest Due

December 31, September 16 September 16 Total

2021 99,204               52,467               151,671              
2022 104,611              47,060               151,671              
2023 110,312              41,359               151,671              
2024 116,324              35,347               151,671              
2025 122,664              29,007               151,671              
2026 129,349              22,322               151,671              
2027 136,399              15,272               151,671              
2028 143,831              7,840                 151,671              

962,694              250,674              1,213,368           

1998 Assessment Obligation Note

Payable to Eagle Park Reservoir Company

Original Principal - $2,216,574

Interest Rate - 5.45%

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

December 31, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Interest Due

Year Ending Principal Due June 1 and

December 31, December 1 December 1 Total

2021 130,000              462,094              592,094              
2022 150,000              458,844              608,844              
2023 165,000              455,094              620,094              
2024 180,000              450,969              630,969              
2025 195,000              444,894              639,894              
2026 210,000              438,312              648,312              
2027 230,000              431,225              661,225              
2028 250,000              423,462              673,462              
2029 275,000              415,025              690,025              
2030 305,000              404,712              709,712              
2031 325,000              393,275              718,275              
2032 360,000              381,087              741,087              
2033 390,000              367,587              757,587              
2034 410,000              352,962              762,962              
2035 445,000              335,537              780,537              
2036 490,000              316,625              806,625              
2037 540,000              295,800              835,800              
2038 585,000              274,200              859,200              
2039 630,000              250,800              880,800              
2040 1,805,000           225,600              2,030,600           
2041 1,880,000           153,400              2,033,400           
2042 1,955,000           78,200               2,033,200           

11,905,000         7,809,704           19,714,704         

Interest Rate - 2.50% to 4.25%

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

December 31, 2020

2013A Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Bonds

Revenue Bonds

Original Principal - $11,905,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Interest Due

Year Ending Principal Due June 1 and

December 31, December 1 December 1 Total

2021 105,000              4,594                 109,594              
2022 105,000              2,362                 107,362              

210,000              6,956                 216,956              

Interest Rate - 2.00% to 2.25%

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

December 31, 2020

2013C Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 

Revenue Bonds

Original Principal - $940,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Interest Due
Year Ending Principal Due June 1 and

December 31, December 1 December 1 Total

2021 -                          1,194,729            1,194,729            
2022 -                          1,097,200            1,097,200            
2023 150,000               1,097,200            1,247,200            
2024 250,000               1,089,700            1,339,700            
2025 310,000               1,077,200            1,387,200            
2026 310,000               1,061,700            1,371,700            
2027 320,000               1,046,200            1,366,200            
2028 320,000               1,030,200            1,350,200            
2029 325,000               1,014,200            1,339,200            
2030 325,000               997,950               1,322,950            
2031 330,000               981,700               1,311,700            
2032 320,000               968,500               1,288,500            
2033 315,000               955,700               1,270,700            
2034 325,000               943,100               1,268,100            
2035 320,000               930,100               1,250,100            
2036 310,000               917,300               1,227,300            
2037 290,000               904,900               1,194,900            
2038 280,000               896,200               1,176,200            
2039 270,000               887,800               1,157,800            
2040 250,000               879,700               1,129,700            
2041 255,000               872,200               1,127,200            
2042 265,000               862,000               1,127,000            
2043 2,310,000            851,400               3,161,400            
2044 2,400,000            759,000               3,159,000            
2045 2,500,000            663,000               3,163,000            
2046 2,600,000            563,000               3,163,000            
2047 2,700,000            459,000               3,159,000            
2048 2,810,000            351,000               3,161,000            
2049 2,925,000            238,600               3,163,600            
2050 3,040,000            121,600               3,161,600            

27,125,000          25,712,079          52,837,079          

Interest Rate - 2.00% - 2.25%

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Schedule of Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

December 31, 2020

2020 Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Improvement Bonds

Original Principal - $27,125,000
Revenue Bonds

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
E6



Interest Due

Year Ending Principal Due June 1 and

December 31, December 1 December 1 Total

2021 -                         567,964              567,964              
2022 -                         521,600              521,600              
2023 -                         521,600              521,600              
2024 -                         521,600              521,600              
2025 615,000              521,600              1,136,600           
2026 650,000              490,850              1,140,850           
2027 680,000              458,350              1,138,350           
2028 715,000              424,350              1,139,350           
2029 745,000              388,600              1,133,600           
2030 780,000              351,350              1,131,350           
2031 820,000              312,350              1,132,350           
2032 850,000              279,550              1,129,550           
2033 885,000              245,550              1,130,550           
2034 920,000              210,150              1,130,150           
2035 955,000              173,350              1,128,350           
2036 990,000              135,150              1,125,150           
2037 1,035,000           95,550               1,130,550           
2038 1,060,000           64,500               1,124,500           
2039 1,090,000           32,700               1,122,700           

12,790,000         6,316,714           19,106,714         

Interest Rate - 2.00% - 2.25%

Revenue Bonds

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 

December 31, 2020

2020 Tax-Exempt Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 

Original Principal - $12,790,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATISTICAL SECTION



Per the bond covenants, the Authority is to assess a fee to cover operations and maintenance and 110% of debt service.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Operating revenue 11,290,298        11,539,107        11,660,639        11,300,594        13,273,780        

Plus:

Plant investment fees and water storage fees 2,165,819          1,050,991          1,216,759          2,492,944          713,623             

Investment income 95,809               136,508             228,589             218,910             43,024               

Interest credit - Build America Bonds 291,862             292,175             293,272             294,369             253,044             

Other non-operating revenues 42,509               62,114               57,260               50,460               34,868               

Rate stabilization funds 600,000             600,000             600,000             600,000             600,000             

Total revenues available for debt service 14,486,297        13,680,895        14,056,519        14,957,277        14,918,339        

Expenses 13,663,068        15,725,554        12,961,564        13,731,256        14,735,970        

Less:

Interest expense (1,631,664)         (1,741,855)         (1,545,717)         (1,486,235)         (1,037,704)         

Depreciation (4,965,517)         (4,779,293)         (4,908,262)         (5,154,524)         (5,202,025)         

Major capital additions (557,065)            (748,778)            (980,415)            (479,483)            (460,184)            

Total expenses available for debt service 6,508,822          8,455,628          5,527,170          6,611,014          8,036,057          

Net basis available for debt service 7,977,475          5,225,267          8,529,349          8,346,263          6,882,282          

Actual annual debt service 3,290,462          3,304,947          3,289,672          2,491,902          2,451,902          

Covenant Ratio 2.42                   1.58                   2.59                   3.35                   2.81                   

Required Covenant Ratio 1.10                   1.10                   1.10                   1.10                   1.10                   

Rate Maintenance Covenant:  The Authority's Series 2003, 2007, 2010 A&B and 2013 A&C bonds include a Rate Maintenance Covenant sufficient

revenues to pay:  (i) Operation and Maintenance Expenses, (ii) 110% of each Fiscal Year's Bond Requirements of the Bonds, (iii) an amount equal to

current costs of improvements to the System, excluding major capital additions, made in the ordinary course of business, (iv) any

amounts required to meet then existing deficiencies pertaining to any fund or account relating to the Net Revenues or any securities 

payable therefrom, and (v) 100% of any account relating to the Net Revenues or any securities payable therefrom, and Policy Costs

then due and owing. The 2003 and 2007 series bonds were repaid in 2018, the series 2010 bonds were refunded in 2020, and the series

2020 bonds debt service payments begin in 2021.

The above Rate Maintenance Covenant is tested annually.  It is the Authority's policy to use unrestricted cash ($4,799,066 at

December 31, 2020) to meet the Rate Maintenance Covenant if necessary.

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Rate Maintenance Covenant

Five Year Comparison

December 31, 2020

(Unaudited)
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Avon 3,799      3,814      3,831      3,897      3,924      3,687      3,847      3,696      3,750      3,803      

Village at Avon - - - - - - - - 268         464         

Beaver Creek 2,790      2,801      2,801      2,807      2,823      2,825      2,829      2,827      2,831      2,834      

Eagle-Vail 2,374      2,374      2,376      2,381      2,390      2,389      2,433      2,406      2,410      2,411      

Edwards 2,859      2,870      2,874      2,892      2,912      2,934      3,202      2,958      3,104      3,077      

Berry Creek 1,164      1,167      1,177      1,186      1,192      1,206      1,220      1,230      1,237      1,235      

Arrowhead 1,020      1,025      1,029      1,038      1,048      1,059      1,063      1,067      1,078      1,080      

Cordillera 1,111      1,116      1,127      1,143      1,154      1,183      877         1,197      1,204      1,211      
Bachelor Gulch 1,061      1,061      1,067      1,065      1,072      1,068      1,076      1,071      1,075      1,076      

Total SFEs 16,178    16,227    16,282    16,408    16,515    16,351    16,547    16,452    16,957    17,191    

Percent increase 0.11% 0.30% 0.34% 0.77% 0.65% -0.99% 1.20% -0.57% 3.07% 1.38%

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority

Single Family Equivalents (SFEs) in Service

Ten Year Comparison

December 31, 2020

(Unaudited)
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Water service fees 11,290,298 11,539,107 11,660,639 11,300,594    13,273,780    
Average single family equivalent (SFE) 16,618           16,638           16,717           16,956           17,191           

Average service fee per SFE 679                694                698                666                772                

Plant investment fees 760,056         1,050,991      1,216,759      2,300,552      668,439         

Gallons sold (in thousands) 1,250,256      1,297,193      1,361,256      1,185,821      1,359,775      
Average single family equivalent (SFE) 16,618           16,638           16,717           16,956           17,191           
Factor (days per year) 365                365                365                365                365                
  Average gallons sold per day per SFE 206                214                223                192                217                

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Water Statistics

Five Year Comparison
December 31, 2020

(Unaudited)
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Customer Service 1,000 Sales Dollar % of Total
Type Area Gallons Amount Sales Dollars

Apartment complex Edwards 27,257 $187,997 1.4%
Apartment complex Avon 20,530 155,148 1.2%
Hotel / Resort Beaver Creek 18,629 120,406 0.9%
Hotel / Resort / Offices Avon 15,335 111,265 0.8%
Condominiums / HOA Avon 12,628 107,656 0.8%
Mobile Home Park Avon 12,833 102,161 0.8%
Hotel / Resort Beaver Creek 10,438 100,293 0.8%
Ski resort/hotels/offices Avon 11,914 93,954 0.7%
Hotel / Offices Avon 9,383 82,483 0.6%
Condominiums / HOA Avon 7,615 77,921 0.6%

Total - Top 10 Customers 146,562 1,139,284            8.6%
Total - All Other Customers 1,213,213            12,134,496          91.4%
Total Service Fees 1,359,775            13,273,780$        100.0%

Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Top 10 Customers
December 31, 2020

(Unaudited)
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Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Schedule of Water & Storage Rights

December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

F5

Most of the in basin consumptive use water rights and the Beaver Creek direct flow water rights
used by the Authority were provided by the member government entities through lease at no cost to 
the Authority; the Homestake Reservoir water was obtained through negotiation at no cost; and the 
Black Lakes, Green Mountain Reservoir and Wolford Mountain Reservoir water are obtained by 
lease and did not involve a purchase. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB), only owned water and storage rights are shown on the Authority’s Statement of Net 
Position at historic cost, totaling $1,539,404.  This cost represents mostly legal expenditures to 
establish the Authority’s ability to use these rights to provide water directly to the customers of each 
of its members and a small acquisition of new rights. Also in accordance with GASB, the investment 
in Eagle Park Reservoir Company Stock, which provides a valuable source of water supply, is not 
reflected in capital assets, but is shown in Other Assets at the historic cost of $4,944,602.
Management of the Authority believes the actual value of these water and storage rights used by 
the Authority to be greater than historical cost at December 31, 2020. 

The appraisal value as of January 10, 2020 (the latest available information), performed by Porzak 
Browning & Bushong LLP (Special Water Rights Counsel for the Authority) is recited here solely for 
informational purposes.

Water Right Quantity 
(a.f.)

Price per 
a.f.

Historical 
Cost

Appraisal 
Value

Eagle Park Reservoir
Water

553.24813 $39,500 $4,944,602 $21,853,301

Homestake Reservoir 256.5 39,500 0 10,131,750

Black Lakes Lease 300 100 0 30,000

Green Mtn. Res. contract 548 1,500 0 822,000

Wolford Mtn. Res. 
contract

710.8 3,805 0 2,704,594

In-basin consumptive use 2,040.004 9,500 1,539,404 19,380,038

Beaver Creek (summer) 215 9,500 0 2,042,500

Beaver Creek (winter) 17 39,500 0 671,500

Conditional storage 241 100 0 22,400

TOTAL $6,484,006 $57,658,083

Water Rights Owned

Eagle Park Reservoir Water
The Authority owns or has a perpetual contractual right to the water rights in connection with Eagle 
Park Reservoir (553.24813 a.f.).  Refer to footnote III.F. for additional terms.  The value of Eagle 
Park Reservoir is based on the Authority’s dedication replacement cost of $39,500 per acre-foot for 
non-irrigation season in-basin storage. That replacement cost is established by the Authority’s water 
dedication policy, which is the basis by which water service is approved for and provided to all new 
development in the Authority’s service area.

Homestake Reservoir
The Authority owns or has a perpetual contractual right to the water rights in connection with 
Homestake Reservoir (256.5 a.f.).  The value of Homestake Reservoir storage is based on the 
Authority’s dedication replacement cost of $39,500 per acre-foot for non-irrigation season in-basin 
storage.  That replacement cost is established by the Authority’s water dedication policy, which is 
the basis by which water service is approved for and provided to all new development in the 
Authority’s service area.



Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Schedule of Water & Storage Rights

December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)
(continued)
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Blue Lakes Lease
The Authority has a lease with the Eagle River Water & Sanitation District to use 425 a.f. of water 
that is released for instream flow purposes from Black Lakes. While the Authority cannot command 
when the water is released, it does have an approved augmentation plan for 300a.f. of this water. 
Thus, a nominal value ($100 per acre-feet) is given to this water for that 300 a.f.. 

Green Mountain Reservoir
The Authority owns water related contracts in connection with Green Mountain Reservoir (548 a.f.).

Contract 9-07-60-W0413: This contract was executed on July 17, 1989, for 220 acre-feet 
per year. The annual lease payment is $10 per acre-foot, which can be adjusted to cover 
operation and maintenance costs if such costs exceed $10 per acre-foot. This lease is for a 
term of 40 years (expires July 16, 2029), with an option to renew for an additional 40 years. 
By virtue of an assignment from Kensington Partners, Squaw Creek Metropolitan District, 
and Cordillera Metropolitan District of 255 acre-feet of water annually from Kensington 
Partner's Green Mountain Reservoir Contract No. 4-07-60-W1015, the Bureau is amending 
the Authority's Contract 9-07-60-W0413 to include this assigned amount, resulting in a total 
of 475 acre-feet under this contract. All of the terms of the Authority's Contract 9-07-
60W0413 will apply to the entire 475 acre-feet of water per year. 

Contract 9-07-60-W0401: This contract was executed by Kensington Partners on January 
11, 1989, for 25 acre-feet per year, and it was amended on October 25, 1989, to include an 
additional 48 acre-feet per year, for a total of 73 acre-feet of water per year. The annual 
lease payment is $10 per acre-foot, which can be adjusted to cover operation and 
maintenance costs if such costs exceed $10 per acre-foot. This lease is for a term of 40
years (expires January 10, 2020), with an option to renew for an additional 40 years. 
Kensington Partners assigned this contract to Squaw Creek Metropolitan District and 
Cordillera Metropolitan District, and they assigned it to the Authority on March 25, 2004. 
The Bureau approved the assignment to the Authority effective October 4, 2010. 

Green Mountain Reservoir contract water value is based on the fact that Green Mountain Reservoir 
is a finite pool, that there are no new contracts being let by the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation for this 
pool, but also reflecting its lower value compared with Wolford Mountain Reservoir contract water 
due to less reliability and transfer issues with the Bureau.  The term of the Green Mountain 
Reservoir contract is also less than the term of the Wolford Mountain Reservoir contract.

Wolford Mountain Reservoir
The Authority owns water related contracts in connection with Wolford Mountain Reservoir (710.8 
a.f.).

Contract CW08011: This contract was executed on February 10, 2009, for 500 acre-feet per 
year.  The base price was $260.25 per acre-foot for the first year, and annual contract 
payments are $260.25 per acre-foot, but they can be increase each year up to the amount 
of increase in the Consumer Price Index plus New Growth Index.  It is for an initial term of 
75 years (expiring February 9, 2084), with a right of first refusal at the end of the initial term 
on the same terms at which the River District is offering similar supplies to other municipal 
water providers.



Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority
Schedule of Water & Storage Rights

December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)
(continued)
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Wolford Mountain Reservoir (continued)

Contract CW02020: This contract was executed by the Squaw Creek Metropolitan District 
on December 13, 2002, and it was assigned from Squaw Creek Metropolitan District to the 
Authority on June 4, 2004. It is for 200 acre-feet per year, and the initial cost was $105.00 
per acre-foot, with an annual lease payment is $105.00 per acre-foot, which can be 
increased each year up to the increase in the Boulder-Denver Metro Area Consumer Price 
Index. It is for an initial term of 40 years (expiring December 12, 2042), with a right to renew 
for an additional 35 years. 

Contract CW03005: This contract was executed by Traer Creek Metropolitan District on 
February 3, 2003, and it was assigned from Traer Creek Metropolitan District to the 
Authority on April 16, 2003. It is for 10.8 acre-feet per year, with an initial cost of $750.00 
per acre-foot. The annual lease payment is $20.00 per acre-foot, which can be adjusted 
every five (5) years based on the cumulative in the Boulder-Denver Metro Area Consumer 
Price Index. It is for an initial term of 40 years (expires February 2, 2043), with a right to 
renew for an additional 35 years. 

Wolford Mountain Reservoir contract water value is based on a ten (10) year cost at $380.50 per 
acre-foot per year, or a total of $3,805 per acre-foot.  A ten year lease cost is an approximation of 
the purchase value of this water.

In-Basin Consumptive Use
The Authority owns or has a perpetual contractual right to in-basin consumptive use water rights
(650.35 a.f.).  In-basin consumptive use credits are valued at the Authority’s dedication replacement 
cost of $9,500 per acre-foot of irrigation season water.  This replacement cost is established by the 
Authority’s water dedication policy, which is the basis by which water service is approved for and 
provided to all new development in the Authority’s service area.

Water Rights Leased

In-Basin Consumptive Use
The Authority has leased in-basin consumptive use water rights (1,389.654 a.f.) from its members 
and Traer Creek Metropolitan District.  This does not include the 302.8 af leased to the Authority 
and committed to the fill of Eagle Park Reservoir.  The essential terms of the leases are that the 
members lease these water rights at no cost to the Authority for so long as the Authority exists and 
provides water service to these members.  In-basin consumptive use credits are valued at the 
Authority’s dedication replacement cost of $9,500 per acre-foot of irrigation season water.  This 
replacement cost is established by the Authority’s water dedication policy, which is the basis by 
which water service is approved for and provided to all new development in the Authority’s service 
area.

Beaver Creek
The Authority has leased water rights (232 a.f.) from Beaver Creek.  The essential terms of the 
lease is that the members lease these water rights at no cost to the Authority for so long as the 
Authority exists and provides water service to these members.  The Beaver Creek direct flow 
summer rights are valued at the Authority’s dedication replacement cost of $9,500 per acre foot of 
irrigation season water, and the Beaver Creek direct flow winter rights are valued at the Authority’s 
dedication replacement cost of $39,500 per acre foot of non-irrigation season water.  These 
replacement costs are established by the Authority’s water dedication policy, which is the basis by 
which water service is approved for and provided to all new development in the Authority’s service 
area.
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Conditional Storage
Conditional in-basin storage was given a nominal value ($100 per acre-foot) due to the high cost of 
developing these storage rights.



Type of Use SFEs Proposed Location 

Projected 
Water Demand 

Annual Acre-Feet 
Consumption (AF)

Development Approval 
Process Step:

Construction Approval 
Process Step:

Vogelman Parcel (Carwash)
Mixed Use 1.5 Edwards 12.5 2. Water Analysis 1. Plan Review

Edwards River Park PUD
Mixed Use 440+com Edwards 82.2 3. Cond. Capacity 0. Conceptual

Mountain Hive 
Residential 188 Edwards 12.6 -18.3 3. Cond. Capacity 0. Conceptual

NorthStar PUD Amendment
Commercial TBD Edwards 7.68 3. Cond. Capacity 1. Plan Review

Warner Building 2 Conversion Residential 13.25 Eagle-Vail 0.07 3. Cond. Capacity N/A

534 E Lionshead Circle - Elevation
Residential 12 Vail 0.59 2. Water Analysis 0. Conceptual

534 E Lionshead Circle - Lion's View Residential 23 Vail 0.38 2. Water Analysis 1. Plan Review

The Residences at Main Vail
Residential 72 Vail 0.81 5.Water Service Agreement 1. Plan Review

Alura (Miradoro) Residential 10 Vail 1.00 1. Connection Application 1. Plan Review

CVC Clubhouse Residences
Residential 9 Edwards -- N/A 1. Plan Review

140 W Beaver Creek Bvld Residential 112 Avon -- N/A 0. Conceptual

185 Elk Track
Residential 4 Beaver Creek -- N/A 4. Warranty Period

6 West Apartments (formerly Via) Residential 120 Edwards 12.56 6. Ability to Serve Letter 4. Warranty Period

Avon Apartments
Residential 240 Avon -- N/A 4. Warranty Period

BaseCamp Residential 15 Avon -- 6. Ability to Serve Letter 5. Final Acceptance

Colorado World Resort
Mixed Use 81 Avon 2.6 6. Ability to Serve Letter 2. Plan Approval

Edwards Fire Station Commercial -- Edwards -- N/A 5. Final Acceptance

Fox Hollow Amended PUD
Mixed Use 108 Edwards 14 6. Ability to Serve Letter 1. Plan Review

Kudel Parcel Residential 4 Edwards 2.4 6. Ability to Serve Letter 1. Plan Review

Maverik Gas Station
Commercial 2.6 Avon 1.03 6. Ability to Serve Letter 1. Plan Review

Riverfront Lot 1 Residential 53 Avon 53 N/A 1. Plan Review

Riverfront Village
Residential 59 Avon -- N/A 4. Warranty Period

Stillwater Residential 21 Edwards 1.7 6. Ability to Serve Letter 4. Warranty Period

VVMC-Edwards Campus Addition Commercial Edwards -- N/A 5. Final Acceptance

3010 Basingdale (Phase II)
Residential 2 Vail -- N/A 4. Warranty Period

841/851 Main St Minturn Residential 4 Minturn -- N/A 4. Warranty Period

Belden Place (1200 Block Main St)
Residential 41 Vail N/A N/A 1. Plan Review

Highline (Double Tree Expansion) Residential 43.65 Vail 0.79 6. Ability to Serve Letter 1. Plan Review

North Minturn PUD
Residential 184 Minturn -- N/A 1. Plan Review

Red Sandstone Parking Garage Infrastructure N/A Vail -- N/A 4. Warranty Period

S. Frontage Rd Roundabout
Infrastructure N/A Vail -- N/A 2. Plan Approval

Vail Mountain View Phase II Mixed Use 37 Vail -- 6. Ability to Serve Letter N/A

VVMC Phase II-East Wing
Commercial -- Vail -- N/A 2. Plan Approval

Vail Marriott Residence Inn Mixed Use 75 Vail -- N/A 2. Plan Approval

Construction Approval 
Process Steps:

0. Conceptual 1. Plan Review 2. Plan Approval 3. Acceptance 4. Warranty Period 5. Final Acceptance

Development Approval 
Process Steps: 

1. Connection 
Application

2.Water Demand 
Worksheet 

Analysis 

3.Conditional 
Capacity to 
Serve Letter 

4.Water Rights 
Allocation  5.Water Service Agreement 6. Ability to Serve Letter
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COMMITTEES 

DISTRICT 
AUDIT/BUDGET EMPLOYEE HOUSING RETIREMENT PLANS 

Dick Cleveland 
Steve Coyer 

Steve Coyer  
Dick Cleveland 

Bob Warner 
Linn Brooks 

 David Norris 

ORGANIZATIONAL 

DEVELOPMENT 
FACILITIES MASTER 

PLAN (FORMERLY REAL

ESTATE AND NEW

DEVELOPMENT) 

Bill Simmons 
Dick Cleveland 

George Gregory 
Bob Warner 

AUTHORITY 
AUDIT/BUDGET 

Geoff Dreyer 
George Gregory 

JOINT 
WATER QUALITY RULES AND REGULATIONS WATER SUPPLY PLANNING 

Sarah Smith Hymes (A) 
Timm Paxson (D) 

Kim Bell Williams (A) 
Bob Warner (D) 

Sarah Smith Hymes (A) 
Mick Woodworth (A) 
Kate Burchenal (D) 
Steve Coyer (D) 

CLIMATE ACTION PLAN UNIFICATION * UNIFICATION 

Sarah Smith Hymes (A) 
Kate Burchenal (D) 
Timm Paxson (D) 

Steve Coyer (D) 
Sarah Smith Hymes (A) 
Kim Bell Williams (A) 
Bob Warner (D) 

Geoff Dreyer (A) 
Sarah Smith Hymes (A) 
Steve Coyer (D) 
Bill Simmons (D) 

(A) = Authority (D) = District *unification will be discussed on board level, not subcommittee



 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Beth Doliboa, District Administrator 

DATE: July 7, 2021 

RE: Summary of Authority’s June 24, 2021, Board Meeting 

The following is  a summary of items discussed at the June 24, 2021, Authority Board Meeting: 

Board members present and acting were Chair George Gregory, Vice-Chair Sarah Smith Hymes, Secretary 
Kim Bell Williams, Treasurer Geoff Dreyer, Pam Elsner, and Mick Woodworth.     
  

Introductions  

 
Election of Authority 
representative for 
EPRC 
 
 

New employees were introduced, including Sarah Crawford, the new 
Communications Relations Specialist, and Sally Ward the new GIS Intern. 

The board unanimously reappointed George Gregory to serve as the Authority’s 
representative on the Eagle Park Reservoir Company Board of Directors.  

Drought Update 

 

Len Wright updated on current drought conditions. Storage in Black Lakes is 6” 
from full, and Eagle Park Reservoir is 105-acre feet from full. Diane Johnson and 
David Norris discussed direct customer outreach, including letters sent to 
customers using water in Tiers 4 and 5 and the process for driving change in water 
use behavior. 

General Manager 
Information Items 

Linn Brooks discussed the previous day’s in-person staff BBQ for District 
employees. District staff appreciates the support from directors through the 
pandemic. Linn suggested moving the Eagle Park Reservoir Company meetings to 
avoid having the meetings on the same day as the Authority and District meetings. 

Lead and Copper Rule 
Update  

Kailey Rosema presented on the Lead and Copper Rule compliance program and 
the Optimal Corrosion Control Treatment Evaluation done summer of 2020. 

Construction 
Materials Update 

Jeff Schneider provided a memo on construction cost and market update. 
Construction material costs have risen considerably since the pandemic began.  

Authority Water 
Rights Report 

Glenn Porzak provided a draft report on the Authority’s water rights. 

 



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

RE: 

B O A R D A C T I O N R E Q U E S T

Boards of Directors 

Catherine Hayes, Administration Manager and Kira Koppel, Sustainability 
Coordinator 

July 14, 2021 

Sustainable Destination MOU Update 

The District is a signatory to the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative Memorandum of 
Understanding. The Sustainable Destination certification is offered by the Global Sustainable 
Tourism Council (GSTC). The 2015 World Ski Championships were used as a catalyst for the 
initial certification, though Vail’s certification didn’t come until 2017, when it became the first 
U.S. organization to achieve this title. 

The Sustainable Destination MOU was originally drafted and signed in 2017, and the District 
was one of seven original signatories. The District continues to participate in the stewardship 
council, which supports achievement of the Sustainable Destination Initiative vision and goals, 
which are outlined in the attached MOU.  

The responsibilities of the Destination Stewardship Council include: 
- Support goals and purpose of destination initiative
- Work together to continue improvements
- Serve as initiative ambassadors
- Participate in meeting and planning efforts
- Contribute to data monitoring to show improvements for required criteria
- Maintain certification
- Serve as a resource for stakeholders to maintain progress
- Education and promote destination management
- Act as liaison between other programs within the destination realm for Vail

In 2018, The Mountain IDEAL certification was offered globally to mountain destinations and 
gateway communities and addresses unique challenges of mountain resort communities.  

The town of Vail was successfully recertified as a Sustainable Destinations earlier this year. 
However, there are some Mountain IDEAL criteria for which Vail is conditionally certified. The 
updated MOU addresses the need to implement a multi-year, strategic Destination Management 
Plan (instead of the implemental plan currently being used). The new MOU also requires 
updated signatures. 

Legal Issues: none.  

Budget Implication: none. 
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Recommendation: Approve the Sustainable Destination Initiatives MOU.  
 
Suggested Resolution and Motion: I move to approve the Sustainable Destination Initiative 
Memorandum of Understanding and authorize the General Manager to sign on the District’s 
behalf. 
 
Attached Supporting Documentation:  

- 2021 Sustainable Destinations Initiative MOU 
 
Thank you for your attention to this matter.  
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VAIL SUSTAINABLE DESTINATION INITIATIVE 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

Purpose: The purpose of this MOU is to set forth the agreement entered into by the undersigned parties to 
participate in and support the purpose and goals of the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative as described 
in this document. 

The purpose of the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative is to strengthen and sustain collaborative 
relationships between all undersigned parties for current and future environmental stewardship, social 
responsibility, and economic vitality within the Vail destination.  

The Vail destination includes the acreage within the boundaries of the Gore Creek watershed, plus the 
additional acreage of the Vail Mountain ski area that fall outside of the Gore Creek watershed. 

Vision: The vision of the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative is for Vail to be the premier sustainable 
mountain resort community in the world. 

Authority: This MOU sets forth the intention and commitment of the undersigned to contribute to the 
fulfillment of the purpose of the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative. This MOU does not constitute a 
contractual or legally binding agreement. U.S. Forest Service provisions for this MOU are included 
below. 

Organization and Commitment: The organization of the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative is 
comprised of a Destination Stewardship Council and a Destination Steering Committee. 

Stewardship Council: The Stewardship Council will be comprised of the seven signatories on this MOU 
who have significant responsibilities for managing lands, other natural resources, physical infrastructure, 
and sustainable destination programs within the Vail Destination. (Including: Holy Cross Energy, Eagle 
River Water and Sanitation District, Town of Vail, U.S. Forest Service, Vail Recreation District, Vail 
Resorts, and Walking Mountains Science Center.) The purpose of the Stewardship Council is to provide 
support to the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative in the achievement of the vision and goals stated in 
this MOU. The members of the Stewardship Council are representative “ambassadors” of the Vail 
Sustainable Destination Initiative and will meet 1-2 times per year or as needed. 

Steering Committee: The role of the Steering Committee is to provide tactical support, guidance, and 
coordination to the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative. The Steering Committee will be comprised of 
the Stewardship Council members plus representatives of other entities collaborating on sustainability 
initiatives within the Vail Destination. All Steering Committee members will have the skill set and 
experience needed for this role and agree to meet the following commitments: 

a) Oversee the development and implementation of the Vail Sustainable Destination Management 
Plan and update the plan as needed in order to make progress and maintain sustainable destination 
certification. 

b) Provide a representative to participate in meetings and task forces as established by the 
Stewardship Council. 

c) Participate in 2-4 Steering Committee and/or task force meetings annually. 
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d) Contribute to the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative through relevant and appropriate data 
collection and monitoring on an annual basis. 

Goals: The goals of the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative are to: 

a) Accomplish and maintain certification under the destination level standard of the Global 
Sustainable Tourism Council, and the Mountain IDEAL sustainable destination standard for 
mountain resort communities. 

b) Develop, maintain, and update the Vail Sustainable Destination Management Plan which is a 
multi-year destination management strategy and action plan that guides planning, development 
and management of tourism and recreation to accomplish and maintain certification as a 
sustainable destination. 

c) Serve as a resource of information, training, networking, and collaboration for stakeholders in 
order for Vail to maintain progress and momentum as a sustainable destination. 

d) Educate about and promote the principles of sustainable destination management to stakeholders 
including: employees, guests, and representatives throughout the Vail destination and its 
associated partners in the Eagle Valley area.  

e) Serve as a liaison between the Vail Sustainable Destination Initiative and other related programs 
and organizations outside of the Vail destination. 
 

Definitions: 

Sustainable: “Meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs.” – 1987 U.N. Bruntland Report 

Sustainable Tourism: “Tourism that leads to the management of all resources in such a way that 
economic, social and aesthetic needs can be fulfilled while maintaining cultural integrity, essential 
ecological processes, biological diversity and life support systems.” – U.N. World Tourism Organization 

 

Amendments: This MOU can only be amended by a majority of Stewardship Council members at a 
regular or special meeting, provided the notice for the meeting includes written proposals for the 
amendments at least 10 days in advance of the meeting at which the amendments are to be acted upon. 
This MOU will be updated with new signatures every three years. 

U.S. Forest Service Provisions (FS agreement # 18-MU-11021500-003) 

USE OF FOREST SERVICE INSIGNIA.  In order for a Party to the MOU to use the U.S. Forest Service 
insignia on any published media, such as a Web page, printed publication, or audiovisual production, 
permission must be granted by the Forest Service’s Office of Communications (Washington Office).  A 
written request will be submitted by Forest Service, White River National Forest, to the Office of 
Communications Assistant Director, Visual Information and Publishing Services prior to use of the 
insignia.  The Forest Service, White River National Forest, will notify the Cooperator/Recipient when 
permission is granted.  
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MEMBERS OF CONGRESS.  Pursuant to 41 U.S.C. 22, no member of, or delegate to, Congress shall be 
admitted to any share or part of this agreement, or benefits that may arise therefrom, either directly or 
indirectly. 
 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA). Public access to agreement records must not be limited, 
except when such records must be kept confidential and would have been exempted from disclosure 
pursuant to Freedom of Information regulations (5 U.S.C. 552). 
 
TERMINATION. Any of the parties, in writing, may terminate this MOU in whole, or in part, at any time 
before the date of expiration. 
 
COMMENCEMENT/EXPIRATION DATE. This MOU is executed as of the date of the last signature 
and is effective through July 31, 2024 at which time it will expire, unless extended by an executed 
modification, signed and dated by all properly authorized, signatory officials. 
 
Signature Page: The signatories representing the Vail Sustainable Destination Stewardship Council can be 
found on page 4 of this MOU. 
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VAIL SUSTAINABLE DESTINATION INITIATIVE- MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

 

1. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date 
 
Position/Title ___________________________________________US Forest Service  
 

2. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date 
 
Position/Title _____________________________________________Town of Vail  
 

3. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date  
 
Position/Title _____________________________________________Vail Resorts  
 

4. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date 
 
Position/Title _________________________________________Vail Recreation District 
 

5. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date  
 
Position/Title _________________________________________Holy Cross Energy 
 

6. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date 
 
Position/Title ______________________________ Eagle River Water and Sanitation District  
 

7. ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Print Name Above   Signature Above    Date 
 
Position Title ____________________________________Walking Mountains Science Center 
 

 

 



Contract Date Change Order Contract Project Account Statue and

Number Executed  signed on Project Name Contractor Amount Manager Number  Notes

21.15.042 07/09/21 Various Painting Projects

Mid-Valley Paint & Property 

Services, LLC $40,000.00 A. Kirsch Various Open/Contract NTE $40,000.00

21.15.043 04/21/21

Vail South Frontage Road 

Widening and Roundabout 

Project   NOTE: This is an 

Intergovernmental Agreement Town of Vail $351,864.00 C. Keller 10.3.2.20.09.014 Open/Contract Expires 12/31/21

21.15.044 Pending Low Voltage Wiring Southern Cross Cabling LLC $30,900.00 J. Sica 10.1.2.00.45.128 Open/Contract Expires 10/1/21

21.15.045 07/08/21 On-Call Engineering Services LRE Water $30,000.00 S. Roman Various Open/Contract Expires 12/31/21

21.15.046 07/11/21

Employment Screening 

Services

Paycom Payroll, LLC dba 

Paycom $0.00 D. Norris Various Open/Contract Expires 12/31/22

21.20.015 07/12/21 Miscellaneous Projects

Ground Engineering 

Consultants, Inc. $10,000.00 C. Keller Various Open/Contract Expires 12/31/21

21.20.016 pending

Beaver Creek Tank 2 Joint 

Repair WBS Coatings Inc. $40,192.00 N. Nemcanin 20.1.2.00.00.043 Open/Contract Expires 10/3/21

21.20.017 pending

Beaver Creek Tank 3 Joint 

Repair WBS Coatings Inc. $35,750.00 N. Nemcanin 20.1.2.00.00.043 Open/Contract Expires 10/3/21

 EAGLE RIVER WATER & SANITATION DISTRICT and UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY 

2021 CONTRACT LOG
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To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:   David Norris, Director of Finance 
 
Date:   July 22, 2021 
 
Re:  Quarterly Financial Reports  
 

The 2nd quarter ending June 30, 2021 financial reports are attached. In general, revenues were 
above 2020 2nd quarter numbers where operating expenses were slightly lower and as 
expected, debt service and capital expenses are higher than 2020 1st quarter numbers. The 
quarterly reports attached represent our budget to actuals for the 2nd quarter 2021 and are 
compared to the 2nd quarter of the prior year, overall net position of our funding sources, 
analyses on revenue and expenditure trends, and a snapshot of our housing program net 
position. 
 
For the 2nd quarter of fiscal year 2021, overall revenues represent a 13.44% increase over the 
2nd quarter fiscal year 2020 and expenditures represent a 28.66% increase over the 2nd quarter 
of 2020, primarily due to capital spending increasing and debt service payments, which is 
expected. Overall spending is 31.42% of the total budget through quarter 2 of the fiscal year. 
The capital spending is quickly ramping up and I expect to see a shift from Q2 to Q3-4 in this 
fiscal year. Tap fees are above the rate of collection from 2020, where in the 2nd quarter of 2021 
tap fees collected are $238,239 where in the 2nd quarter of 2020 the collections were $80,796. 
These revenues are somewhat unpredictable but will be tracked and monitored closely. While 
capital expenses are behind, other expenditures are closer to on track through Q2 of the fiscal 
year. Revenues are on track, coverage ratios are high, fund balance net position is trending 
upward, and there are not any major shifts from budgets at this point in the fiscal year. 
 

Respectfully:  

 

 

David Norris, Director of Finance, Eagle River Water and Sanitation District 
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Budget Comparisons 

 

Budget to actual comparisons are vital to assessing overall financial health and strategic 

priorities as an entity evolves. Through the 2nd quarter of Fiscal Year 2021, the Fund has a 

projected fund balance of $28,887,999, which is $22,116,405 higher than the 2nd quarter fiscal 

year 2020 amount and is expected due to the recent bonding.  

 

In order to assess a healthy fund balance, restricted funds must be removed from the ending 

balances. Through the 2nd quarter Fiscal Year 2021, the Fund has a projected unrestricted fund 

balance of $6,703,565, which is $3,644,251 higher than the 2nd quarter Fiscal Year 2020 

amount which is also expected due to the recent bond funding.  

 

The primary driving factors for the 2nd quarter 2021 in comparison to the 2nd quarter 2020, were 

a slight decrease in operating expenses, increased revenues, and capital spending, and 

unspent bond proceeds being restricted for future use, a stipulation of the bond covenants. Our 

targeted fund balance for the Fund is $2,247,750 and represents 3 months operating expenses. 

The unrestricted, above target fund balance for the Fund is $4,455,815, and is the projected 2nd 

quarter 2021 ending unrestricted, uncommitted fund balance. However, with Bolts lake coming 

up there will be a planned $2,566,395 transfer in Q3 bringing the projected balance down as 

expected. 

 

Coverage ratios are essential to assessing overall growth and ensure bond covenants are 

accurately tracked and debt is covered. Through the 2nd quarter 2021 the Fund had a debt 

service coverage rate of 2.59 which is 16.54% lower than the 2nd quarter 2020 ratio, where the 

baseline is 1.00. This ratio is expected as the tap fees are primary drivers of this ratio, where if 

tap fees were equal to 2020 the ratio would be lower. The Authority debt service coverage ratios 

must also have a minimum target ratio of 1.10 times, which includes the rate stabilization fund 

($600,000). Through the 2nd quarter 2021, the Fund had a ratio of 17.39 which is 5.59 times 

higher than the 2nd quarter 2020 ratio, which is primarily driven by capital spending driving the 

unspent bond proceeds down. 
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Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority 
Budget Comparison Notes – Controller’s Report 

For the 2nd Quarter Ending June 30, 2021 
 
Quarterly Financial Reports: 
The 2nd quarter ending June 30, 2021 financial reports are attached. The Revenue and Expense 
Trends Graph breaks out operating expense from debt expense over the past 5 years.  This 
graph does not include bond or capital activity. 
 
Annual Capital Budget Rollovers: 
Many of the capital projects are multi-year and/or have actual timing different from that originally 
budgeted. The revised 2021 annual budget now reflects the rollovers of 2020 budgets for capital 
projects to be completed in 2021. This does not represent an increase in the budget for the 
projects, just a shift in the timing of which year they will occur. 
We rolled over a budget amount of $372,145 for continuing capital projects from 2020 to 2021.   
 
Budget Transfers: 
As of the end of the second quarter, managers have requested minimal budget transfers.  To 
date the only requests have been the capital rollovers from 2020 totaling $372,145, a $93,293 
capital request from fund balance, and a transfer between two capital accounts with a net zero 
effect to fund balance.  
 

Variances & Forecasts: 
Water service revenue as of June 30th is slightly ahead of budgeted amounts in the tiered water 
sales accounts.  

Overall routine expenditures are 18% less than budgeted amounts year to date and expected to 
be on budget at year end.  We have had minimal repairs to the distribution system and water 
tanks and electricity is under budget by about 24%. 

Other funding is higher than budgeted.  Water System Impact Fees collected have already 
exceeded the original annual budget.  We have also received $45,784 cash in lieu of water 
rights.     

Capital spending is slower than anticipated but we expect this to increase over the summer 
months. We will monitor all accounts and adjust the forecast as necessary as we progress 
through the year.  

 
FYI: Monthly reports in the information section of your board packet: 

Water Sales Revenue Year to Date – for detail water sales revenue vs. budget 
Water Sales - for monthly detail and tracking of 1,000 gallons sold  
Developer Impact Fee Revenue – for collections of Water System Impact Fees, Cash in lieu of 
Water Rights and Cash in Lieu of Storage Tank 
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Amended Budget Revenue Comparison 

 

The Authority adopted the Fiscal Year 2021 budget on November 17, 2020. The total annual revenue 

budget is $14,198,920. The 2nd quarter 2021 revenue totals are $6,558,246, comparative to the 2nd quarter 

2020 totals of $5,781,082 represents a 13.44% increase overall. The primary driving factors for the increase 

are Tap Fees, CRP base fees, and tiered water sales increases and are expected except for tap fees as 

they are unreliable. 
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Tap Fee Revenue Comparative Summary 
 
 

Tap Fees through the 2nd quarter 2021 total $238,239 for the Fund. This represented a $157,443 increase 

comparative to the 2nd quarter 2020. The overall collections of tap fees through the 2nd quarter represents 

108% of annual targeted revenue budgets for Fiscal Year 2021. The driving factor in the increase is 

primarily due to construction projects completing within the 2nd quarter.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Tap fees collected by development area represent our primary geographical service areas and collection 

pools by major funding source. As of June 30, 2021, there are several areas of development pending 

completion in the coming year.   
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Debt Service Revenue Summary 
 
 

Through the 2nd quarter of 2021, Debt Service Revenues are higher comparative to the 2nd quarter 2020 by 

$400,103 in the Fund. This represents an 13.57% increase overall. The primary driving factor of the 

increased revenues is debt service base rate increases, and SFE base rate increases.  
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Service Revenue Summary 
 

 
 

Through the 2nd quarter 2021, Service Revenues increased comparative to the 2nd quarter 2020 by 

$250,622 in the Fund. This represents a 9.38% increase overall. The primary driving factor of the increased 

revenues was use sales and service increases.  
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Tier Water Revenue Summary 
 
 

Water sales by tiered use total $2,927,720 through the 2nd quarter of Fiscal Year 2021. Comparative to the 

2nd quarter of Fiscal year 2020, an increase of $457,709 in tiered sales revenues were collected. This 

represents an 18.53% increase year over year and 40.73% of the total Fiscal year 2021-tiered revenue 

budget. The use in tiers 4 & 5 is a concern of unsustainable use and is a strategic priority for Fiscal year 

2021 in order to increase awareness while developing water budgeting. Tiers 4 & 5 revenues contributed 

$277,738 to the total increases over 2020 sales in the 2nd quarter 2021, which represents 60.68% of the 

total increase through the 2nd quarter. 
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Revenue & Expense Trends 
 

 
Revenue to expense trends are important to analyze as this is a key component of operating net income 

and a component of a financial health index. Looking solely at operating expenditures, debt expenditures 

and operating expenditures comparatively to revenues, through the 2nd quarter of Fiscal Year 2021, the 

Fund had net income from operation activities of $2,870,008 and $1,656,164 when including debt 

expenditures. Comparative to the 2nd quarter Fiscal year 2020, the Fund is materializing a 34.45% increase 

in net income derived from operating activities and a 17.61% increase when including debt expenditures. 

The increases are primarily driven from tap fee collections and service revenue. 
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Amended Budget Expenditure Comparison 
 
 
 

Through the 2nd quarter 2021, the Fund’s total expenditures were $11,592,710. Comparative to the 2nd 

quarter 2020, the total expenditures represent a 53.17% increase for the Fund. While the budget approved 

November 17, 2020 had a total budget of $36,898,626, the total expenditures represent 31.42% of the total 

annual budget. Most of the increase year over year is primarily derived from capital projects shifted to fiscal 

year 2021 and are spending as expected. Operating expenditures and Personnel Services expenditures 

have been comparative to prior years.  
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Balance Sheet & Income Statement Report 
 
 

 

Balance Sheets are snapshots of the Authority’s Assets, Liabilities and Equity Accounts at a point in time, 

whereas the Income Statement displays a current picture of revenues and expenses and overall 

profitability. In reviewing balance sheets & Income Statements, it is important to assess these to ascertain 

an overall valuation, ratio analysis and incremental changes in certain accounts from period to period. A 

sound financial assessment of the Authority’s balance sheets, revenues, and expenses highlights the 

overall financial health of the accounts.  

 

The Authority’s Total Assets through the 2nd quarter 2021 was $122,542,399 a decrease compared to Fiscal 

year 2020 ending balance of $256,078. Total Liabilities through the 2nd quarter 2021 were $60,963,104, a 

decrease compared to Fiscal Year 2020 ending balances of $1,912,244. Total Net Income/(Loss) through 

the 2nd quarter 2021 was a net income $1,656,813 and is expected, due to increases in assets as capital 

spending and CIP increases/completes. 

 

Ratio Analysis:  

 

ROA – Return on Assets measures profitability as it pertains to the Authority’s assets. This is an efficiency 

ratio, where the main metric is the is the Authority’s ability to generate economic resources from its assets. 

Through the 2nd quarter 2021, the ROA is 1.35%. This ratio is effectively stating that for every dollar of 

assets the District invests in, the return is a $1.35 in net profit per year. Compared to Fiscal year 2020’s 

ending ROA ratio of 47.04% (primarily driven by lower capital spending, CIP completion and bond revenue), 

the 2nd quarter Fiscal Year 2021 ROA ratio is a much lower, and therefore also unsustainable at this rate. 

Due to the recent bond activity this ratio will fluctuate as spending of the bond revenue continues. 

 

ROE – Return on Equity measures the profitability of the Authority’s business in relation to its equity. This 

essentially divulges how much money is earned on each invested dollar. For the 2nd quarter 2021, the ROE 

was 2.73%. This ratio is effectively stating that for every dollar of equity the Authority owns, it generates 

$2.73 in profit. Compared to Fiscal Year 2020 ending ROA ratio of 88.03%, the 2nd quarter 2021 ROA ratio 

shows a slowing of invested funds due to the recent bond activity. 

 

DE Ratio – Debt to Equity Ratios measures the Authority’s effectiveness of financial leverage. As this ratio 

varies by industry it generally is more financially sound to have a higher ratio. The DE Ratio for the 2nd 

quarter 2021 was 1.02. This ratio states that for every dollar in equity, the Authority has $1.02 in leverage. 

Compared to Fiscal Year 2020’s ending DE Ratio of .251, the 2nd quarter 2021 DE Ratio shows the debt 

financing in 2020 carrying into 2021, which is expected and mirrors industry standards of using debt to 
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finance growth. While this ratio is lower than 2.0 indicating a healthy ratio for the industry, with any debt 

risks are higher, which financing options are increased. 

 

WC and Current Ratio – Working Capital is the short-term liquid assets remaining after short-term liabilities 

have been paid off, where the Current Ratio is a liquidity ratio which estimates the Authority’s ability to pay 

their current bills. A higher current ratio indicates the higher capability of the Authority to pay back its debts. 

The WC through the 2nd quarter 2021 was $28,587,829, while the ending WC for Fiscal Year 2020 was 

$35,287,596. The decrease in WC of $6,690,767 indicates a decrease in liquid assets after short term 

liabilities are paid off. The Current Ratio through the 2nd quarter 2021 was 13.64, where Fiscal year 2020’s 

ending ratio was 16.01. This indicates that for every dollar of liabilities there is $13.64 to cover the debt. 

With a difference year over year of 2.37 in ratios, the correlation of new debt in the form of loans payable is 

evident. 
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Housing Comparison Summary 
 
 

The Housing Program at the District is strategically geared at providing housing for our employees. While 

housing is a challenge both in price and in availability and proximity to main offices, one of the main 

principles of this program is to use owned properties as a recruiting tool, to be considered an added benefit 

that the District offers. As of June 30, 2021, total assets were $18,949,493, total liabilities were $30,563, 

and total net position was ($155,111). Net position had been declining since 2018 when the Stillwater 

project completed and construction in progress costs were actualized.  

 

In assessing net income for a program such as this, it is important to investigate all the program expenses. 

Operationally and non-operational expenses are included in this program. Total operating net income for 

the program through the 2nd quarter 2021 was $167,316, compared to the ending balance in Fiscal Year 

2020 of $248,393, this shows improvement to operational net income through quarter 2 in comparison to 

annualized net incomes from 2020. When looking at the entire program, certain expenses are included that 

are not actualized in revenue recoveries from rents. This is due to the nature of the expenses, such as 

stipends, EHOP program costs and master leases. The total of such expenses is averaging $367,800 

annually, adding these costs into the program the total net income is $37,878 through the second quarter 

2021, compared to $3,581 ending net income for 2020.   

 

The net position total is also impacted by the non-operational costs associated with the program, as well as 

costs that were associated with the Stillwater project which primarily drive the overall loss on the program. 

For 2021, the strategic plan is to assess expenses, applicability of certain expenses in the program, and 

assess rents to gain a positive fund balance, which through the 2nd quarter of fiscal year 2021, the fund 

balance was positive.  
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The District owns a total of 61 properties, which includes a variety of single-family homes, condos, and 

vacant lots. Stillwater is our primary concentration of property. Of the total 61 properties, 46 are rented and 

12 have been sold where the District has the first right of refusal in a future sale.  

 
 

Of the total 46 rented properties, 39 are occupied as of June 30, 2021. The primary occupancy gap is in 

Stillwater and Cattail where 19 out of 21 and 3 out of 5 units respectively were occupied as of June 30, 

2021. One strategic goal for the housing program is to operate near maximum occupancy, where 2021 

indicates achievement of accomplishing that goal.  
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In assessing our Housing Program’s value to our employees an analysis of total employees in District 

properties is warranted.  As of June 30, 2021, the District housed 38.17% of the total employee base in 

District owned properties.  

 
 

In order to accurately assess our housing properties and their ability to generate net income, the below 

chart shows the net income by location. The expenses are operational expenditures, and a distribution 

method of non-operating expenditures to each location to show the overall picture. Two properties finish the 

second quarter with a slight net loss situation. Liftview and Stratton Flats, where the increased expenditures 

are primarily driven by leaks, mold, and asbestos events that are properly mitigated and one-time fixes to 

ensure safety and cleanliness of our units. 
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Location Expense Revenue Net Income 
Big Horn $2,950.76  ($10,078.00) ($7,127.24) 
Buckhorn Lots $689.04   $689.04  
Cattail $25,903.19  ($53,005.42) ($27,102.23) 
Crazy Horse $7,144.61  ($17,299.72) ($10,155.11) 
Liftview $5,757.84  ($4,608.00) $1,149.84  
Nighthawk $4,929.84  ($8,267.50) ($3,337.66) 
Red Sandstone $18,982.91  ($40,329.76) ($21,346.85) 
Ryshot $1,333.79  ($10,626.00) ($9,292.21) 
Stillwater $75,423.76  ($144,803.98) ($69,380.22) 
Stratton Flats $14,270.99  ($13,206.00) $1,064.99  
Net Income $157,386.73  ($302,224.38) ($144,837.65) 



 

 

 

 

 

 

OPERATIONS MONTHLY REPORT 

July 2021 

 

Authority Sanitary Survey      Brad Zachman & Siri Roman 

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) scheduled the Authority’s 

sanitary survey for August 18 – 20. A sanitary survey is a detailed on-site inspection of water 

facilities, operations and maintenance processes, and recordkeeping programs. The inspection 

occurs every three years. Water, Field Operations and Utility Services continue to prepare for 

the survey. Staff recently drafted the Water Treatment and Distribution Operations Plan and is in 

the process of reviewing its contents with the operations teams.  

WATER 

                     Brad Zachman 

 

The system-wide water production comparison was updated through July 11. System demands 

spiked early this year and remain higher than the same time period in 2019 and 2020. Current 

demands are comparable to the same period in 2018, which was another drought year. All 

water production facilities are currently in service and are operating without notable issues this 

month. 
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The 2021 water storage tank CIP project is substantially complete. The project included hatch 

improvements on eight (8) water storage tanks and four (4) Booster Pump Station (BPS) vaults. 

This project was prioritized so that it would be completed prior to the upcoming CDPHE Sanitary 

Survey. Overall, 25 tank and BPS hatches have been replaced in 2020-2021. 

The East Fork Pump Station, which pumps water from the East Fork of the Eagle River into 

Eagle Park Reservoir, was shut off on June 16 because streamflow in the creek was unable to 

sustain pumping. The station pumped 199 acre-ft this year. 

DAM SAFETY 

Travis Young and Len Wright 

The Colorado Division of Water Resources Dam Safety Engineer Dana Miller conducted the 

annual inspection of Black Lakes #1 and #2 on June 7. Travis Young and Len Wright were 

present, along with staff from Colorado Parks and Wildlife (owners of Black Lakes #2). The 

inspection report has not been received yet; however, the Engineer indicated verbally that both 

dams remain in good shape, with no deficiencies. Current maintenance activities are meeting or 

exceeding dam safety requirements. A licensed surveyor has been contracted to reestablish 

required monuments on the dam crest, as several have been covered or moved. This activity is 

scheduled for this year. 

Dana Miller inspecting the outlet works of Black Lakes #1 
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Black Lakes #1 Spillway inspection 

 

On June 30, staff conducted a dye trace study at Eagle Park Reservoir (EPR) as a follow up to 

the 2019 Comprehensive Dam Safety Evaluation performed by AECOM and the Colorado 

Division of Water Resources. The goal of this study was to find evidence that strengthens the 

hypothesis surrounding a seep in the left groin of the EPR dam. ERWSD staff performed 

investigations in 2020 and set up equipment in preparation of the study to be performed during 

the 2021 runoff season. This study was successful, dye was introduced upstream and identified 

in the seep 2 hours later. This provides confirmation that the seep is not a dam safety issue. 

Further consultation with the Division of Water Resources will occur during the annual 

inspection scheduled for July 21. A plan view of general locations associated with the study is 

shown below in Figure 3. 
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Plan view of dye study conducted on June 30 

 

WASTEWATER & LABORATORY 

Rob Ringle 

 

Influent flows are following typical seasonal trends, although the cumulative influent flows 

remain significantly lower than 2019. This is indicative of dry conditions and the decreased 

impact of infiltration and inflow (I&I) compared to past years. The cumulative influent flow across 

the three wastewater facilities is reflected in the plot below.  
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The Fourth of July holiday weekend often represents the summer’s peak influent flow and 

loading. This is due to the increased tourism and occupancy, and some remaining impact from 

I&I. This year’s combined influent flow more closely represented the unusually low influent flows 

from 2020 (when tourism was impacted by COVID), but the influent organic loading in terms of 

pounds of Carbonaceous Oxygen Demand (COD lbs) more closely represented the trend 

observed in 2019. We expect organic loading to stay consistent through the summer. It is too 

early to draw significant conclusions from this organic loading data, but a trend showing less 

variability in organic loading could indicate higher full-time residency. 
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Wastewater operations staff at all three facilities adapted processes for higher loading inherent 

to the summer season. Vail WW staff fed aqua ammonia ahead of the nitrification cells to 

develop sufficient biomass to handle the heavy Fourth of July holiday loading. Vail WW staff 

also tackled several significant maintenance tasks, including the complete rebuild of EQ Pump 

#1.  

  
Vail WW staff completed a comprehensive rebuild of a large EQ pump 
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Avon WW staff continue maintenance treatment performance during demands of ongoing 

construction. Staff successfully transitioned back to operating with the east secondary clarifier to 

facilitate a tie in at the west secondary clarifier; both clarifiers were brought back into full service 

before the Fourth of July holiday. The treatment process was impacted by the transition to the 

temporary operating state with both existing and new basins online; however, the facility 

continues to perform well and is meeting permit requirements. Staff continues to pursue 

treatment optimization processes to further improve effluent quality and reduce chemical 

demands, some of which were impacted by national supply and trucking limitations. Staff 

assembled and operated a temporary intermediate mixed liquor return system to improve 

denitrification and total inorganic nitrogen removal. 

 Avon WW staff assembled and operated a temporary intermediate mixed liquor return system 
 

The Edwards WW facility continues to operate well and is producing quality effluent. Staff 

responded to a few callouts for miscellaneous, unanticipated alarms, such as power blips, 

failure of an influent pump, and blower temperature alarms. Plant performance and effluent 

quality were not impacted. The facility is operating with four (of five available) ATAD tanks to 

respond to seasonal loading increases.  
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FIELD OPERATIONS 

Niko Nemcanin 

Annual distribution system maintenance continues, including fire hydrant flushing, system valve 

maintenance, booster pump station maintenance, and fire hydrant painting.  

 

Collection system jetting (5 year rotation) is complete in Cordillera; the closed circuit television 

(CCTV) is still underway. 

 

The Field Operations team continues to support District-wide operations with specialized heavy 

equipment and specialized equipment operations. Crews supported the water storage tank 

projects by performing grading around Bachelor Gulch tanks 1 & 4, Beaver Creek tank 3 and 

Strawberry Park tank 2. Crews vactored out the raw water vault at Donovan Park to optimize the 

raw water irrigation system and supported the Avon Wastewater Treatment Facility Nutrient 

Upgrade Project by vactoring out grit and debris from the headworks influent channel.  
        

UTILITY SERVICES 

Shane Swartwout 

 

The Backflow Prevention and Cross Connection Control (BPCCC) team reached the next 

compliance milestone by successfully completing on-site hazard surveys of all 1,026 

compliance accounts within the Authority. Staff will now switch focus to on-site verification of 

213 accounts within the District and finishing the remaining 34 compliance accounts that were 

never surveyed by the end of calendar year 2021. 

  
The BPCCC team mailed out more than 400 customer reminder letters to accounts with devices 

due for annual testing in August. Staff is currently processing accounts that were surveyed and 

tracking corrective actions needed for each property. Final notice letters are being mailed, and 

BPCCC noncompliance penalty charges are being applied to accounts that have not made the 

required corrections.  

 
To maintain compliance in 2021, we must reach a survey compliance ratio of 1.0 (100%) for all 

compliance accounts and a device testing ratio of 0.9 (90%) for all compliance devices in both 

the Authority and District.  
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BPCCC Program Compliance Status (updated 7/13/2021) 

 

HAZARD SURVEYS ERWSD  UERWA  TOTAL  

(1) Total No. of Compliance Accounts  655 1026  1681 

(2) No. of Surveys Completed  621 1026 1647 

(3) No. of Surveys not Completed  34  0 34 

(4) Compliance Ratio [= (2) / (1) ]:  0.95 1.00 0.98 

Required Compliance Ratio  1.00  1.00 1.00  

Surveys Required to Reach Compliance  34  0 34 
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Meter Services – Advanced Metering Infrastructure Status (Updated 7/13/2021) 

 

AMI SYSTEM STATUS  ERWSD  UERWA  TOTAL  

(1) Total No. of Meters  3194 6794 9988 

(2) No. of AMI Meters 2534 5195 7629 

(3) System Percentage of AMI Meters  79% 76% 77.5% 

Meters Remaining to Reach 100% AMI  660 1599 2259 

 
Fleet and Facilities 

Fleet  
The team recently supported the Meter Services staff by equipping their vehicles with locking 

tool racks, auxiliary power stations, and vehicle laptop stands. These enhancements will allow 

the meter technicians to provide safer, more efficient services. Staff installed and is now utilizing 

bulk oil containers to reduce waste trash while increasing efforts to recycle. This effort reduced 

the amount of waste going to the landfill.  
 

Facilities  
Facilities assisted the Water Department with landscape maintenance at the tank sites to 

reduce and mitigate fire risks. At this time, 10 tank sites were completed. The team also 

completed spring cleanup at VWW, ADWF and AWWTF. Service was performed in-house to 

reduce District expenses. 
 

  ENGINEERING 

Jeff Schneider 

WATER PROJECTS 

 

Radio Telemetry Unit (RTU) System Upgrades  Carter Keller   
 

General Project Scope: This project is a systematic approach to install standardized 

communication equipment to increase the reliability of the telemetry system throughout the 

distribution system (82 sites) and develop a standard (i.e., non-proprietary) telemetry platform to 

allow competitive pricing for upgrades, replacement, and system maintenance. Implementation 

is anticipated over a three-year period with a highly detailed sequence and schedule to limit 

distribution system disruptions. 

Project Update: Commissioning of the spring sites are complete; fall sites will be commissioned 

starting in September, concluding in early November. Work is underway to visit the 2022 sites to 

scope work. A small, related project – the Bachelor Gulch Tank 5 solar upgrade – is currently 

out to bid.  

Traer Creek Water Storage Tank        Mark Mantua 
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General Project Scope: This project consists of the replacement of the Traer Creek Water 

Storage Tank. In addition to the tank replacement, the scope includes piping, appurtenances, 

and selective replacement of identified equipment including the RTUs and control cabinets.  

 

Project Update: Under slab piping is installed, tested, and encased in concrete. A major 

concrete pour was completed on July 7 on half of the tank bottom slab, with a total of 850 yards 

of concrete placed. A second pour on the bottom slab is scheduled on or around July 20. DN 

Tanks staff is completing base slab forms and rebar for the second bottom slab pour. DN Tanks 

is also completing pours on wall panels next month.  

 

ADWF Chemical Feed Upgrades        Mark Mantua 

 

General Project Scope: This project consists of removal and replacement of four chemical 

dosing pump systems. This work includes installation of four new pumping systems, pipework, 

electrical upgrades, and updated controls. The project also includes a new sodium 

permanganate bulk storage tank and transfer pumping system. ADWF will be offline to complete 

work between April 12, 2021, and May 21, 2021. 

 

Project Update: Mueller Construction completed installation of four new chemical injection skids, 

associated pipework, electrical installation, and chemical storage tanks. Commissioning, 

instrumentation, and controls work is complete. All new pumps are online. Mueller Construction 

is still completing punchlist items. 

 

Avon Drinking Water Facility (ADWF) PLC Upgrades          Jenna Beairsto 

 

General Project Scope: This project includes replacement of two of the programmable logic 

controllers (PLCs) at ADWF. Additionally, a new server room will be constructed within the 

facility. All of the programming and PLC logic will be reverse engineered to determine required 

updates and improvements associated with the modification and replacement of the existing 

PLCs.  

 

Project Update: Stantec was selected to design and assist with solicitation and bid review for a 

hard bid project delivery. Stantec is working towards a 65% design review set of drawings and 

specifications. The first of two design workshops is scheduled for July 19, 2021. Browns Hill 

completed an effort to document as-built wiring of all PLCs at the plant. 

 

Edwards Spur Road Phase 2 Water Main Mark Mantua 

 

General Project Scope: The Edwards Spur Road Phase 2 consists of two projects. The first is 

installation of 1,700 linear feet of water main that was installed in conjunction with the CDOT 

Edwards Spur Road project. The second is installation of a water main that will run parallel and 

under the railroad tracks to connect the Edwards Drinking Water Facility to the water main that 
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was previously installed during the 2019 Spur Road project and to a main near Miller Ranch 

Road. The project will alleviate hydraulic issues in the Edwards low pressure zone.  

 

Project Update: Heyl Construction began pipe installation on July 12 and installed 16-inch pipe 

and fittings at the northeast end of the project. Heyl’s boring subcontractor will complete the 

railroad bore under the tracks in August 2021. 

 

Fenno Wellhouse and Raw Water Conveyance  Jeff Schneider 

 

General Project Scope: The project consists of complete replacement of a small treatment 

facility in Cordillera that treats water from seven groundwater wells and pumps into the 

distribution system. The previous facility did not meet electrical code, had some safety 

concerns, and was generally at the end of its useful life. Improvements to the wells and raw 

water piping are also included in this project. 

 

Project Update: RN Civil, the general contractor, successfully completed leak testing of the new 

concrete basin on June 28. Exterior piping work is underway, tying into the potable water 

system and running new raw water lines into the treatment facility. Subcontract work such as 

electrical and plumbing is underway, and the foundation is waterproofed, insulated, and 

backfilled. A concrete floor slab is scheduled for the week of July 19, after which the 

superstructure framing is scheduled. Other civil site work, such as utility tie-ins and roadway 

work is scheduled concurrently with framing. Major equipment submittals are complete, and the 

project is progressing within schedule and budget. There may be electrical equipment lead time 

issues, and the project team is monitoring this in relation to contractual requirements.  

 

Bighorn Terrace Water & Sewer Main                Niko Nemcanin 

 

General Project Scope: The project consists of replacement of a private sewer service line with 

a public sewer main and replacement of water main with the addition of a fire hydrant in 

Columbine Way. The sewer service line is at the end of its life expectancy, and the District was 

approached by homeowners to reconstruct the private main as a public main via a sanitary 

sewer subdistrict.  

 

Project Update: The water main is installed and tested, and all water services are connected as 

of July 9. Sanitary sewer main installation is underway. For the next two weeks, work will be at 

Columbine Drive, leaving Columbine Way open for residents. The road closure at Columbine 

Drive is coordinated with TOV, Vail Fire and residents. Project completion is still anticipated by 

August 16 and is currently tracking within budget. 

Vail South Frontage Road Water Main        Carter Keller 

General Project Scope: ERWSD is participating in the Town of Vail’s South Frontage Road 

project to install approximately 1,400 linear feet of 12-inch diameter water main and 

appurtenances within the project boundary. The project will replace sections of 50-year old 
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water main with excessive bury depths. Participation is administered via an Intergovernmental 

Agreement (IGA) with Town of Vail.  

Project Update: The water main installation work is paused to allow roadway and retaining wall 

construction to occur on the western portion of the project. Resumption of water main 

installation work is anticipated for approximately July 19.  

WASTEWATER PROJECTS 

Avon Wastewater Treatment Facility (AWWTF) Nutrient Upgrades Melissa Marts 

 

General Project Scope: The Avon WWTF requires upgrades to meet Regulation 85, which requires a 

reduction of the concentrations of nitrogen and phosphorus in the effluent. The scope of this project 

includes the following: addition of 0.6 million gallons of aeration basin capacity; a new secondary 

clarifier; structural modifications to the existing aeration basins to remove the existing double-tees 

and replace with a building structure; a new odor control study and system; and other improvements 

throughout the facility. This project also includes improvements identified in a 2017 condition 

assessment in other process areas throughout the facility.  

 

Project Update: The construction team successfully tied in both existing clarifiers to the new aeration 

basin 1 volume prior to the Fourth of July holiday. The team completed Shotcrete application to 

aeration basin 2 to allow placement of new wall and ceiling panels later in the year. Moltz started 

headworks modifications, which will require significant coordination between operations staff and 

construction personnel. The team is also working to commission new odor control carbon vessels on 

the south side of the site.  
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AWW – Aerial View of new aeration basins and secondary clarifier 

Dowd Junction Collection System Improvements  Jeffrey Schneider/Jenna Beairsto/Niko 

Nemcanin 

 

General Project Scope: The project consists of four major components, all of which are at the end of 

their useful lives: the aerial interceptor crossing at Dowd Junction; Lift Station 4, which conveys all of 

Minturn’s wastewater; the aerial interceptor crossing at the Minturn Road bridge; and the force main 

downstream of Lift Station 4. The project will also include capacity for growth in its respective service 

areas, most notably the Minturn area improvements.  

 

Project Update:  

Minturn Aerial Crossing: Final punch list items are underway, and an intergovernmental agreement 

(IGA) is being finalized for facility construction and maintenance. A ribbon-cutting ceremony for the 

new bridge is scheduled for August 16. 

 

West Vail Interceptor Aerial Crossing: Caisson construction is complete for the entire project. A 

subcontractor will be onsite the week of July 12 to grout the annulus around the caissons. Mueller 

placed concrete for the Column at Pier 2 and is preparing to place the pier cap. The crew potholed 

and began excavation for utility installation in Highway 6. Procurement of the pipe and bridge is 

underway. The supplier is making final revisions to the bridge submittal for approval by the design 

engineers.  

 

Lift Station Replacement: HDR is progressing the design towards a 90% design set of drawings and 

specifications for the lift station. Final service connections details and force main tie-in location are 

being finalized. HDR is in discussions with pump suppliers to finalize the specification requirements. 
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HDR is completing a construction estimate for the next budgeting cycle. Staff will submit a design 

review application to the Town of Minturn for approval of architectural components of the design.  

 

Force Main Design: Murraysmith Engineering had a subconsultant onsite to complete the 

topographic survey of the site to kick its design. Murraysmith will have staff onsite the week of July 

19 to begin potholing for the subsurface utility engineering plan. District staff held a meeting with 

Eagle County ECO Trails to discuss partnering for trail and force main construction through the US 

6/24 corridor. Staff is drafting an intergovernmental agreement for the project between parties.   
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WATER RESOURCES 

Len Wright 

The stark contrast in hydrologic conditions persists across the state: Eastern Colorado is completely 

drought-free while West of the divide is under a severe drought. The Upper Colorado Basin shown in 

Figure 2 remains unchanged from last month; 99.95% of the basin is at least abnormally dry, and a 

full 75% is in extreme or exceptional drought. 

 

Figure 1. Colorado Drought Monitor, July 6, 2021. 
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Figure 2. Drought Monitor for the Upper Colorado River Basin, July 6, 2021. 

Russ Schumacher, Director of the Colorado Climate Center and State Climatologist, recently 

published an analysis of the current drought in a historical context. His analysis shows the 

importance of temperature in this drought: higher temperatures since the turn of the century have 

exacerbated all dry periods and virtually eliminated the impact of wet periods.  

The Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) for Colorado from the late 19th Century to current 

conditions is shown in Figure 3. This shows current condition with respect to precipitation; we are 

currently in a brief dry period. The heavy precipitation of spring 2019 provides a break in this period. 

However, this may be contrasted with Figure 4, where the Standardized Precipitation-

Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) is shown for the same period. Increased temperatures since 2000 

produced the longest deficit in the time series, despite periods of above-normal moisture. Periods of 

above-average precipitation did not offset the impacts of increased temperature. This effect on 

climate is expected to further intensify as the concentrations of atmospheric CO2 continue to 

increase. 
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Figure 3. Standardized Precipitation Index, Colorado (Schumacher, Colorado Climate Center 2021). 

 

 

Figure 4. Standardized Precipitation and Evapotranspiration Index (Schumacher, Colorado Climate 
Center 2021). 
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The current three-month drought outlook is shown in Figure 5. Our service area is likely to be in 

persistent drought for this period. 

 

Figure 5. NOAA 3 Month Drought Outlook (NOAA 2021). 

Measured and predicted streamflow in the Eagle River basin are shown in Figures 6 and 7 for Gore 

Creek and The Eagle River at Avon, respectively. The cumulative water year volume for the Eagle 

River at Avon is shown in Figure 8. Streamflow is expected to remain in the lower percentile band of 

historic flows for the remainder of the summer. The cumulative volume for the Eagle River Basin at 

Avon remains significantly below the normal range, having just nudged above the lowest on record, 

2002. This is a strong indicator of overall watershed production as it integrates runoff and baseflow, 

as well as the demands from consumptive use and trans-mountain diversions.  
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Figure 6. Gore Creek above Red Sandstone Creek Streamflow (USGS and CRBFC, 2021). 

 

Figure 7. Streamflow, Eagle River at Avon (USGS, CBRF, 2021). 
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Figure 8. Cumulative flow, Eagle River at Avon, 7/12/21 (USGS). 

 

The cumulative flow statistics for several key gages are shown along with a location map in Figure 9. 

All are far below normal, consistent with predictions from NOAA for a low runoff year due to extreme 

soil dryness in the Upper Colorado River basin. District storage account volumes are shown on the 

map in Figure 10; all are full or nearly full. We anticipate all Eagle Park Reservoir accounts will refill 

on the book-over date of September 1, though the common conservation pool will likely be drawn 

down after book-over. 

Effective storage accounting and operations are one of the most important supply tools to weather 

multiyear droughts. These could be more appropriately called the “new normal.” While we look to 

manage demand during the summer irrigation season, we carefully manage storage reserves year-

round. We will watch relevant SNOTEL site snow water equivalent (SWE) next season to see 

whether carryover storage fills again or will be drawn down. Such information defines a multi-year 

drought event for our supply and is key to our long-range planning and modeling efforts. 

 

 

 

 



 

Figure 9. Water-Year-to-Date Streamflow Volume (ERWSD 2021). 

 

 

 

  



       Page 24 of 29 

Figure 10. ERWSD and UERWA storage accounts, 7/1/21 (ERWSD 2021). 
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ERWSD and UERWA storage accounts are shown in Table 1 as of July 1, 2021.  

July 1 Volumes in Storage and Percentages of Full: 

Reservoir ERWSD UERWA Total 

Green 
Mountain 

934.00 100% 548.00 100% 1482.00 100% 

Black Lakes 425.00 100% 300.00 100% 425.00 100% 

Eagle Park 428.46 99% 538.89 79% 967.35 87% 

Homestake 
Res 

250.00 100% 256.50 100% 506.50 100% 

Wolford Mtn 500.00 100% 710.80 100% 1210.80 100% 

 

Table 1. ERWSD and UERWA Storage accounts as of July 1, 2021. Note UERWA account in Black 
Lakes equals ERWSD account, and is the same water, therefore total is the same (Helton and 
Williamsen). 

The details regarding storage accounting for Eagle Park Reservoir are shown below in Table 2.  

Shareholder 
Maximum 

Content (ac-ft) 

June 30 2021 

Content (ac-ft) 

Vail 1,309 822.3 

ERWSD 432.81 428.5 

UERWA 640.69 510.9 

CRWCD 206.5 164.4 

Conservation 

(carryover)* 
712.0 1294.5 

 

Table 2. Eagle Park Reservoir Account Balances as of 6/30/21 (Helton and Williamsen). 

*Note – the maximum content for the Conservation pool is the maximum after book-over occurs on 

September 1 each year. This “maximum” may be exceeded between runoff and book-over. 

Regionally, Lake Powell inflow predictions continue to drop and are expected to be among the 

lowest on record this year, as seen in Figure 11 below from recent work by Brad Udall. Lake Mead 

elevation forecasts are shown in Figure 12.



 

Figure 11. Latest Lake Powell water level forecast (Udall 2021). 

 



       Page 27 of 29 

Figure 12. Lake Mead Forecast (Udall 2021). 

 



 

 

Seasonal Forecast maps are shown in Figures 13 and 14. The hot and dry conditions are expected to 

continue across the west throughout the summer.  

Figure 13. NOAA 3-Month Temperature Outlook (NOAA 2021). 
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Figure 14. NOAA 3-month Precipitation Outlook (NOAA 2021). 

 

 

 



 
M E M O R A N D U M  

 
TO: District and Authority Boards of Directors 

FROM: Jason Cowles, Director of Engineering & Water Resources 

DATE: July 14, 2021 

RE: Engineering & Water Resources Director Report 
 
Authority Unallocated Water  
 
The Eagle County Board of County Commissioners approved the Amendment to the Cordillera 
Valley Club PUD to allow for the construction of 9 single-family residences on the Clubhouse 
Parcel. We have completed a water service agreement and cash in lieu of water rights 
dedication for the Club Residences at CVC project consistent with the direction we received 
from the Authority board last year, which only commits the Authority to provide water for in-
home use. The water service agreement limits the water use to 250 gallons per day per 
residence, which is consistent with observed water use in modern home construction. This 
resulted in an augmentation requirement of 1.12 acre feet and a cash in lieu of water rights 
dedication payment of $45,784. I have updated the Authority Unallocated Water tracking 
spreadsheet to reflect this and have attached for your reference. We currently project the 
Authority’s unallocated water at 212.81 acre feet. 
 
Homestake Exchange 
 
Eagle Park Reservoir Company has the right to exchange up to 4,000 acre feet (af) of water into 
Homestake Reservoir under the terms and conditions of the January 5, 2010 Consolidated 
Water Exchange Agreement with Colorado Springs and Aurora. As I reported at last month’s 
board meetings, the Eagle Park Reservoir Company was able to operate the Homestake 
Exchange this year thanks to Aurora’s participation in the Shoshone Outage Protocol. Under 
typical conditions, EPRC can exchange water into Homestake Reservoir when Aurora and 
Colorado Springs’ diversions into the reservoir are called out by the Shoshone Power Plant. 
Under the Homestake Exchange Agreement, EPRC makes the Shoshone Power Plant whole by 
releasing water from the shareholders’ accounts in Green Mountain Reservoir and Wolford 
Mountain Reservoir. The conditions necessary to operate the exchange have not occurred since 
2013.  
 
This year the Shoshone Power Plant has remained off line for repairs, and the Shoshone call 
has yet to come on. Aurora is a participant in the Shoshone Outage Protocol Agreement and 
operates their share of Homestake Reservoir diversions as if the Shoshone call is in effect when 
the plant is offline and the flows on the Colorado River at Dotsero drop below 1,250 cubic feet 
per second (cfs). Flows on the Colorado River at Dotsero dropped below 1,250 cfs on June 22, 
and EPRC was able to exchange 749.86 af of water in Homestake Reservoir between June 22 
and July 2. EPRCs total exchange credit balance in Homestake Reservoir is currently 3,683.82 
af.  
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Per the terms of the Consolidated Exchange Agreement, any amount of water stored in 
Homestake by EPRC that is in excess of 3,000 af is subject to reduction if Homestake Reservoir 
spills based upon the proportion of the spill to the total capacity of Homestake Reservoir. 
Homestake Reservoir currently sits at 31,172 af or roughly 75% of its capacity. Approximately 
20,000 af of water was stored in Homestake Reservoir this year. Whether the reservoir spills 
next year depends upon how the reservoir is operated and the amount of snowpack we receive, 
but given that about 30,000 af was stored in the reservoir in a relatively dry year, it seems 
plausible that the 683.82 af of exchange credit balance in the reservoir in excess of 3,000 af 
could be at risk of reduction if we do not use it this year. I recommend that the District and 
Authority use their share of the 683.82 af this year and will work out the details with Tom 
Williamsen and the other EPRC shareholders if the Board concurs.  
 
Attachments 
Authority Unallocated Water Tracking Spreadsheet Updated 07-14-2021 
 
 



Authority Surplus Augmentation Supply
Updated: 7/14/2021 by JC

HCUs,acft

In‐basin Reservoir 

Storage, acft

In‐basin Reservoir 

Storage, acft

Out‐of‐basin 

Reservoir Storage 

Use, acft

Total HCU & 

In‐Basin 

Reservoir

Summer only

Affordable Housing 

Reserve Unrestricted

Current Augmentation Surplus* 95.00 87.40 125.00 307.40

Replacement Water for Pending Approvals

Edwards River Park PUD 6.04 9.27 53.65 1.89 70.85

Mountain Hive 1.27 13.56 0.39 15.22

NorthStar PUD Amendment 0.22 5.47 0.16 5.86

Warner Building 2 Conversion 0.02 0.47 0.01 0.50

Riverwalk PUD Guide Amendment 0.09 2.13 0.06 2.28

Kudel 0.27 1.06 0.03 1.35

Club Residences at CVC 0.04 1.04 0.03 1.12

Total Pending Replacements 7.94 9.27 77.38 2.59 97.18

Remaining Augmentation Surplus 87.06 78.13 47.62 212.81

Notes:
1) Suplus Projections consider all projects with Ability to Serve Letters to be allocated.
2) Pending Approvals have Conditional Capacity to Serve Letters but have not yet received land use approvals or paid CIL.

4) Unrestricted In‐basin Reservoir Storage includes 25 acft pledged by ERWSD.
5) Out‐of‐basin Reservoir Storage supplies include 711 acft Wolford Mtn. Res. Contracts and 475 acft Green Mtn. Res. Contracts.

3) Affordable Housing Reserve In‐basin Reservoir Storage is Eagle Park water transferred to UERWA by Eagle County and can only be used for 

*95 AF HCU remaining in June 25, 2020 presentation to Boards. This is the most recent LRE/Lynker model run for Unallocated Water.



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

RE: 

MEMORANDUM 

Board of Directors 

Mark Mantua, Jeffrey Schneider, P.E. 

July 22, 2021 

Traer Creek Tank Replacement Project Update 

Summary of Subject:  This memorandum is to provide an update on the Traer Creek Tank Replacement 
project and will be accompanied by a brief powerpoint presentation.  

Discussion and Background: The Traer Creek Tank Replacement Project is a project to replace the 
failed Traer Creek Water Storage Tank. The new Traer Creek Tank is a 2.0 million gallon (MG) drinking 
water storage tank located in the Avon high zone system.  

The old Traer Creek Tank was a partially buried AWWA D115 Tendon-Prestressed Concrete Tank, with a 
slab on grade foundation. The tank was originally constructed in 2014 and failed in the spring of 2015, 
with visible separation of the floor slab from the walls of the tank, caused by the presence of unsuitable 
material in the backfill. Once the litigation was settled, the old tank was demolished in the winter of 
2019/2020, and the site prepared for construction of the new tank. 

The new Traer Creek Tank is located on the same site and will match the dimensions and hydraulic 
configuration of the old tank. The new tank will be a partially buried AWWA D110 Wire- and Strand-
Wound Prestressed Concrete Tank with a domed roof. Also, the new tank will be placed on a deep 
foundation system consisting of drilled piers anchored 30-feet into the underlying bedrock.  The new tank 
has a thick conventionally reinforced floor slab to accommodate the reactions of the deep foundation, 
whereas the previous tank had a 5” think post tensioned slab.In addition to construction of a new tank, the 
Traer Creek Tank Replacement project includes replacement of yard piping, controls and electrical 
components.  

The project was bid on December 9, 2020. Two bids were received and the bids were within 0.8% of each 
other ($9,400,000 and $9,325,325). Bid results this close on such a large project are encouraging with 
respect to cost certainty. After reviewing qualifications, UERWA staff awarded the project to the lowest 
bidder, DN Tanks. DN Tanks is both the general contractor and vendor of the D110 tank on this project. 
This means that DN tanks is responsible to design the walls and tank dome, which is subsequently 
reviewed and approved by UERWA’s engineering consultant. UERWA also applied for and received 
Design Review approvals from the Village at Avon Design Review Board. 
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A vertical section of the proposed tank can be seen in Figure 1.

 
 

Figure 1:  Proposed Traer Creek Tank Vertical Section 
 
Phase 1, Earthwork: The project kicked off in February 2021.  Work started with earthwork and leveling 
the site to prepare for pier construction. DN Tanks subcontracted the majority of earthwork to Heyl 
Construction. 
 

 
 
 

Photo 1:  Early Construction and Earthwork 
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Phase 2, Piers: Once the site was graded and prepped, 4,054 linear feet of 36” diameter piers were 
drilled into the subsurface below the tank site. DN Tanks subcontracted drilling work to Coggins & Sons 
Caisson Drilling. 
 

 
 

Photo 2:  Drilling Rig Using Auger to Install Piers 
 
Phase 2 Continued, Piers: Drilled piers were filled with concrete and steel reinforcing. The drilled piers 
span between the tank bottom slab and thirty feet below bedrock elevation.  
 

 
 

Photo 3:  Rebar Installation Into Drilled Piers 
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Phase 2 Continued, Piers: 78 different piers were augured and spoils were exported from the site.  
 
 

 
 

Figure 2:  Traer Creek Tank Foundation Plan Showing Pier Locations 
 
 
Phase 3, Waterline Disinfection: ERWSD staff from Field Ops & Water departments completed a 
flushing, disinfection and testing of the existing tank supply line in order to supply construction water to 
the site and fill the tank when it is ready. 
 

 
 

Photo 4:  Feeding Chlorine to Disinfect Traer Creek Feed Line 
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Phase 4, Bottom Slab: Rebar reinforcement was placed at the bottom slab and forms were constructed. 
Pipework including the tank drain, overflow and outlet were installed under the tank slab and encased in 
concrete.  The site experienced a nearly two-week shutdown due to supply chain issues related to pipe 
material delivery. 
 

 
 

Photo 5:  Rebar Installation at Bottom Slab 
 
Phase 4 Continued, Bottom Slab: A concrete pour was completed on one half of the tank bottom slab. 
850 yards of concrete was placed in this pour. A second pour on the bottom slab will be completed on or 
around July 20.  
 

 
 

Photo 6:  Concrete Pour at Tank Bottom Slab 
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Phase 5, Tank Walls: This phase will be completed in July and August 2021. Tank walls will be cast 
onsite in flat casting beds. After they cure, the walls will be erected and placed in a standing position 
around the tank. A steel diaphragm will be installed on the exterior of the wall panels. Prestressed wire 
will be installed around the steel diaphragm and grouted in place.  
 

 
 

Figure 3:  Tank Wall Section Showing Precast Wall 
 
 
Phase 6, Tank Dome: This phase will be completed in August, September, and October 2021. Wooden 
forms will be constructed consisting of thousands of sheets of plywood. DN tanks estimates form 
construction will take over one month. Rebar will be installed on the completed forms. Multiple concrete 
pours will be required to complete the tank dome. A major benefit of a domed roof is that it is self- 
supporting and does not require numerous interior columns. 
 

 
 

Figure 4:  Tank Dome Showing Dome Cut Section 
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Phase 7, Filling and Completion: Miscellaneous sitework, electrical and piping work will be completed 
before the tank is filled.  Based on current schedule projections, the tank should be substantially complete 
and filled in October 2021. UERWA’s contract with DN Tanks stipulates substantial completion on 
October 30, 2021. 

Financial Implications:  The total approved project budget for all components is $14,600,000 including 
budget for tank demolition, design and construction. The 2021 project budget is $11,060,000 and 
approximately 5,470,000 of the 2021 budget is spent to date.  The project is tracking within its budget and 
no major changes or design issues are expected at this time. The budget benefitted from a nearly 
$200,000 value engineering item to steepen the pitch of the domed roof. 



 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
TO: Boards of Directors 

FROM: Diane Johnson, Communications & Public Affairs Manager 

DATE: July 22, 2021 

RE: Communications and Public Affairs Report 
 
Colorado River Basin Planning 
A number of stories are attached (and/or linked) to this report to provide context for various operational 
strategies to deal with the decades long decline of storage in lakes Powell and Mead. 

• June 2 Circle of Blue story: Context on the 2007 Colorado River Interim Guidelines (that expire at 
the end of 2025) which 1. developed a formula for determining how much water is released from 
Lake Powell into Lake Mead 2. set Lake Mead elevations at which lower basin states would be 
required to reduce their withdrawal, and 3. established the “intentionally created surplus” (ICS) 
water banking program. 

• June 23 KUNC story: Context on the 2019 drought contingency plans for the Upper and Lower 
Colorado River basins and Colorado’s demand management concept (of temporary, voluntary, 
and compensated reductions in the consumptive use of water in the Colorado River Basin in 
order to ensure ongoing Colorado River Compact compliance and avoid involuntary curtailment of 
Colorado water uses). 

• July 8 Brad Udall blogpost: Perspective on Lake Powell inflows, storage, and grim projections. 
(Note, a PDF of the post is attached. The narrative that describes the graphs gets a little lost in 
the PDF reproduction, so linking directly to the online source might be clearer.) 

• July 11 Los Angeles Times story: Context on lower basin shortages, how much states give up. 
 
Mountain Migration Study 
The Northwest Colorado Council of Governments (NWCCOG or “northwest COG,” which serves 30 
member jurisdictions in a 5-county region of northwest Colorado) commissioned a survey last year (the 
“Mountain Migration Report”) about whether pandemic-related impacts on housing and services were 
here to stay. According to NWCCOG’s website, the survey “seeks to quantify what appeared to be 
unusually full occupancy for many communities throughout the year, and asks, was it indeed a trend, and 
if so, who were the migrants? It studies the demographics and long-term intent of migrants and how their 
influx is shaping these places. The report concludes that the in-migration is occurring, and that there are 
significant long-term implications for communities which ought to be addressed.” The report findings have 
generated several media reports, of which, the June 23 Colorado Sun story is attached for your review. 
 
State Legislative Redistricting  
Colorado’s Independent Legislative Redistricting Commission has released preliminary plans for the 
state’s once-a-decade update to the Colorado General Assembly’s legislative districts. There are 
significant changes proposed for both our state House and Senate districts. Also, Eagle County would be 
split in the proposed state House District 54. The proposed preliminary maps can be found online for the 
House and Senate. Public comment may be submitted online via a web form; you can sign up to testify 
here; and you can find the full public hearing schedule here. 
 
 

https://www.circleofblue.org/2021/world/amid-dire-colorado-river-outlook-states-plan-to-tap-their-lake-mead-savings-accounts/
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/programs/strategies/RecordofDecision.pdf
https://www.kunc.org/environment/2021-06-23/another-dry-year-on-the-colorado-river-could-force-states-feds-back-to-negotiating-table
https://www.usbr.gov/dcp/
https://www.usbr.gov/dcp/finaldocs.html
https://www.usbr.gov/dcp/finaldocs.html
https://cwcb.colorado.gov/focus-areas/supply/demand-management
http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/2021/07/brad-udall-second-worst-powell-inflows-in-more-than-half-a-century/
https://www.latimes.com/world-nation/story/2021-07-11/lake-mead-hoover-dam-drought-nevada-arizona-california
https://www.nwccog.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Mtn-Migration-Report-FINAL.pdf
https://coleg.maps.arcgis.com/apps/View/index.html?appid=d9fc867bc00647e993f2447fa9f81467
https://coleg.maps.arcgis.com/apps/View/index.html?appid=34bff59fe6964d86a5dd8aa6e88189a3
https://redistricting.colorado.gov/public_comments/new
https://www2.leg.state.co.us/CLICS/CLICS2021A/commsumm.nsf/ColoradoRCSignIn.xsp
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1tK4B9BIPXLFaAJNauPzmwwX71OMK8OSWmLN0IS1c2II/edit#gid=932008165
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Attachments: 
1. June 2 Circle of Blue story: Amid Dire Colorado River Outlook, States Plan to Tap Their Lake 

Mead Savings Accounts  
2. June 23 KUNC: Another Dry Year on The Colorado River Could Force States, Feds Back to 

Negotiating Table 
3. July 2 blogpost by Eric Kuhn and John Fleck: Reverence or Pragmatism? The Upper Colorado 

River Basin’s Compact Dilemma? 
4. July 2 Colorado sun story: Drought forces Grand Junction to dip into Colorado River for drinking 

water for the first time in more than 50 years 
5. July 8 blogpost by Brad Udall: Second-worst Powell inflows in more than half a century 
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This year and next, Arizona and California intend to draw on water they banked in the big reservoir, even as
water levels drop.

Key Takeaways: 

Shared by seven states and Mexico, the Colorado Basin provides about 40 million Americans with a
portion of their drinking water and irrigates up to 5.5 million acres.

It is home to endangered species and supports about $1.4 trillion in economic activity.

Because of record-high temperatures and a drying climate, the basin is also dangerously close to being
parched: Lake Mead, which is just 36 percent full, is in poor health. So is Lake Powell, located upstream
and only 34 percent full.

By Brett Walton, Circle of Blue

Lake Mead, the largest reservoir on the Colorado River, is a centerpiece for water supplies in Arizona, California, and
Nevada. Mead’s declining water levels, projected to reach record lows in the next two years, will challenge water managers
in the basin. Photo © J. Carl Ganter/Circle of Blue

Amid Dire Colorado River Outlook, States Plan to
Tap Their Lake Mead Savings Accounts

https://www.circleofblue.org/2021/world/amid-dire-colorado-river-outlook-states-plan-to-tap-their-lake-mead-savings-accounts/
https://www.circleofblue.org/
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A complex and arcane water banking program in the lower Colorado River basin, adopted in 2007 and later
amended, was designed to incentivize water conservation, prevent waste, and boost storage in a waning
Lake Mead.

The program has already proved its worth, lifting Lake Mead dozens of feet higher than it otherwise would
have been and nurturing collaboration among states that will need to work together to surmount daunting
challenges of water availability. In the next two years, the program will be tested in another way, becoming a
small but important source of water for Arizona and California even as the lake continues to fall to levels that
haven’t been witnessed in several generations.

Water managers in the basin view the program, called intentionally created surplus or ICS, as a flexible tool
for adapting to a drying climate. It is a tool that they will soon call upon. Bill Hasencamp from the
Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, a large regional wholesaler, told Circle of Blue that the
district intends to draw between 100,000 and 150,000 acre-feet from its savings this year.

Arizona officials, meanwhile, plan to use 69,100 acre-feet of ICS credits to reduce mandatory cutbacks that
will be required in 2022 if Mead declines as projected. The state already used this maneuver to deal with a
cutback last year, albeit in a smaller amount. Instead of taking a big cut in one year, ICS allows Arizona to
“smooth the reduction,” as Chuck Cullom of the Central Arizona Project put it. CAP delivers the bulk of
Arizona’s Colorado River allocation and is first in line in the state when cutbacks are required.

These amounts are small but significant, especially in these times. An acre-foot is 325,851 gallons, or the
amount of water that will flood an acre of land to a depth of one foot. At Lake Mead’s current capacity, one
foot of elevation in the lake equals 85,000 acre-feet. These ICS uses, at the high end, amount to two and a
half feet of elevation in Lake Mead.

At the same time that water users plan to tap their savings, scholars in the basin are calling for more
analysis of the ICS program, especially as Lake Mead’s decline accelerates. They would like to check how
the system responds to ICS use under a range of water supply scenarios.

Ever since the late-2000s, the last time that water supplies in Colorado River reservoirs reached critically low
levels, the biggest water users in Arizona, California, and Nevada have been stashing water in Lake Mead,
in preparation for another emergency to come — and in an attempt to avoid a catastrophic collapse of the
region’s water storage system.

With the federal government now projecting that Lake Mead will drop precipitously in the next two years —
perhaps to levels not seen since the Great Depression, when the country’s largest reservoir was first filled —
that emergency has arrived.

“While Colorado River water users have invested billions of dollars to reduce consumption and increase
resiliency, the situation we face today is real and urgent,” John Entsminger, the general manager of the
Southern Nevada Water Authority, said at a House Natural Resources subcommittee hearing on May 25.

Shared by seven states and Mexico, the iconic river basin provides about 40 million Americans with a portion
of their drinking water and irrigates up to 5.5 million acres. It is home to endangered species and supports
about $1.4 trillion in economic activity, according to one 2014 study. Because of record-high temperatures
and a drying climate, the basin is also dangerously parched. Thirsty soils gulp melting snow before it

https://naturalresources.house.gov/hearings/remote-wow-oversight-hearing_may-25-2021
https://businessforwater.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/PTF-Final-121814.pdf
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reaches streams. Lake Mead, which is just 36 percent full, is in poor health. So is Lake Powell, located
upstream and only 34 percent full.

Arizona, California, and Nevada, which together form the lower basin, rely on water from Lake Mead, whose
fluctuations have become a barometer for water stress in the American Southwest. As stress increased in
the last two decades, water managers have responded. They have been willing to process new information
about the changing hydrology and rewrite the rules by which they operate, constraining themselves so as to
dodge the worst outcomes. ICS, to this date, has functioned the same way. But difficult situations are likely to
soon arise.

“[ICS] has enabled more opportunity to be a part of this puzzle of how to make things work so that we avoid
deep shortages that have harsher implications to water users,” Sharon Megdal, director of the University of
Arizona Water Resources Research Center, told Circle of Blue. “I think it’s been a very good tool. But like
anything else it’s with uncertainty.”

Creating Surplus
ICS was conceived during negotiations between the seven states that led to a milestone agreement in 2007
that transformed how the basin operates. At the time, Lake Powell had experienced the driest five-year
period in the region in a century and there were unresolved questions about delivering water under such
conditions. The 2007 Interim Guidelines, which expire at the end of 2025, were a landmark document that
secured three substantial changes.

First, the guidelines developed a formula for determining how much water is released from Lake Powell into
Lake Mead. The releases are designed to keep the reservoirs roughly in balance.

Lake Mead water levels since 2000. Graphic © Katie Riles/Circle of Blue

https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/programs/strategies/RecordofDecision.pdf
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The guidelines also set Lake Mead elevations at which lower basin states would be required to reduce their
withdrawals. The first of these shortage tiers — at 1,075 feet above sea level — is expected to be breached
next year. (Mead is currently at 1,073 feet, but for shortage determinations, it is the projected level in the
following January that matters. Right now that projection is 1,066 feet.)

The third change was establishing intentionally created surplus, or ICS. The program allows big water users
in the lower basin to open a savings account in the lake. To bank water in their account, they must take an
action that reduces water consumption. That banked water is credited to the user that created it. ICS is not
conservation in the household sense of simply using less. It is not taking a shorter shower or only watering
the lawn once a week. ICS is instead more comparable to a personal savings account. Water banked now
becomes an asset that can be withdrawn later, subject to certain conditions.

The program was championed initially by the Metropolitan Water District of South California. Known as Met,
the district is the largest urban water wholesaler in the state, providing water to 19 million people in six
counties including Los Angeles and San Diego. Met wanted a way to take advantage of its right to store
“surplus” water in Lake Mead, a right it secured in 1931 when it agreed to be cut off from Colorado River
supplies before the state’s irrigation districts were. Met needed the flexibility of extra Lake Mead storage for
two reasons: a court decision limited California’s use of Colorado River starting in 2003 and its supply from
reservoirs in northern California’s Sierra Nevada mountains is quite variable. In dry years in the Sierra, like
this year when deliveries from the State Water Project canals are low, Met draws more water from the
Colorado River. It is one of the many ways that human use connects watersheds of the American West that
are physically separated by hundreds of miles.

With a bit of linguistic maneuvering, the rules were written so that agencies like Met could create “surplus” by
investing in conservation. Say, for example, that Met paid to line a canal with concrete so water would not
seep into the soil, or paid farmers to fallow their fields. The Bureau of Reclamation, playing the oversight role
in the lower basin, checks that the lining kept water in the canal and the alfalfa fields were not irrigated. That
amount of water — the difference between what would have been delivered without the intervention and
what was actually delivered — would then be credited to Met in the form of ICS, minus a small percentage
that is the lake’s share.

A few years later these rules were altered to bring Mexico into the program. U.S. entities can pay a
counterpart in Mexico for conservation and reap the ICS asset. The rules were changed again in 2019, in an
agreement called the Drought Contingency Plan, or DCP, that welcomed certain tribal nations into the fold.
Banked water is now subjected to a one-time tax of 10 percent, a cut that is credited to the storage system
as a whole.

Only six entities have created ICS, according to Jeremy Dodds, who is responsible for ICS accounting and
verification at the Bureau of Reclamation. Those six are some of the largest water users in the basin: Met,
Gila River Indian Community, Colorado River Indian Tribes, Southern Nevada Water Authority, Imperial
Irrigation District, and the Central Arizona Water Conservation District, which manages CAP. Within the four
categories of ICS, there are limits on the ICS each water user can create, the amount they can take out in a
year, and the total amount stored.

There have been far more ICS deposits than withdrawals. Dodds said that about 3.7 million acre-feet of ICS
have been created since 2007, but water users have withdrawn only about 550,000 acre-feet. Taking into
account the system cuts, the Bureau of Reclamation counts just over 2.8 million acre-feet of ICS in Mead

https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/4200Rpts/DecreeRpt/2020/2020.pdf
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today. About half belongs to Met.

Met has been responsible for nearly all withdrawals, taking out a combined 485,000 acre-feet in 2013, 2014,
and 2015 when California was clutched by a severe drought and water deliveries from the State Water
Project bottomed out in 2014 at 5 percent of contracted amounts.

When it is withdrawn, ICS is additional to a state’s typical allocation of Colorado River water. That means
California can exceed its annual 4.4 million acre-feet allocation when Met draws on ICS.

Bill Hasencamp, who is Met’s manager of Colorado River resources, said that his district’s ICS account is
like a yo-yo that goes up and down, depending on water supply conditions elsewhere in California.

“This is a dry year and we have to take water out to offset northern California’s shortfall,” Hasencamp told
Circle of Blue about the district’s plan to withdraw between 100,000 and 150,000 acre-feet of ICS in 2021. In
total, Met has nearly 1.3 million acre-feet of ICS, more than half of that banked in the last two years. “So
we’re going to tap into that. But our hope is as soon as it’s another wet year in California, we’ll put that much
back in and more.”

ICS serves another purpose, too. Lower basin states can use ICS to cover part of their mandatory cutbacks
under the Drought Contingency Plan. In effect, states have “pre-paid” some of their shortage obligations.
Arizona leaned on that mechanism in 2020, when it contributed 47,434 in ICS credits to a required 192,000
acre-feet reduction.

That doesn’t mean the rights to the water are lost, though. ICS that pays down a shortage obligation, through
the basin’s accounting alchemy, becomes DCP ICS. This is a special category can be withdrawn through the

The Central Arizona Project canal delivers Colorado River water some 336 miles to counties in the middle of the state.
Photo © J. Carl Ganter/Circle of Blue
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year 2057, but only once Lake Mead rises above 1,110 feet.

Quest for Certainty in an Uncertain System
To this point, basin managers and federal officials are extremely satisfied with ICS. It is a “landmark
success,” according to Colby Pellegrino, deputy general manager for the Southern Nevada Water Authority.
Cullom of the Central Arizona Project said that the program has led to “deeper collaboration among water
users interstate and intrastate and even internationally.” Elizabeth Klein, senior counselor to the secretary of
the Interior and the department’s drought response coordinator, praised the ICS program during a House
Natural Resources subcommittee hearing on May 25. “This demonstrates the extraordinary importance of
taking proactive, cooperative measures to protect limited water supplies,” Klein said.

But as Lake Mead declines, there are scenarios that will test the system of checks and balances.

One uncertainty that has been partially resolved is the risk of unintended consequences. The 2007 Interim
Guidelines said that ICS was not allowed to be withdrawn during shortage situations, when Mead is below
1,075 feet. There was fear several years ago that there would be a run on the bank as the lake approached
that level. Met would draw down its credits, storing the water elsewhere and leading the reservoir to crash.

That scenario did not happen, due in part to the DCP. That agreement allows ICS to be withdrawn until Mead
reaches 1,025 feet. California, in exchange for the ability to take water out at lower lake levels, agreed for
the first time to cutbacks in its Colorado River allocation, which constrains its ability to withdraw ICS as the
lake declines. Below elevation 1,045, for every five feet that Mead declines, California’s cutbacks increase,
thus diminishing its capacity to withdraw ICS.

These are some of the checks and balances written into the system, Pellegrino explained. The compromise
on when ICS could be withdrawn provided more certainty, she said, but it also delayed a reckoning with the
key question: whether there is a point at which ICS becomes stranded, even temporarily. The DCP contains
a clause that the states will discuss “additional measures” if Lake Mead is projected to fall below 1,030 feet.

Hasencamp offered another consideration: the size of the ICS accounts relative to the amount of water in
Lake Mead. Right now about 30 percent of the water in the reservoir is ICS. What happens if that figure
reaches 40 percent or 50 percent? Is there a limit?

“At some point we’re going to have to take cuts as a lower basin as opposed to ICS,” Hasencamp said.
“That’s the only drawback: it gives you a false sense of security about how much water you really have in
there.”

Hasencamp said that Met would be willing to put a large volume of water in Mead and get only a portion of it
out again because having a diverse source of supplies during dry years in California is so important for the
district.

The false sense of security is what irks Brad Udall about ICS. Udall is a water and climate scientist at
Colorado State University who says that ICS has laudable intentions: preventing water waste and increasing
water levels in Mead. Higher reservoir levels help lakeside marinas stay in business and maintain the
valuable hydropower generated by Hoover Dam. But Udall also believes that discussing Lake Mead water
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storage without being explicit about how much is set aside as ICS amounts to a “double counting” of
supplies, combining the private ICS accounts with the public pool of water.

Udall would prefer a more rigorous examination of the implications of ICS use, especially given that the
credits can be used to reduce shortage requirements. But he could not recall any academic study that
modeled potential outcomes. One such study, however, is on the horizon.

Sarah Porter, director of the Kyl Center for Water Policy at Arizona State University, said that she plans to
start work this year on an assessment of how ICS use would impact water availability in Arizona. A full
analysis will take 18 months to two years, she said. But preliminary results could be available in six months
or so.

“We have to look at a range of scenarios so we can look at a range of responses,” Porter told Circle of Blue.

The water supply scenarios are indeed daunting. By April 2022, the Bureau of Reclamation projects that
Mead will drop to 1,063 feet, or 33 percent of its capacity. A year after that, in April 2023, the forecast is that
Mead will sit at 1,047 feet. At that elevation, the reservoir would be just over 28 percent full.

All of these issues should be on the table soon. The basin states are set to begin negotiations over what will
replace the 2007 interim guidelines, which expire on December 31, 2025. A big question — maybe the
biggest — is how to permanently reduce reliance on the river so that water withdrawals are more in line with
the drying hydrology.

“We all recognize ICS as a short-term tool,” Hasencamp said. “We have some tough negotiations about
coming up with perhaps a million acre-feet a year shared among three states and the country of Mexico.”

Correction: Colby Pellegrino is the deputy general manager of the Southern Nevada Water Authority, not the
Colorado River program manager as was stated.

Brett Walton
Brett writes about agriculture, energy, infrastructure, and the politics and economics of water in
the United States. He also writes the Federal Water Tap, Circle of Blue’s weekly digest of U.S.
government water news. He is the winner of two Society of Environmental Journalists reporting
awards, one of the top honors in American environmental journalism: first place for explanatory
reporting for a series on septic system pollution in the United States(2016) and third place for beat

reporting in a small market (2014). He received the Sierra Club’s Distinguished Service Award in 2018. Brett lives in
Seattle, where he hikes the mountains and bakes pies. Contact Brett Walton
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Luke Runyon / KUNC

Lake Mead's bath tub ring is growing larger this year, as the nation's largest human-made reservoir declines to its lowest level on record.

Colorado River water managers could be pulled back to the
negotiating table as soon as next year to keep its biggest reservoirs
from declining further.

The 2019 Drought Contingency Plan was meant to give the U.S. and
Mexican states that depend on the river a roadmap to manage water
shortages. That plan requires the river’s biggest reservoir, Lake Mead,
to drop to unprecedented levels before conservation among all the
lower basin states -- Arizona, Nevada and California -- becomes
mandatory. California isn’t required to conserve water in the reservoir
until it drops to an elevation of 1,045 feet above sea level.

Lake Mead is currently at its lowest level since it was �rst �lled in the
1930s, at roughly 1,069 feet. Lake Powell is projected to hit its lowest
level this summer.

“Right now we're in an unprecedented time,” said Michael Bernardo,
the federal Bureau of Reclamation’s Lower Colorado Basin river
operations manager.

National Oceanic And Atmospheric Administration

The last 12 months have been the driest on record in California, Utah and Arizona.
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The last 12 months, from June 2020 to May 2021, have been the
driest on record in three of the basin’s seven U.S. states: California,
Arizona and Utah. That same period was the second driest for Nevada
and third driest for New Mexico.

Another consecutive dry year will amplify the alarm bells already
ringing in the basin, Bernardo said.

“Should 2022 be as dry as 2021 is currently, I think you'll start to see a
lot more activity in the basin states and the senior principals in the
federal government to get together to work on the next proactive
agreement to reduce risk further,” Bernardo said.

Climate change is altering the water cycle in the Colorado River basin.
Rising temperatures diminish Rocky Mountain snowpack, increase
evaporation from streams and reservoirs, and sap moisture from the
ground. Those factors combine to reduce the region’s overall water
supplies. A failure to reduce demands at the same magnitude has left
the region facing imminent shortages.

The Upper Basin Drought Contingency Plan was recently put in action
to develop guidelines for reservoir releases to be made to prop up
Lake Powell. A conceptual program called demand management,
which would create a market to pay large users not to divert their
legally-entitled share of water, is not yet functional. Water o�cials in
Colorado have assured skeptical farmers that the program’s
establishment is “not a foregone conclusion,” and that participation
would be voluntary.

The Drought Contingency Plan was billed as an overlay to the
Colorado River’s existing guidelines, established in 2007 and set to
expire in 2026. Without the drought plan, federal o�cials said during
its development, the system that supplies 40 million people in the
Southwest faced risk of failure.

“I think that it's way too early to say whether the drought contingency
plans work,” Bernardo said. “I don't think it has gotten a chance to
work yet. And I think we're going to have to go into these lower lake
elevations to actually see these increased water savings
contributions.”

The Takeaway
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A �rst-ever federal water shortage declaration in the river’s lower
basin is expected this August.

This story is part of ongoing coverage of the Colorado River, produced
by KUNC and supported by the Walton Family Foundation. 
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As KUNC’s reporter covering the Colorado River Basin, I dig into stories that show how
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BY ERIC KUHN AND JOHN FLECK

Unlike the Lower Colorado River Basin States, which have traditionally taken pragmatic and self-serving views of the 1922 Colorado River Compact, the Upper
Basin States have largely shown the century-old document unwavering reverence.

The reverence comes from the way the agreement protected Wyoming, Colorado, Utah, and New Mexico against the avaricious impulses of fast-growing
Lower Basin states, especially Arizona and California. The Compact promised water that has driven a century of development and dreaming in the Upper
Basin.

Now, however, climate change-driven aridification has the Upper Basin in a vise-like squeeze.  Increasing regional temperatures are reducing the river’s
natural flow while the compact imposes fixed delivery (or non-depletion) obligations on the four Upper Basin States.

The net difference between the amount of water flowing from the Upper Basin’s watersheds and the amount that must be passed to the Lower Basin at Lee
Ferry is the amount that can be consumed.  As recent discussions about implications of “Alternative Management Paradigms for the Future of the Colorado
and Green Rivers (https://qcnr.usu.edu/coloradoriver/files/WhitePaper6.pdf)” by Kevin Wheeler, et al from the Colorado River Futures Project out of Utah State
University have shown, state water officials from the upper river are beginning to understand that today’s law of the river places most of the future climate
change risk on their states. But their fealty to the compact remains a major factor. (One of us, Eric Kuhn, is a co-author of the report. The other, John Fleck,
serves on the project’s advisory committee.)

This dilemma raises the fundamental question facing the basin as it begins to negotiate the post-2026 river:

Can the law of the river, with the 1922 Compact as its cornerstone and designed for a stationary system, be
interpreted in a manner that will allow the equitable sharing of the impacts of climate change among the many
competing interests in the basin?

In recent months the paper’s authors have held briefings for state and federal water management agencies, water districts, and environmental NGOs. Most
recently, they met (via Zoom) with representatives of the Upper Basin States under the umbrella of the Upper Colorado River Commission. Although the
briefings varied in length and how deeply they got “into the weeds” concerning the modelling and science behind the study, the general messages and
discussions were similar:

If future river flows are like those seen since 2000 and continue to decline due to climate change, as scientific
projections suggest, the system is not sustainable through operational changes alone.
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Planning for a shrinking Colorado River

Balancing the river system’s water budget will require deeper cuts in total system water use than now contemplated by the basin Drought Contingency Plans. 
Further, future conservation targets and reservoir operations rules cannot be static. They will have to accommodate declining long-term average flows and
increased variability.  There is a general agreement that the post-2026 guidelines should work effectively down to a mean natural flow of 11-12 million acre-feet
per year. Nevada’s John Entsminger suggested 11 maf at the University of Colorado’s Getches-Wilkinson Center Conference in 2019 – one of the last and
most meaningful public conversations among the basin leadership before the pandemic shut us all down. For comparison, the estimated natural flow at Lee
Ferry for the current 2000-2021 period is about 12.4 maf/year.

Testing the effectiveness of new guidelines to flow levels below about 12.4 maf/year will quickly and squarely put the basin’s focus on Article III of the compact.
The modeling conducted for White Paper No. 6 shows with an average flow of about 12.4 maf/year, and if the Upper Basin average annual consumptive uses
do not increase (currently about 3.8 maf/year not counting CRSP evaporation), future combined storage in Lakes Mead and Powell will stabilize, but at a very
low level – about 15 maf of total storage. At average flows below this level, unless Upper Basin uses or the flows at Lee Ferry are reduced (thus increasing
Lower Basin shortages), total reservoir storage drops to near dead pool levels.  With an average Lee Ferry natural flow of 11 maf/year (a plausible future with
aridification), and with a Lee Ferry flow target that averages 8.23 maf/year (the minimum objective release target under the 1970 long-range operating criteria
and 2007 Interim Guidelines.), total Upper Basin uses would be limited to about 2.5 maf/year – about the same amount of water it was using in 1922, the year
the compact was negotiated.

The only way post-2026 operating criteria work for future natural flows of 11 maf/year (and probably any flow
below 12.4 maf/year), is for either the Upper Basin States to force large cuts on their existing users or to
negotiate a long-term future Lee Ferry flow target well below 8.23 maf/year.

The graph under a climate change scenario with RCP4.5 emissions level – a mid-range estimate of future emissions that shows greenhouse gas emissions
beginning to decline by mid-century – and a 6.5% reduction in natural flow per 1 degree C increase in temperature is shown below:
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Utah State Colorado River Future Project

Either option, large cuts or a reduced flow target, will require negotiators to deal head-on with Article III of the 1922 Compact- the article that seemingly
promises the Upper Basin it can use 7.5 million acre feet of water per year while simultaneously requiring the Upper Basin to send an average of 7.5 million
acre feet or more of water downstream to the Lower Basin each year. In a future with a 12.4 million acre foot river, which we have now, or an 11 million acre
foot river, which the best climate science suggests it would be prudent to prepare for, the math does not add up.

Some in the water community may argue that the states and Interior are only negotiating reservoir operating rules which have nothing to do with the compact.
While it is true that Secretarial decisions normally include pages of legal disclaimer language stating that there is no interpretation of the Compact and most
other elements of the law of the river, history tells us otherwise. One only needs to look at the history and plain language of Section 6 of the 1968 Colorado
River Basin Act to understand that the 1922 Compact is front and center when the subject is the operation of Glen Canyon Dam, which sits just 15 miles
upriver from Lee Ferry. Section 6 requires the Secretary to prepare long-range coordinated operating criteria and annual operating plans for Hoover Dam, Glen
Canyon Dam, and the other CRSP storage reservoirs.  It also sets priorities for releases from Glen Canyon Dam. The first priority is to meet the obligation of
the Upper Basin States under the Mexican Treaty, if any. This is Article III(c). The second priority is meeting the 75 maf every ten years non-depletion
obligation, Article III(d), and the third priority is what we refer to as equalization, Article III(e).  Long-time Colorado Water Conservation Board Director Felix
Sparks described it this way – section 6 was all about giving the Upper Basin certainty under the compact, and “we wrote every word of it.” Of course, in Felix’
day the belief was that the Colorado River at Lee Ferry was a 15 maf/year river, already not enough to meet future needs of the basin, even before climate
change began taking its cut (see our book Science Be Dammed (https://uapress.arizona.edu/book/science-be-dammed), Chapter 15).

Modifying or reinterpreting Article III of the compact to reduce long-term Glen Canyon Dam releases will require either a great deal of ingenuity, creativity, and
negotiating skill (and luck) or a blunt-force legal victory in the Supreme Court. The most obvious legal approach is to challenge the Upper Basin’s assumed
750,000 af/year obligation to Mexico under Article III (c). This approach might include a claim that Lower Basin uses in excess of 8.5 maf/year, if any, are
surplus waters that should be delivered to Mexico. Legal scholars have been writing about the disputed issues concerning the Upper Basin’s Mexican Treaty
obligation for decades.  Many, but not all, have concluded that the Upper Basin would have an uphill fight, that such a case would quickly escalate into a
broader dispute, and that the result could be that the Upper Basin must deliver more water; 750,000 af/year plus channel losses between Lee Ferry and
Mexico. (See for example Jason Robison and colleagues from 2012. (http://www.waterpolicy.info/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/Obligations-Regarding-the-
Delivery-of-Water-to-Mexico.pdf))

Any decision involving the future of the compact will be politically difficult. Within the Upper Basin States there are long held and deeply embedded views that
the compact protects the Upper Basin from the evil water grabbers in the Lower Basin. After all, it was the upper river that opposed the Congressional
authorization of the Boulder Canyon Project Act (Lake Mead) forcing the lower river to the negotiating table. The compact, mostly written by Colorado’s Delph
Carpenter, preserves water for future use in the Upper Basin. Without the compact the lower basin states would command the river. When Arizona threatened
the pact’s future, the Upper Basin States, led by Carpenter, devised a six-state ratification strategy. After Carpenter, Colorado’s Clifford Stone chaired the
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Committee of Fourteen that advised the State Department on the Mexican Treaty negotiations and led the fight for Senate ratification. When the Upper Basin
states convened to negotiate their compact, Stone described their task as dividing up the waters apportioned to the Upper Basin while meeting their solemn
obligations to the Lower Basin under the compact.

Contrast the Upper Basin’s history with that of Arizona and California. Arizona did not ratify the compact until 1944, only after it decided it was in its interest to
do so.  Today, it boldly proclaims that its Colorado River tributaries (referred to as “in-state rivers”) are not even covered by the 1922 Compact. And, as a
practical matter the river is operated that way! California today is a cooperative basin player, but it was not always so. After its major projects were completed
in the 1940s, California spent much of the next 50 years opposing just about every Congressional authorization of projects that use Colorado River water in the
other basin states, a blatant disregard of the intent and purposes of the compact as provided in Article I.

We must recognize that Upper Basin water officials are in a difficult situation.  They face pressures from state and local politicians who feel entitled to the
supplies the Compact promised them, even if that water no longer exists – and may never have.

Thus, reconciling the various conflicting statements by Upper Basin water officials is challenging.  Some appear to both want a compact that more equitably
allocates the impacts of climate change between each basin, but without changing the compact. Others acknowledge that climate change driven flow
reductions and future shortages are the most challenging problems facing the basin but continue to insist that as individual states they can irrigate tens of
thousands of acres of new lands in the future or develop hundreds of thousands of acre-feet of “unused entitlements.”  The political environment for addressing
climate change in the individual states is quite different.

Our hope is that collectively, they will be open to a wide range of different future options and that they will pursue different options in parallel. We would also
hope that one of those options is to recognize that we now have a fundamentally different river to manage than the one that their predecessors thought they
had when the 1922 Compact, 1944 Treaty with Mexico, and 1948 Compacts were negotiated, therefore, managing today’s river may require breaking the
chains that unnecessarily tie us to the past.
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How about starting with a MOU that there is only 11 maf in the river to be signed by all parties including Mexico, Native Americans and the US Govt.?
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Drought forces Grand Junction to dip into Colorado
River for drinking water for the first time in more than
50 years
Ute Water's 90,000 Western Slope customers will have river water added to flows from
Grand Mesa as a hedge against heat and drought drying up reservoirs

MENU

Michael Booth 4:20 AM MDT on Jul 2, 2021

Chemist Allison Dederick checks water quality in the lab at Ute Water Conservancy District in Grand Junction. The

district began drawing water from the Colorado River on June 10, 2021, which will require the district to treat its supply

differently. (Handout)

F
TODAY’S UNDERWRITER

or 65 years, the Ute Water Conservancy District serving Grand Junction
and Mesa County  has let the Colorado River flow on by, while drawing
drinking water from pristine runoff 11,000 feet high on Grand Mesa.

The  has now forced other plans. 

The utility has for the first time
begun to mix Colorado River water
into its Grand Mesa reservoir

severe, ongoing drought
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releases to meet the peak demand
of 90,000 customers and preserve
backup supplies quickly
evaporating in summer heat. 

Ute Water, the largest provider
between Denver and Salt Lake City,
says it must protect supplies in its
96%-full Jerry Creek reservoirs as
long as possible given the dry
conditions. All of the utility’s Grand Valley service area 

Ute Water has rights to pull a relatively small amount from the Colorado, but
says its junior rights are likely to be cut off later this summer, when river flows
decrease. 

The utility says it began taking about 7 cubic feet per second from the Colorado
on June 10, or about 14 acre-feet per day. An acre-foot is enough water to cover
an area roughly the size of a football field in a foot of water, and serves the
needs of two to three households for a year. 

Tightening up on resources is
crucial after the “back-to-back
drought that we’ve been concerned
about for many years,” Ute Water
external affairs manager Andrea
Lopez said. “2018 was a pretty bad
year, ‘19 was decent, ‘20 was pretty
bad and now we’re in ‘21, where
runoff just wasn’t as generous as we
hoped it would have been. . .  Over
time it just gets worse and worse
and .” 

Water managers and ranchers across western Colorado 
, and depleted snowpack

soaks into the ground long before it reaches streambeds. At a recent water
conference in Basalt, Lopez said, water engineers talked of snow evaporating
before ever melting into a liquid. 

Ute Water’s reservoirs have stayed full through careful management, Lopez
said. Starting to add in river water shares is “simply utilizing another tool that
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is in a state of
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we’re definitely seeing the impacts of aridification
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we have in our toolkit to help mitigate” supply challenges.

Ute Water Conservancy District Water Supply Coordinator Tim Fox uses a piezometer to measure water levels in an

underground aquifer. (Handout)

Ute Water’s customers, 
, will start paying a 2% surcharge on their bills to account for

electric power and water treatment costs from using Colorado River water in
the mix. The utility’s reservoir water falls naturally from the Grand Mesa
reservoirs, but water must be pumped up from the Colorado River to a
treatment plant. 

For customers who use about 3,000 gallons a month, the extra cost will be less
than 50 cents. Ute Water does not like to call it a “surcharge,” insisting it’s a
“drought pumping impact rate.” 

Treatment will make the less-pristine Colorado River supply drinkable, but will
leave customer water “hard” or full of minerals like calcium carbonate. The
minerals can leave a mark on clothing and some kitchenware, the utility said. 

As with domestic water use in other cities, most of the water Ute Water draws
from the Colorado will go right back in downstream. Of the 14 acre-feet a day
Ute Water plans to use, only about 1.4 acre-feet will be consumed, or disappear
from the system. The remainder comes back into sewage treatment plants, is
treated, and goes back into the river toward the Utah border. 

Lopez said Ute Water engineers do not know how long their water rights on the
Colorado will last this summer before more senior users put a stop to

who surround downtown Grand Junction and stretch to
Fruita and Palisade

http://www.cliftonwaterdistrict.org/documents/PDF/GVDroughtAndWater_1.pdf
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drawdowns by junior rights holders. The Colorado River, along with nearly
every other basin in the state, is suffering greatly from years of poor runoff. 

The Colorado’s flow on Thursday near Palisade was about 850 cubic feet per
second, according to U.S. Geological Survey gauges, a far cry from the 30-year
median flow on that date of about 4,960 cubic feet per second. 

Mesa County’s population 
, to more

than 155,000 people today from
about 50,000 in 1970.  

While utility managers are
changing water conditions for their
humans, state wildlife managers
are trying to preserve conditions for
fish and flora. Colorado Parks and
Wildlife 

, giving trout in
overheated, shallow waters a break.

Wildlife officials said similar calls for fishing restrictions are likely to come
soon on other popular fishing stretches, including many portions of the
Colorado River from Kremmling west to Glenwood Springs. 

Ute Water is using its supply changes as an educational tool with its consumers,
Lopez said, avoiding drastic mandatory use cutbacks but asking for voluntary
changes in habit. 

“We just really want people to be aware,” she said, “now that drought is
touching our community directly and impacting our water supply and our water
quality.” 

The Colorado Sun has no paywall, meaning readers do not have to pay to

access stories. We believe vital information needs to be seen by the people

impacted, whether it’s a public health crisis, investigative reporting or keeping

lawmakers accountable. 

has seen
steady growth for decades

has asked anglers on the
Dolores River in southwest Colorado to stop fishing after noon
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JFLECK AT INKSTAIN (HTTP://WWW.INKSTAIN.NET/FLECK/)
A few thoughts from John Fleck, a writer of journalism and other things, living in New Mexico
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Brad Udall: Second-worst Powell inflows in more than half a century
Posted by jfleck (http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/author/jfleck/) on 8 July 2021, 3:04 pm (http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/2021/07/brad-udall-second-worst-powell-inflows-in-more-than-half-a-century/)

Brad Udall on twitter yesterday ran through a striking series of graphs of the current state of the Colorado River. With his permission, I’m posting them here along with a slightly polished version of his accompanying commentary. Some key points that grabbed my attention:

Second-lowest Powell inflow in a period of record we use dating to 1964.
Risk of Powell dropping next year to levels that could jeopardize power production
Risk of Mead dropping low enough in the next 18 months to trigger much deeper “Tier 2” reductions to Lower Basin water users in 2023.

BY BRAD UDALL

Reclamation’s ‘unregulated inflows’ into Lake Powell show that 2021 will be the 2nd worst year after only 2002 going back to 1964. 2021 will be the RED bar most likely. This is a really grim year for runoff.
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Lake Powell inflows

2021 inflow will be only ~3 maf, compared to the 1981-2010 average of 10.3 maf or the 2000-2021 average of 8.3 maf (20% less than 1981-2010 average).(maf = million acrefeet)

Considering that Powell will release or lose to evaporation ~ 8.5 maf, the lake will lose ~ 5 maf this year or ~55 feet of elevation.

April 2021 snowpack above Powell peaked at ~85% of normal but will generate about 25% of normal river flow. This comes on top of April 2020 snowpack of 100% of normal that generated about 50% of normal flow.

Declining runoff efficiency has been noted in multiple peer-reviewed studies. For a recent overview of recent climate change studies on the Colorado River see this (https://watercenter.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/33/2021/06/ColoradoWater_V38-1v-r15-web.pdf#page=5) written with Jonathan
Overpeck:

Multiple studies since 2016 have now found human fingerprints on the nearly 20% loss in flow since 2000 and attribute up to half of that loss to the approximately 1.2°C or more warming that has occurred during the last century.

https://watercenter.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/33/2021/06/ColoradoWater_V38-1v-r15-web.pdf#page=5
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Jeff Lukas points out that the twitter thread implied that the low runoff efficiency this year as measured by runoff as a percent of snowpack is all due directly  to warming. I did not mean to imply that. The low runoff percent numbers are much more a function of (1) very low spring precipitation in both 2020
and 2021 and to a lesser extent (2) low soil moisture from the previous year.  It may be that there is a human-caused connection to the low spring precipitation although there’s no real evidence of this yet.  Low soil moisture in the springs of 2020 and 2021 is definitely connected to dry and very warm
late summer and early fall from the previous years.  Teasing this apart to obtain the actual driver(s) is not simple. That said, no one should doubt that climate change is reducing the flows of the Colorado. Multiple peer-reviewed papers have now supported this finding.

More from Jeff on this here (https://twitter.com/LukasClimate/status/1392863215315423235).

Here’s what’s going to happen to the nation’s 2 largest reservoirs because of this measly inflow:

Losses to Mead and Powell

Note that combined contents will drop below 30% by late next year.

Here’s that decline for all years back to 1935 when Mead first filled. These two reservoirs will hold less water than Mead did alone in many years before 1964 when Powell was built.

https://twitter.com/LukasClimate/status/1392863215315423235
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Combined storage, Mead and Powell

By next April Powell will hit 5.4 maf, ~185 feet below full. See Red dots. This will be the lowest since its initial fill in 1964. Since 1999, Powell will have lost ~18 maf, 75% of its contents.
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At 5.4 maf Powell could be low enough to lose the ability to generate power. (We’re uncertain about how penstocks operate when lake gets low — water in penstocks can not be aerated or turbine damage will occur.)

Loss of power, while not calamitous, is concerning. Power revenues fund environmental compliance and other important items in the basin.

As part of the 2019 agreement, the UB can release flows from reservoirs upstream of Powell to prop it up. But there is only about 5 maf for that all together. It is a one-shot deal.

We’ll have to wait on next winter to understand what happens after April of 2022. But 5.4 maf is very little water in a 25 maf reservoir.

So what about Lake Mead, the nation’s largest reservoir?

Reclamation’s current forecasts show January 1, 2022 elevation at 1065’ feet (8.8 maf) , well below the 1075’ needed to avoid a ‘Tier 1 Shortage’.
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Decline of Lake Mead

If it ends up below 1050’ on Jan 1 (as projected in August 2022), that will lead to a Tier 2 Shortage (total cutbacks of 721 kaf). Otherwise, Mead will face a 2nd year of Tier 1 shortages. Either way, this is not good.

Filed under Colorado River (http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/category/colorado-river/), water (http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/category/water/) | 2 Comments (http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/2021/07/brad-udall-second-worst-powell-inflows-in-more-than-half-a-century/#comments) | Permalink (http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/2021/07/brad-udall-second-worst-powell-inflows-in-more-than-half-a-
century/)

2 Comments

Does this grim assessment take recent rains into consideration?

Geri Rhodes
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http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/category/colorado-river/
http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/category/water/
http://www.inkstain.net/fleck/2021/07/brad-udall-second-worst-powell-inflows-in-more-than-half-a-century/


7/14/2021 Newsroom | Bureau of Reclamation

https://www.usbr.gov/newsroom/#/news-release/3912 1/3

MENU

News & Multimedia
News, Speeches, Fact Sheets and Multimedia from the Bureau of Reclamation

Reclamation releases additional 5-year projections to support drought response planning efforts in the Colorado
River Basin

Media Contact: Upper Colorado Basin Public Affairs 385-261-1929 ucbpao@usbr.gov
Lower Colorado Basin Public Affairs 702-726-1921 paaron@usbr.gov
For Release: Jul 8, 2021

SALT LAKE CITY - As one element of the ongoing implementation of the 2019 Drought Contingency Plans for the Colorado River Basin,
the Bureau of Reclamation today released additional 5-year projections on the Colorado River System based on June 2021 conditions.

Five-year projections are typically modeled in January, April and August of each year. The additional June projections will inform the
ongoing drought operations planning efforts at key Reclamation reservoirs in the Upper Colorado River Basin. These efforts are ongoing
among Reclamation and the Colorado River Basin states under the Upper Basin Drought Response Operations Agreement.

“The June 5-year projections for the Colorado River System reaffirm this is a serious situation,” said Wayne Pullan, Upper Colorado Basin
Regional Director. “We are actively engaged with the Colorado River Basin states and other partners to respond to changing conditions to
avoid critical elevations at Lake Powell.”
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Projections for anticipated runoff in the Upper Colorado Basin have declined over the course of the spring. Using information based on
recent hydrology (since 1988 and known as the Stress Test Hydrology), Reclamation notes several key findings for Lake Powell in the June
5-year projections:

A 79% chance that Lake Powell will fall below its target water-surface elevation of 3,525 feet sometime next year.

Lake Powell’s target water-surface elevation of 3,525 feet provides a 35 vertical-foot buffer designed to minimize the risk of
dropping below the minimum power pool elevation of 3,490 feet, and balances the need to protect the infrastructure at Glen
Canyon Dam and to meet current operational obligations to the Lower Colorado River Division states of Arizona, California, and
Nevada.

Beyond 2022, Lake Powell's chances of falling to critical levels also increased.
There is a 5% chance that Lake Powell will fall below minimum power pool elevation of 3,490 feet in 2023 and 17% in 2024.

In the Lower Basin, the updated projections for Lake Mead continue to affirm the high likelihood of a first-ever shortage condition in the
Lower Basin in calendar year 2022. Consistent with the 2007 Interim Guidelines, if Lake Mead’s end-of-calendar-year elevation is projected
to be at or below 1,075 feet, Lake Mead would operate in a shortage condition in the upcoming year. The prescribed shortage reductions
for Arizona and Nevada would also be coupled with water savings contributions under the Lower Basin Drought Contingency Plan. Mexico
would reduce their allotment and make water savings contributions under Minute 323 to the 1944 U.S. Mexico Water Treaty. Consistent
with the 2007 Interim Guidelines, the 2019 DCP and Minute 323, operational decisions for 2022 will be made by Reclamation in August
2021.

Reclamation is also concerned with the longer-term projections, which show a higher likelihood of Lake Mead declining to the critical
elevations of 1,025 and 1,000 feet by 2025. Based on the June update, the chance of this occurring by 2025 is 58% and 21%, respectively.

Reclamation provides projections using two future hydrology scenarios: The Stress Test Hydrology based on the last 32 years, and the Full
Hydrology based on the last 114 years. The Stress Test Hydrology provides more plausible near-term outlooks because it embeds the
recent warming trend and current drought period. It is about 11% lower on average compared to the Full Hydrology.

Assumptions about drought operations are included in these projections; drought response operation plans to protect Lake Powell are
being developed by Reclamation and the Upper Division states of Colorado, New Mexico, Utah, and Wyoming. Pursuant to the provisions
of the Drought Response Operations Agreement and the Companion Agreement, Reclamation will consult with the Lower Division states
before finalizing drought response operation plans. If actual hydrology demonstrates an imminent need to protect the elevation at Lake
Powell, the Secretary retains all applicable authority to adjust releases from the upstream initial units of the Colorado River Storage Project
Act (Flaming Gorge, Navajo, and Blue Mesa reservoirs) before those operating plans can be finalized.

Reclamation and the Colorado Basin states continue to closely monitor conditions to be prepared to meet the goals of the DROA in the
months and years ahead.

A key component of Reclamation’s Colorado River Basin activities is the integration of sophisticated modeling tools and scientific research
to inform water management decisions. Through a decades-long partnership with the Center for Advanced Decision Support for Water and
Environmental Systems at the University of Colorado in Boulder, Reclamation hydrologic engineers and hydrologists are actively
collaborating with climate, hydrology and decision support scientists to provide advanced modeling tools. Their work is helping Reclamation
link advances in science to water resource management decisions in the face of greater uncertainty and increased hydrologic and
operational risks.

Reclamation’s modeling and operations teams further refine these tools, such as the 24-Month studies, to make annual operational
determinations for Lake Powell and Lake Mead through close coordination with water and power customers throughout the basin.

For more information, the 5-year projections from June 2021 and prior can be viewed by visiting
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/crss-5year-projections.html
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‘Unrecognizable.’ Lake Mead, a lifeline for water in
Los Angeles and the West, tips toward crisis

A boater gets an up-close view of the “bathtub ring” on Lake Mead — evidence of its low water level — while touring Hoover Dam. (Allen J. Schaben / Los
Angeles Times)

By JAWEED KALEEM, THOMAS CURWEN

Photography by ALLEN J. SCHABEN

JULY 11, 2021 5:01 AM PT

LAKE MEAD, Nev. — Eric Richins looked out from his pontoon boat to the shallows on

the lake’s western edge. He squinted and paused as if he had come upon a foreign

shore. For the first time in a career navigating the waters of the American West, he

didn’t know where he was.

LOG IN

https://www.latimes.com/world-nation
https://www.latimes.com/people/jaweed-kaleem
https://www.latimes.com/people/thomas-curwen
https://www.latimes.com/people/allen-j-schaben
https://www.facebook.com/dialog/share?app_id=134435029966155&display=popup&href=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.latimes.com%2Fworld-nation%2Fstory%2F2021-07-11%2Flake-mead-hoover-dam-drought-nevada-arizona-california
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.latimes.com%2Fworld-nation%2Fstory%2F2021-07-11%2Flake-mead-hoover-dam-drought-nevada-arizona-california&text=%27Unrecognizable.%27%20Lake%20Mead%2C%20a%20lifeline%20for%20water%20in%20Los%20Angeles%20and%20the%20West%2C%20tips%20toward%20crisis
https://www.latimes.com/


7/13/2021 Lake Mead, crucial water source in West, tips toward crisis - Los Angeles Times

https://www.latimes.com/world-nation/story/2021-07-11/lake-mead-hoover-dam-drought-nevada-arizona-california 2/17

“I could have sworn I was here just six weeks ago catching smallmouth and bigmouth

bass,” said the 35-year-old fisherman who runs tours on this 247-square-mile basin

where the Colorado River meets the Hoover Dam to form the nation’s largest

reservoir. 

For the record: 1:57 p.m. July 12, 2021 An earlier version of this article said that

the Metropolitan Water District is building up its reserves with water taken from the

Colorado River. It is drawing down its reserves.

He pointed ahead to what looked like dozens of tiny steps made from successive

layers of dried mud now covered in tall grass and weeds — the effect of rapidly

creeping vegetation over a shoreline that has been dropping by nearly a foot a week.

“Now it looks like a lawn. I knew the drought was bad. I didn’t realize it was this bad,”

he said. “This place is unrecognizable.”

ADVERTISEMENT

Lake Mead, a lifeline for 25 million people and millions of acres of farmland in

California, Arizona, Nevada and Mexico, made history when it was engineered 85

years ago, capturing trillions of gallons of river water and ushering in the growth of

the modern West.
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Eric Richins, owner of Big Water Boating, surveys water levels and fish on Lake Mead, where he has led tours for two
years. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

But after years of an unrelenting drought that has quickly accelerated amid record

temperatures and lower snowpack melt, the lake is set to mark another, more dire

turning point. Next month, the federal government expects to declare its first-ever

shortage on the lake, triggering cuts to water delivered to Arizona, Nevada and

Mexico on Jan. 1. If the lake, currently at 1,068 feet, drops 28 more feet by next year,

the spigot of water to California will start to tighten in 2023.
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The crisis, said Eric Kuhn, former general manager of the Colorado River

Conservation District, can no longer be ignored. “According to Merriam-Webster, a

drought is a temporary condition,” he said. What is happening, he suggested, is

something more permanent and troubling. “This is aridification.”

As fires sweep over large swaths of the West and scorching temperatures fry others,

the scarcity of water is a less visible but perhaps the most pressing consequence of

climate change confronting the states that depend on Lake Mead.

ADVERTISEMENT

First to be hit are locals along the Nevada-Arizona border near Las Vegas, who rely on

the lake for tourism, fishing and recreation. Ramps are closed. Jammed boats are

towed from newly shallow waters. Fishermen scour to figure out where to catch

Bureau of Reclamation

From promise to peril
In 1983, Lake Mead's water level was at a record high, delivering water throughout the Southwest. As
the lake's water level has dropped, those deliveries are being reduced.
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striped bass. The iconic lake’s predicament is marked by a “bathtub ring” of calcium

deposits that highlight the rocky edge where water once flowed.

For Richins, who lives in Kingman, Ariz., and launched his company, Big Water

Boating, two years ago to offer daylong fishing tours, the drought has meant thinking

of changing his offerings entirely.

“The places where I was catching fish last spring and summer just don’t have fish

anymore,” said Richins, a former wildlife biology professor at Salish Kootenai College

in Montana, who used to regularly tow his 20-foot boat with his pickup truck for the

hourlong drive to Lake Mead. “As the water drops, the habitat for fish changes

because some of their homes are just no longer available.”

Eric Richins studies the water at the Temple Bar Marina entrance to Lake Mead to see if he can safely launch his
pontoon boat. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

On a recent morning, Richins pulled up at dawn to Temple Bar Marina — about 80

miles from Las Vegas and a popular point for boaters from Arizona to float onto the

water. A sign read, “Danger: Launch at your own risk. Low water levels.” He stood

“ . . . I knew the drought was bad. I didn’t realize it was this bad. This place is unrecognizable.”

ERIC RICHINS, 35-YEAR-OLD FISHERMAN WHO RUNS TOURS ON LAKE MEAD
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100 feet from the lake’s edge, looking below him at a ramp made of concrete planks

that transitioned into pipe mats leading into the basin. But the water was not where it

once was.

“I was fishing right here last spring,” Richins said, staring in disbelief at the moss,

mud and dead cattails that remained where he used to launch his boat. He waded into

the water, feeling the mud with his feet and measuring the drop-off from the ramp.

The mud was too soft. The water too shallow. The drop too big. The boat had no

chance.

It was as if nature were playing tricks on him. Richins drove an hour west to

Hemenway Harbor, a launch point in Nevada that has become the site of hours-long

traffic jams as one of the few ramps to remain open most days. When he arrived, a

U.S. Bureau of Land Reclamation

Measuring the drought
As Lake Mead's water level drops, users give up a percentage of their annual water allotment, based on
elevation of the lake above sea level. Level 1 reductions take effect in 2022.

Level 0 (1,090-1,075 feet)

Arizona

Nevada

California

Mexico

Level 1 (1,075-1,050 feet)

Arizona

Nevada

California

Mexico

Level 2 (1,050-1,045 feet)

Arizona

Nevada

California

Mexico

Level 2b (1,045–1,040 feet)

Arizona

Nevada

California

Mexico

7%

3%

0%

3%

18%

7%

0%

5%

21%

8%

0%

7%

23%

9%

5%

10%

LOS ANGELES TIMES



7/13/2021 Lake Mead, crucial water source in West, tips toward crisis - Los Angeles Times

https://www.latimes.com/world-nation/story/2021-07-11/lake-mead-hoover-dam-drought-nevada-arizona-california 7/17

maintenance worker told him that it shut down that morning. The lake had receded

again. The ramp needed repairs.

ADVERTISEMENT

He drove 40 minutes more up and around the lake back east to the ramp at Callville

Bay. He got the boat in the water four hours after his first attempt.

“It’s more gas. It’s more time. It’s more money to get up here,” said Richins. “People

ask a lot about tours on Lake Mead because it’s so famous. But I might have to go

elsewhere for now, like Lake Mohave,” a 67-mile-long reservoir formed downriver by

Davis Dam on the Nevada-Arizona border that’s closer to Kingman.

Elsewhere around Lake Mead, some business owners and recreational boaters have

already adjusted to the new normal.
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An aerial view of boaters waiting in line to use the lake’s only open boat launch ramp, at Hemenway Harbor. (Allen J.
Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

A boat cruises at sunset in front of a formerly sunken bench near Hemenway Harbor. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles
Times)

At Laker Plaza, a boat storage and supplies stop in Henderson, Nev., near the

entrance to Lake Mead National Recreation Area, the Las Vegas Water Rentals and

Bait and Tackle shop has taken to advertising to shoreline fishers and tourists who

don’t need big boats. The store, a one-stop-shop for tackle, lures, dry ice and snacks,

is bracing for fewer boating customers after low water levels forced the Nevada Bass

Anglers club to cancel its monthly July tournament.

“We’re hoping there’s a silver lining with people who don’t get out on motorized boats

and maybe kayak instead because you can launch a kayak anywhere,” said the store’s

co-owner, Tommy Middleton.

“We feel the economic impact everywhere. Fewer boaters pulling up to fill their gas.

People who have their boats stored at marinas might not want to pay fees if they can’t

use their boats. The chain effect goes on.”

Middleton said his problems were small compared with the bigger issues at hand.
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Kayakers make their way through a shallow stretch of Lake Mead by the now-closed Boulder Harbor boat ramp. (Allen J.
Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

ADVERTISEMENT

“It’s fun to go paddle-boarding and kayaking, sure,” said Middleton, 42. “But

anything that feeds off the Colorado River is down. That’s bad news because the

waterway is here to support us and sustain us.”

Lake Mead and the Colorado River are created from melted snow that flows into La

Poudre Pass in the Rocky Mountains. Seven Western states — California, Wyoming,

Colorado, New Mexico, Utah, Nevada and Arizona — as well as 29 tribes and Mexico

depend on the water from the river. Each has signed successive treaties stating how

much they receive from the river and dams, with the current agreements expiring in

2025.
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Concerns over Lake Mead’s water levels came as negotiators met in Denver last

month to take a preliminary step toward a four-year process to update operating

rules and allocations for the reservoirs along the river.

According to the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, which manages the river system,

drought in Lake Mead is far from an emergency. Yet, the water level is nowhere near

what it was a year ago. Having dropped 1.4 million acre-feet from April 2020 to April

2021 and 886,000 acre-feet since then, Lake Mead’s losses show no sign of slowing

down.

Patti Aaron, a spokeswoman for the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, tours the outflow area at the bottom of Hoover Dam,
where water is released back into the Colorado River. The lower water levels have reduced the amount of power that the
dam’s turbines can generate. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

“We are concerned, but it isn’t a crisis,” said bureau spokeswoman Patti Aaron.

“People have been planning for this moment for a long time and have the

mechanisms in place to protect the water levels at Lake Mead.”

But to many experts, it’s a make-or-break moment in the history of a river that has

been for decades over-allocated, with less water available than is needed. What’s at

stake for Lake Mead is a recreation area that draws more than 8 million visitors a

year and generates $336 million annually.

While computer modeling helps water managers anticipate future shortages that

could affect water supply and tourism, there is a gap in the understanding, said Kuhn,

https://www.hydroreview.com/business-finance/jerla-to-lead-reclamation-work-on-updated-colorado-river-operating-guidelines/


7/13/2021 Lake Mead, crucial water source in West, tips toward crisis - Los Angeles Times

https://www.latimes.com/world-nation/story/2021-07-11/lake-mead-hoover-dam-drought-nevada-arizona-california 11/17

the former head of the Colorado River Conservation District. Predicting increased

temperatures is easy — over the last century the West has heated up by nearly 2

degrees — but understanding how high temperature affects precipitation is less

certain.

Lightning strikes over Lake Mead as a storm rolls through. The lake is the largest reservoir in the U.S. (Allen J. Schaben
/ Los Angeles Times)

Because of declining water levels, desert bighorn sheep have more land to roam near Lake Mead. (Allen J. Schaben /
Los Angeles Times)

https://www.epa.gov/climate-indicators/southwest
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ADVERTISEMENT

The monsoon rains that typically hit the Southwest during the summer never

materialized last year. In Colorado, drier soil from higher-than-typical temperatures

and lower air moisture has led to less melted snow draining into rivers and streams.

As a result of the drought in Northern California, Los Angeles’ Metropolitan Water

District is drawing down its reserves with water taken from the Colorado River, which

will continue to flow uninterrupted through 2022.

But what comes next?

The Bureau of Reclamation estimates that normal snowfall in the Rockies and the

Upper Basin this winter will reverse the present drought. By the end of September

2022, the agency expects the river to bring 8.3 million acre-feet of water into Lake

Powell, the reservoir on the Utah-Arizona border that precedes Lake Mead.

The projection, based on soil moisture, temperatures and precipitation, is updated

monthly, but currently goes against the trends of the last two years. From October

2019 to September 2020, Lake Powell received 5.8 million acre-feet, and since has

received 3.2 million acre-feet.
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Visitors can see the growing “bathtub ring” around the lake while touring Hoover Dam, which sits on the border of
Nevada and Arizona. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

A sign warns visitors of the drought’s e�ect at Hemenway Harbor on Lake Mead. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

Experts suggest that the agency’s forecasts for next year are too generous: “The

Colorado River is over-allocated. We really can’t rely on snowpack in the Rockies to

refill our reservoirs and mitigate the over-allocation of the river,” said Kathryn

Sorensen, former director of water services in Phoenix and now with Arizona State

University.
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The Bureau of Reclamation’s optimistic forecast for Lake Powell means the agency

can replenish that reservoir. But it will continue to release water from Lake Mead and

predicts its elevation will fall to 1,050 feet by September 2022, five feet shy of the

level where Southern California must relinquish some of its allocation of water.

Further analysis by the agency gives the reservoir a 58% chance of dropping to 1,025

feet and a 21% chance of hitting 1,000 feet by 2025.

“To me it is a shocking number,” Sorensen said. “It is one of those events that is of

small probability but high consequence.”

For Richins, who grew up exploring the Idaho trails along the Snake River and was a

U.S. Forest Service river ranger in Montana before launching fishing tours on Lake

Mead, the idea is unfathomable.

ADVERTISEMENT

“Rivers are my life,” he said recently as he navigated the Las Vegas Bay, an eastern

portion of the lake where towers of the Vegas Strip are visible on a clear night. Mt.

Charleston, the highest peak in the region, jutted out to the sky beyond the city, with

the red, rocky bluffs of the Mojave Desert visible much closer. Heron, grebe and

pelicans swam in front of him.

Weeks earlier, he had been in this same spot, spotting boils of striped bass — feeding

frenzies made up of dozens of fish gathered near the surface.

That was a good day. The water was higher, the terrain more familiar, the catch

plenty. He hauled a dozen striped bass, some up to 5 pounds, back ashore. Boats were

usually plentiful in this part of the lake.

st speed

https://www.usbr.gov/newsroom/#/news-release/3912
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Weekend boaters wait to use the lone open ramp at Hemenway Harbor. (Allen J. Schaben / Los Angeles Times)

But today, his was the only one within sight. He blamed the winds that were kicking

up and the searing summer sun as morning turned to afternoon. But Richins sensed

something else was going on too. Maybe fewer boats were out because of the ramp

closures and long lines at the ones still open. For those who wanted to fish, he

wondered if they — like him — were perplexed at where to go as the water shifted.

“That empty lake feeling,” Richins called it, as if in mourning. It wouldn’t deter him

from what he loved. He’d go out on the lake again, seeking the thrill of the catch. He

hoped Lake Mead wouldn’t change again too much more. But he wasn’t confident.

His boat pressed on through the shallows and toward the muck and mud of the

expanding shore.

Kaleem reported from Lake Mead and Curwen from Los Angeles. 

https://www.latimes.com/world-nation
https://www.latimes.com/environment
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HOUSING

Survey of Colorado’s high-country
residents a “wake-up call” on the
devastating implications of the affordable
housing crisis
The consequences of workers and permanent residents being priced out
include mountain communities being forced to rethink their relationship
to the tourism economy.

Jason Blevins 4:10 AM MDT on Jun 23, 2021

Amanda O’Mara interacts with her dog in front of their home, under construction, in the surrounding burned forest
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on Thursday, May 13, 2021, in Grand Lake, CO. O’Mara and her husband Mike McShane, a �re�ghter for Westminster

Fire, lost their home in the East Troublesome Fire in October 2020. (Hugh Carey, The Colorado Sun)

A

TODAY’S UNDERWRITER
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first-of-its-kind survey of thousands of Colorado mountain town
residents has delivered the clearest look at the impact of the
pandemic on housing, rentals and lifestyles in the high country to

date. 

And the news is not good.  

. Businesses are struggling to hire
staff. The crowds are growing in the backcountry. Solutions, needed ASAP,

.

“May this report be a wake-up call for local leaders, a renewed call to action
for those already involved in tackling community challenges, and a reference
point for those seeking to understand the trends so they can have a positive
impact on the places they live,” the  reads.
“The consequences are real.”

More than 4,700 residents from the six counties — three-quarters of them
full-time residents — completed the survey by the Northwest Colorado
Council of Governments and the Colorado Association of Ski Towns. 

Every survey respondent —
longtime locals, newcomers and
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70-page Mountain Migration report
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part-time residents — ranked

 “as severe
problems” and the top two critical
issues facing mountain
communities, said Melanie Rees, a
consultant from Montrose who has
helped resort communities across
the West address housing issues for
30 years. The third most urgent
concern from those surveyed was crowds in the backcountry.

“That is good,” Rees said. “Such wide recognition of the problem will
hopefully lead to wide support of the solutions.”

About half of the homes in the six counties — Grand, Eagle, Pitkin, Routt, San
Miguel and Summit — are occupied by full-time residents. So when most of
the other half of the homes were occupied by newcomers and part-time
residents during the pandemic, county populations ballooned.

For example, a review of wastewater volume in Telluride in October showed
about 1,600 homes were occupied, in addition to residents living full-time in
their roughly 1,600 homes. That meant in October, typically a slow time, the
Telluride area swelled to about 8,200 people, about double the full-time
population.

affordable housing and the
availability of housing
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Homes sales in Telluride and Mountain Village surpassed $1 billion in 2020, an all-time high. Colorado’s resort

communities are seeing a surge of home buyers who are shattering real estate records. (Jesse Paul, The Colorado

Sun)

Owners of vacation homes and short-term rentals stayed in their resort-area
homes more often and for longer periods last year. They lingered in their
homes in the spring and fall shoulder seasons when tourist numbers typically
ebb, which contributed to the feeling last year that mountain communities
were more crowded. And then there were the newly minted “mid-term
renters.” These are folks who rented homes in mountain communities for
more than a month but less than a year. 

There have always been a few mid-term renters in resort communities near
ski areas, but last year, there were exponentially more. And they paid big,
spiking rents in the six counties by 20% to 40%.

The mid-term renters were “sort of flying under the radar,” Rees said, and not
contributing to communities like short-term renters who pay lodging fees and
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taxes that fund affordable housing and other programs. 

“They had a huge impact on both rental availability and on rent prices,” said
Rees, whose report suggests that communities “eliminate this loophole” by
taxing and licensing mid-term rental properties like short-term rentals.  

The influx of new residents has challenged permanent residents who rent in
the six counties. And those renters were already struggling during the
pandemic. Almost a quarter of the resident renters surveyed lost their job last
year; 31% said they had “severe difficulty” finding a place to live; 18% saw their
rents increase significantly; and 8% saw their rental homes sold or converted
into short-term rentals.

JIll Voyles and her husband Brendan McClarney pack up their and their three daughters’ belongings in their rental

home in Crested Butte South in preparation to move on May 24, 2021. (Dean Krakel, Special to The Colorado Sun)

Home prices are at  and are continuing to
climb. And there have never been so few homes for sale in the high country.

highs in the resort communities

https://coloradosun.com/2020/12/28/mountain-resort-real-estate-aspen-telluride-vail-steamboat/
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Last year, the average home price in Grand County was $650,000. This year
there are fewer than a dozen homes for sale for less than $1 million. 

The limited homes available for sale and rent to workers are highly
competitive. Summit County recently fielded 66 applicants for 22 deed-
restricted homes. Aspen recently received 77 applicants for one one-bedroom,
deed-restricted home. Six 900 square-foot apartments in Aspen that have
been historically rented long-term by locals each recently sold for more than
$1.6 million and only one has remained a rental.

The newcomers and second-home
owners have the means to set
records for rent and home prices.
Close to three-quarters of the
newcomers and 80% of part-time
residents surveyed said they have
incomes over $150,000 a year. By
comparison, 40% of full-time
residents reported incomes of more
than $150,000. 

“The wealth of the newcomers and the fact they are not our traditional second
homeowners; the fact that people are coming here during their working years
and relocating here and they are really wealthy people, that is different,” said
Jon Stavney, the head of the Northwest Colorado Council of Governments. 

“The majority of full-time residents making their living in the county do not
have the income to compete for housing in the current high-competition
environment,” reads the report.

About 60% of newcomers and 70% of part-time residents who responded to
the survey work for an employer outside of the county, compared with about a
quarter of full-time residents.

https://googleads.g.doubleclick.net/pcs/click?xai=AKAOjsuC-nLNFWjdqjhRq0X0mdMgMc9da_CTsRT5UrhC7FBl0pbIiGrd6HvkQfFA4XcmPrXCZBdD5ohqnH-V1_C3z4g-tjyb_SO4t6LzWP1eyNlS2y0VkC1jWwKs4Ns7qN5YY7JuBfXUr1zMhtOkKFB52irATaeL1TOUpIfY0otV7Ke-4GebChaN_wpH2AI557ecQqBgMc9cMMK9PwhDfMGQk_Fv6OMzvHa7np5tNSliAL-mzRx_tR-x9RN8DEL1kLDr9KsuREtZh2rbFgFIEEoYFH1GCDHohucBwqIYhH9hxbrcL48OhWPc-xC4ZfrDKfo&sig=Cg0ArKJSzOxfcEuf9A9V&fbs_aeid=[gw_fbsaeid]&adurl=https://coloradosun.com/how-to-get-the-outsider-by-jason-blevins/
https://adssettings.google.com/whythisad?reasons=AB3afGEAAAPvW1tbW10sW251bGwsImh0dHBzOi8vZ29vZ2xlYWRzLmcuZG91YmxlY2xpY2submV0L3BhZ2VhZC9pbnRlcmFjdGlvbi8__qr-wNaRdMinSgrgMiwrOuh3HT9dlfTQFZz4oT-jM2Xn6P1VGhUVsVaWFRhHvggE1T8fMgeHV6eVVi4JOsJiRYkCH2DUGdJ4GLwggYHJ1Gpm9m0T3NetWJHCE-h9GWbZpPQYwJVv6CKRToG4JGLPFcq5fVH2uKOuwoyisU0vzE77N7opBdgrnADltJ0XmTCdptPKng4YHVpzDj9h1dsnfNrCR61hWgJg7PAWsOsjfdWO7I6TYzA23pmxeShNDg2uH83Zz1-mvwndzK-5NPcx3hUPxDame0QBHHl8Xxq8v1dTY3XVSNSHuNdFf62DenQhLwBxEu7qEP8KZ,YSPKEfGhwuFRt_lLVKAMHg&source=display
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The report notes that the new residents supporting local businesses could
shift economic priorities for resort communities away from tourism
marketing and improving visitor experiences. Communities may redirect
money typically spent on tourism promotion into capital projects that
improve the quality of life for residents. 

But the flip side of that migration, evidenced now in Colorado’s mountain
communities, is that the new workers are not filling local jobs and out
competing locals for housing. That is stressing businesses and lowering the
quality of service offered to both residents and locals. 

A labor shortage in high country communities is spilling from the housing
crisis. The report notes that contractors are booked three years out in Telluride
and Grand County, where last year’s East Troublesome fire destroyed more
than 300 homes. 

“It is an ironic cycle – many contractors cannot hire laborers because there is
no housing,” the report reads. “This has been a struggle for resort
communities for years; and is primed to get worse, at least in the near term.
Businesses, existing residents and communities may face a tough transition in
the years ahead.”

The reassessment of traditional tourism marketing is happening across the
country, said Cathy Ritter, the former head of the Colorado Tourism Office and
longtime champion of sustainable tourism.  

Ritter pointed to Crested Butte, where tourism promoters recently pulled the
plug on summer advertising. And Hawaii, where lawmakers are considering a
plan to zero-out the state’s tourism marketing budget. And Sedona, Arizona,
where tourism promotion has gone dark. Lake Tahoe is studying how to adjust
its traditional tourism campaigns after a deluge of newcomers moved to the
region. 
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Yampa Valley Housing Authority Executive Director Jason Peasley watches as the first slab is poured at his

organization’s latest affordable housing project along U.S. Highway 40 in Steamboat Springs on May 7, 2021. The

Sunlight Crossing development, built by Gorman & Co, will have 90 rental units priced for residents earning between

80 and 120 percent of the area median income. (Matt Stensland, Special to The Colorado Sun)

Tourism promotion already has begun turning into tourism management,
Ritter said, with one-time ad dollars now funding things like signs at
trailheads, portable toilets and campaigns urging visitors to respect local
landscapes. Now tourism ad dollars are being eyed to help ease housing issues
and labor shortages.

“This has been a growing challenge for a long time for many of the most
desirable destinations,” said Ritter, who soon will open a sustainable tourism
consulting company called Better Destinations. “It seemed like COVID would
give these overheated destinations a chance to reset. But the pandemic just
accelerated all these issues.”
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Ritter warns against a full rejection of tourism. Sustainable tourism, she said,
is about finding the right balance between types of visitors, visitor numbers,
natural resource capacities, local business capabilities and protecting the
lifestyles that lured locals to the area. 

“In so many ways, the pandemic has created all kinds of new forces that have
thrown all these carefully constructed tourism economies out of whack and
it’s going to take a lot of work to find that new balance point,” she said. “The
risk for these communities dependent on tourism is when they step away from
an industry that is a proven economy with no plan for replacing it.”

Looking ahead for the next three to five years, part-time residents plan to stay
in their homes for an additional 1.2 months in that span. Some are planning to
become full-time residents, but that number is offset by the number of locals
planning to leave in the next three to five years, the report found.

How the nation’s businesses
respond to the work-from-
anywhere trend that exploded
during the pandemic will resonate
in mountain communities. If
workers have to return to the office
and kids go back to their home
schools, mountain towns might see
more newcomers returning to jobs
in urban areas. 

“That is a huge variable,” Rees said. “A lot of people surveyed did not know if
they were going to be able to continue working remotely. We will know how
this all shakes out when kids go back to the classroom.”

The report focuses on several ways to ease the housing crisis and labor
shortage bedeviling mountain communities, all of them involving residents,
business owners and local leaders working together. 
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First, communities should band together to lobby for policy shifts that would
enable more access to state and federal housing funds. The report also urges
communities to tax short-term rentals as commercial properties — not as
residential properties, as they are now — and adopt new real estate transfer
taxes for housing programs.

Visitors to Crested Butte, Colorado walk along crowded sidewalks on Elk Avenue, the town’s mainstreet on June 19,

2021. With the lessening of COVID-19 restrictions and the arrival of summer vacation time, visitors are flocking to this

small mountain town in record numbers. . (Dean Krakel, Special to The Colorado Sun)

One suggested solution is a vacancy tax “for homes that are underutilized,”
and another calls for charging second-home owners a higher property tax
rate. The report suggests a secondary real estate market of deed-restricted
homes available only to local employees. One idea is for communities to buy
deed-restrictions on existing homes, much like

 with a goal to convert 1,000 homes into locals’ housing. 

“I do think there is going to be renewed conversations about how we preserve
our quality of life,” the Northwest Colorado Council of Governments’ Stavney
said. “We can’t do the shut-the-door-behind-us NIMBY thing when really, to

 a program Vail launched
several years ago

https://www.vailindeed.com/
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Jason Blevins

The Colorado Sun — jason@coloradosun.com

preserve our quality of life and sustainable businesses, we are going to have to
build our way through this.”

The Colorado Sun has no paywall, meaning readers do not have to pay to

access stories. We believe vital information needs to be seen by the people

impacted, whether it’s a public health crisis, investigative reporting or keeping

lawmakers accountable. 

This reporting depends on support from readers like you. For just $5/month,

you can invest in an informed community.

JOIN THE SUN TODAY!

Read More: affordable housing Colorado Association of Ski Towns Eagle County Grand County
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Authority Attachment 2 

Water Agenda Item 

Attachment Name: Motion for Summary Judgment and the State's Response to the Motion for 
Summary Judgment 

Attachment Date (if applicable): June 14, 2021 and July 13, 2021 

Purpose of Agenda Item: 

~Background for board meeting discussion (information only) 

~ Enter into public record 

□ Request board input/direction 

Topic: Seniors First Policy 

Summary of Topic: Attached once again is a copy of the Authority's Motion for Summary 
Judgment and Entry of Decree in Case No. 19CW3079 that responds to the Referee's Order 
that would force the Authority to comply with the State and Division Engineers' so-called Seniors 
First Policy. The effect of this "policy" would require the Authority to squander and use up its 
Senior Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights when there are no calls on the Eagle River. Also 
attached is the State's response brief. We will have a chance to file a reply to the State's brief. 



DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 5, 
STATE OF COLORADO 

109 Eighth Street, Suite 104 
Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 

DATE FILED: June 14, 2021 11 :43 AM 
- - ·- . -- -

CASE J\ UMBER: 2019CW3079 

CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR WATER RIGHTS 
OF THE UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY 

IN EAGLE COUNTY, COLORADO 
Glenn E. Porzak (#2793) 
Cassidy L. Woodard (#48824) 
Porzak Browning & Bushong LLP 
2120 13th Street 
Boulder, CO 80302 
Telephone: (303) 443-6800 
Fax: (303) 443-6864 
Email: gporzak@pbblaw.com; kmoseley@pbblaw.com; 
cwoodard@pbblaw.com 

~ COURT USE ONLY~ 
Case No. 19CW3079 

(02CW403) 

Div. 5 

UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT AND ENTRY OF DECREE 

By this motion, the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority ("Authority") seeks entry of 
the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of the Water Court attached hereto as 
Exhibit A, and as grounds therefor states as follows: 

I. UNCONTESTED FACTS 

1. On July 30, 2019, the Authority filed an Application for Findings of Reasonable 
Diligence and to Make Water Rights Absolute ("Application") in this matter in the District Court 
in and for Water Division No. 5, State of Colorado ("Water Court"). 

2. It is undisputed that the Authority diverted 0.336 cubic feet per second (''cfs") from 
the Eagle River at the point of diversion of the Edwards Drinking Water Facility Diversion 
("EDWF") on July 6, 2017. The Authority seeks to make this portion of the EDWF absolute for 
all decreed beneficial uses and a finding that the Authority has demonstrated diligence for the 
balance of the EDWF and the other conditional water rights in the Application. 

3. The EDWF was decreed in Case No. 02CW403 for 0.4 cfs for domestic, irrigation, 
recreation, commercial and all municipal beneficial uses within the Authority's service area with 
an appropriation date of May 31 , 2000. 

Page I of 11 
118648 



4. It is undisputed that the Authority put the water diverted at the EDWF to its decreed 
beneficial uses in the Authority's service area. 

5. It is undisputed that the Authority diverted said 0.336 cfs during "free river" 
conditions, i.e. when there were no calls on the Eagle or Colorado Rivers. 

6. At the time of its diversion, the EDWF was in priority. 

7. Notice was duly given of the Application and the State and Division Engineers for 
Water Division No. 5 ("Engineers") chose not to oppose the Application. 

8. No other parties filed a statement of opposition to the Application. 

9. The Division Engineer issued his Report of the Division Engineer- Summary of 
Consultation in the case on October 24, 2019 ("Summary of Consultation"). In the Summary of 
Consultation, the Division Engineer's primary concern involved whether the Authority could 
show that its diversion and claimed application to beneficial use of the EDWF conditional water 
right satisfied the Engineers' unpublished "seniors/absolutes first" administrative policy 
("Seniors First Policy"). The Seniors First Policy requires that a water user allocate a water 
diversion, in order of priority, to its senor absolute water rights approved for the same uses and 
places of use for which the water diversion has been made before allocating the diversion to any 
conditional water rights for those same uses and places of use. 

I 0. The Water Referee entered an Order regarding Allocation of Water to the EDWF 
Water Right on April 12, 2021 ("Order"). 

11. The Authority filed a Motion to Strike Order regarding Allocation of Water to the 
EDWF on April 26, 202 I ("Motion to Strike"), and the Water Referee re-referred this case to the 
Water Judge on April 27, 2021. 

12. The Re-Referral occurred before any decision was rendered on the Motion to Strike. 

13. Pursuant to C.R.S. § 37-92-(304)(b), the proceedings before the Water Judge shall 
be a trial de novo. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

Summary judgment is appropriate when the "pleadings, depositions, answers to 
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no 
genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter 
of law." C.R.C.P. 56(c). A material fact is one whose resolution will affect the outcome of the 
case. Peterson v. Halstead, 829 P.2d 373, 375 (Colo. 1992). "The purpose of summary judgment 
is to permit the parties to pierce the formal allegations of the pleadings and save the time and 
expense connected with trial when, as a matter of law, based on undisputed facts, one party could 
not prevail." Id. An uncontradicted showing of facts probative of right to judgment leaves a trial 
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court with no alternative but to conclude that no genuine issues of material fact exist. Civil Serv. 
Comm 'n v. Pinder, 812 P .2d 645, 649 (Colo. 1991 ); Terrel v. Walter E. Heller & Co., 439 P .2d 
989,991 (Colo. 1968). 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. The Prior Appropriation Doctrine Permits the Diversion of any Water Right that is 
in Priority. 

The Colorado Constitution provides that "[t]he right to divert the unappropriated waters 
of any natural stream to beneficial uses shall never be denied." COLO. CONST. art. XVI, § 6. 
During "free river" conditions, the Engineers have no authority to deprive any water user the 
right to divert water, regardless of whether it is a diversion of an absolute water right, a diversion 
of a conditional water right, or an undecreed diversion. Put simply by the Supreme Court: 

In contrast to short supply conditions, "free river" conditions occur when there is 
sufficient natural supply to satisfy all water uses, whether decreed or undecreed, 
and State Engineer administration is unnecessary for the protection of decreed 
water rights. 

Empire Lodge Homeowners' Ass'n v. Moyer, 39 P.3d 1139, 1149 n. 14 (Colo. 2003) (emphasis 
added). 

The Engineers have no authority to curtail diversions or otherwise administer the 
Authority's water rights that are made in priority pursuant to a decree. Empire Lodge, 39 P.3d at 
1149; see also, Simpson v. Bijou Irrig. Co., 69 P.3d 50, 67 (Colo. 2003) (the Engineers' 
curtailment authority is statutory, and is limited to curtailing out of priority diversions that cause 
material injury); see also, COLO. REV. STAT.§ 37-92-501.5 (2007) ("the state and division 
engineers ... shall take such other reasonable action ... to assure maximum beneficial 
utilization of the water of this state ... [and] shall curtail all out of priority diversions, .... ") 
(emphasis added); COLO. REV. STAT.§ 37-92-502(2)(a) (2007) (the division engineer shall order 
the discontinuance of any diversion if the water diverted is "required by persons entitled to use 
water under water rights having senior priorities .... "). While the Engineers may curtail certain 
out of priority diversions, there is no authority allowing them to curtail the EDWF when it is in 
priority. 

Since administration is entirely unnecessary during free river conditions, there is no basis 
by which the Division Engineer could have prevented the Authority from diverting the EDWF. 
It necessarily follows that the Division Engineer could not have placed conditions on the 
Authority's diversion that are not included in the relevant decrees. Demanding that the 
Authority obtain consent from the Division Engineers before diverting the EDWF, when as a 
matter of law the diversion could not injure other water users, is beyond the power of the 
Engineers and is in violation of the Colorado Constitution. 
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B. The Engineers' so-called Seniors First Policy is not a policy and is unconstitutional. 

The Engineers do not oppose a finding of reasonable diligence. Rather, the Engineers 
seek to oppose the Authority's claim to make 0.336 cfs of the EDWF absolute. Id. The 
Engineers' motion to intervene and proposed statement of opposition make it clear that the 
opposition to the Authority's absolute claim is based on its so-called Seniors First Policy. 
According to this so-called "policy," the Engineers claim that the Authority could not have 
lawfully diverted the EDWF when it could have alternatively diverted the senior Brett and 
Creamery Ditch water rights at the same structure. 

There is no question that the Engineers can adopt policies, so long as they do so pursuant 
to the proper process and so long as the policy is consistent with Colorado's constitution, 
statutes, and case law. However, the so-called "policy" at issue is unpublished, and it was not 
developed as part of any publicly noticed rule-making procedure. Moreover, enforcement of this 
so-called Seniors First Policy would deprive the Authority of the constitutional right to divert 
water under an appropriated and adjudicated priority, and it is contrary to the related legal 
principles relating to making conditional water rights absolute. 

This unpublished "policy" is particularly egregious in the instant case as the Brett and 
Creamery Ditch water rights are decreed for augmentation uses. As the EDWF does not have 
such a decreed use, the two water rights at issue are materially different as detailed in paragraph 
111.F. below. 

C. The Engineers have no constitutional or statutory duty to attribute diversions to a 
senior water right where both that water right and the EDWF are owned by the 
Authority. 

The Colorado Constitution makes clear that priority administration is between two 
competing users, NOT with respect to administering a single water right owner's portfolio of 
water rights: "[p]riority of appropriation shall give the better right as between those using the 
water for the same purpose ... " Colo. Const. art. XVI, § 6. This provision clearly relates to 
competing users of the same source of water. 

The legislative directive is similar. The Engineers are to order the discontinuance of any 
diversion "to the extent that the water being diverted is required by persons entitled to use water 
under water rights having senior priorities, but no such discontinuance shall be ordered unless 
the diversion is causing or will cause material injury to such water rights having senior 
priorities." C.R.S. § 37-92-502(2)(a). The priority system and its administration, both 
constitutionally and legislatively, is to protect the senior rights of others, not one's own portfolio 
of water rights. And during free river conditions, such administration is unnecessary. Empire 
Lodge, 39 P.3d at 1149. 

This case, however, has nothing to do with protecting senior rights. The Authority is not 
seeking to divert the EDWF out of priority or ahead of any senior water right. In other words, 
the Engineers' duty to administer water rights in priority relates to competing water rights at 
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times of scarcity, i.e., when there is a call. Further, it is between water rights that are seeking to 
divert against each other. In this case, the Authority is diverting and making absolute a more 
junior right to preserve the right to use a senior augmentation source when it is needed in the 
future. 

D. The Engineers have not always applied the so-called Seniors First Policy. 

As detailed in the legal briefs attached to the Authority's opposition to the Engineer' 
motion to intervene, the testimony of Orlyn Bell, former Division Engineer for Water Division 
No. 5, and Richard Stenzel, former Division Engineer for Water Division No. 1, demonstrates 
that the Division Engineers have not historically applied the unpublished Seniors First Policy, 
and that there are valid reasons for attributing diversions at one structure to both junior and 
senior priorities. At trial in Water Court Case No. 03CW78, held on February 6 and 7, 2006, Mr. 
Williamsen, the Authority's long-time water resources engineer, testified that he accounts for 
diversions at one structure under a distribution of senior and junior water rights. Trial Trans. 
Case No. 03CW78, p. 245-249. Explaining how the Authority accounts for use of its 
consumptive use credits, Mr. Williamsen said: 

Well, I looked at the Leonard Rice report, identified consumptive use by each one 
of the ditches, not by water right, but by ditch that was assigned to that decree in 
84CW225, and to give the relative amounts of consumptive use between those 
ditches, and so I attribute that --- distributed, then, based on the distribution within 
those ditches, and then I further distributed a little further to account for the more 
junior priorities under each one of the ditches. I did this at the recommendation of 
Orlyn Bell back in - a long time, '92, '93 that we need to show continued use of 
these consumptive use credits for these ditches; otherwise, if you don't show the 
use on them, somebody is going to go after and try to abandon them. 

Following the above quoted testimony of Mr. Williamsen, Mr. Bell was asked about his 
involvement in establishing accounting procedures for the Authority in the early 1990's. Mr. 
Bell said he assisted in the development of depletion factors and "I was also particularly 
interested in abandonment at that time and a lot of accounting for alternate points of diversion, 
zero numbers, and all the ramifications of that." Mr. Bell's testimony confirmed Mr. 
Williamsen's testimony; namely, that he told the Authority to account for use of junior priorities 
at alternate points of diversion because those priorities would potentially otherwise be subject to 
abandonment. 

At trial in Case No. 97CW373, held on March 6, 2000, in the Division No. I Water 
Court, Mr. Stenzel similarly testified that, except for reservoir fills, the Division Engineer does 
not require water users to account for diversions in order of seniority. The testimony was as 
follows: 
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Question: Do you have, or does the Division Engineer's Office have an 
administration practice or policy concerning the order in which water users must 
divert their water rights? 
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Answer (By Mr. Stenzel): Only as - probably only as it goes against whether if 
there's a court decree that says, the order in the case of a reservoir, the one criteria 
to go for, the first senior fill. That one there we believe has to be met, that you use 
your senior water right on the first, that's why the penalties. If you go any other 
path, but in direct, as direct flow rights go, we don't have an order. 

When asked if he had instructed the City of Golden to divert its water rights in any 
particular order, Mr. Stenzel testified that he told the City of Golden, "It's up to you [City of 
Golden], if you want us [Division Engineer] to, we'll go through this sequence, but if I were you 
I would take the order, you make your choices." (emphasis added). He said, "You [City of 
Golden] have the latitude. You pick your water rights as long as theirs [sic] is in priority." In 
fact, it is in part due to this testimony that the Engineers stipulated with the City of Golden in 
Case No. 03CW235 that Golden was not required to first divert its more senior water rights 
before diverting its junior water rights. This testimony was detailed in the Authority's opening 
brief in Colorado Supreme court Case No. I 5SA26 which is attached to the opposition to the 
Engineers' motion to intervene. 

Therefore, it is up to the water user to decide which water right it is exercising at any 
particular time, so long as that water right is in priority. The water laws of this state simply do 
not require a water user to divert the most senior water right decreed to a diversion point. As the 
former Division Engineers recognized, it is beyond the authority of their office to insist on such a 
practice. In Mr. Stenzel's words "you pick the cards you'll play with, which water rights you 
want to use .... " 

E. The Authority has sufficient reasons and justification for making the EDWF absolute 
before diverting the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights. 

The Authority is the owner and operator of a large, complex municipal water system. It 
is best positioned to determine which of its water rights it wishes to divert and use, and to make 
absolute, subject to such rights being in priority. In this case, the Authority determined that the 
EDWF was preferable to the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights because it wanted to utilize 
those water rights for their decreed augmentation use when there would be a call on the Eagle 
and Colorado Rivers. 

F. The subject water rights are materially different. 

The EDWF was decreed in Case No. 02CW403. It was decreed in the amount of0.4 cfs 
for domestic, irrigation, recreation, commercial, and all municipal beneficial uses. It has an 
appropriation date of May 31, 2000, and it is decreed for use within the Authority's service area, 
as that area may expand from time to time, with such expansion limited to an area within three 
miles of the boundary of the Authority's service area as shown on Figure I to the decree in Case 
No. 02CW403. 
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On the other hand, the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights were quantified and decreed 
in Case No. 09CW 160 for all municipal uses, including without limitation domestic, irrigation, 
livestock watering, mechanical, manufacturing, recreation, fire protection, piscatorial, aesthetic, 
sewage treatment, street sprinkling and the watering of parks, lawns and grounds, directly or by 
augmentation or exchange. Unlike the EDWF, the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights were 
specifically decreed as a source augmentation supply for new developments within the 
Authority's service area and as a supplemental source of water for direct use throughout the 
Authority's service area (see paragraph 111.G.4. below). In other words, the direct flow use of the 
Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights were limited to a supplemental use. As a result, the Brett 
and Creamery Ditch water rights are materially different than the junior EDWF as they may be 
used as augmentation credits to offset depletions throughout the service area, and the direct flow 
use is a supplemental use. Such a supplemental use is when the EDWF is out of priority. 

G. The Referee's Order violates Maximum Utilization and Decrees of this Court. 

The Order is contrary to law, the doctrine of maximum utilization, and decrees for this 
Court for the following reasons: 

1. The Order relies on Upper Yampa Water Conservancy Dist. v. Wolfe, 255 P.3d 
1108 (Colo. 2011) ("Upper Yampa"), to find that because the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch 
water rights were available for the same uses at the same place of use, in-priority diversions 
attributed to the EDWF water right could not be made absolute. Order at 9. However, the Upper 
Yampa decision is factually very different and is clearly distinguishable from the case at hand. 
Moreover, the application of its holding to the case at hand violates the doctrine of maximization 
of beneficial use under Colorado water law. It is also contrary to the decrees of the Water Court 
entered in Case Nos. 09CW 160 and 15CW3032. 

2. In the first instance, the principal holding of Upper Yampa, which addressed the 
making of a conditional storage right absolute, has been rendered moot by the enactment of 
C.R.S. § 37-92-301 (4)(e). Upper Yampa went on to hold that "[t]he applicant must also show 
with quantifiable evidence that it in fact appropriated water in excess of its existing absolute 
decrees allowing for storage; in other words, it must show that it has exhausted its absolute rights 
before its conditional rights can be perfected." Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1111. The water right 
at issue in the Upper Yampa case had already been made absolute for a flow rate of 151 cfs, but 
the total rate of flow for the diversions claimed to be made absolute did not exceed 151 cfs. Id. 
This holding is clearly distinguishable as the applicants in Upper Yampa sought to make an 
additional amount of the conditional storage rights absolute based on direct flow rates into a 
storage structure that did not exceed the absolute direct flow rate. Id. at 1110. 

3. By contrast, the Authority here seeks to make the EDWF direct flow water right 
absolute based on in-priority diversions that were placed to beneficial use within its water 
system. The Order, however, refuses to make such diversions absolute and mandates that the 
Authority could have, and should have, used senior direct flow water rights that are also decreed 
for augmentation purposes. The effect of the Order is to force the Authority to utilize an 
important pre-Compact source of augmentation water when its junior water rights were in 
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pnonty. As a result, the Order blatantly ignores the operational flexibility built into many of the 
Authority's water right decrees and the practicalities of operating a complex water distribution 
system. The Order also effectively eliminates a significant portion of the augmentation use 
decreed to the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights. 

4. By decree of the Water Court in Case No. 09CW 160, the Authority quantified the 
historic consumptive use and changed portions of the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights to 
be used (a) as a source of augmentation supply for new developments that are not included in 
any existing plans for augmentation of the Authority or its members, and (b) as a supplemental 
supply of water for direct use throughout its service area (see paragraph 4 of the decree in Case 
No. 09CW 160). However, because that decree allows for the direct use of the Brett and 
Creamery Ditch water rights at the same place of use as the junior EDWF water right, the Order 
seeks to require the direct use of the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights as a primary supply 
of water when there is no call on the Eagle River. This restricts the critical augmentation use of 
these pre-Compact water rights and improperly changes the terms of the decree in Case No. 
09CWl60. 

5. Specifically, the Order requires the direct use of Brett and Creamery Ditch water 
rights that have been quantified and decreed for augmentation use, which are in large measure 
senior to the Colorado River Compact. Consequently, the Order would effectively force the use 
of the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights as a primary source of supply when there is no call 
on the Eagle River. As set forth in the affidavit f Daniel Gillham and Tom Williamsen with the 
engineering firm of Helton and Williamsen, P.C., which is attached as Exhibit B, the Order 
would require the use of the entire monthly amount of the quantified historic consumptive use of 
the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights in the first fifteen days of each month. That, in tum, 
would eliminate the ability to use these water rights for their primary decreed augmentation use 
later in a given month. In effect, the Order would render much of the augmentation use a nullity 
and would remove all operational flexibility previously granted to the Authority to use the Brett 
and Creamery Ditch watc:;r rights as either an augmentation source or as a supplemental supply. 
Thus, the Order is contrary to the decree in Case No. 09CW 160 as it requires the use of the Brett 
and Creamery Ditch water rights as the primary supply. 

6. Furthermore, the Order constitutes a blatant disregard for the operational flexibility 
written into the decree in Case No. 09CW 160. Historically, the Authority reserves the historic 
consumptive use credits quantified from the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights to offset out
of-priority depletions within the Authority's water system throughout the irrigation season 
months when there are senior downstream calls. The Authority is consistent with this approach 
from year-to-year and does not seek to manipulate the administration of such water rights. Rather 
than allow the Authority's usual approach to continue, the Order would leave the Authority with 
no choice but to attribute its in-priority direct flow diversions against the Brett and Creamery 
Ditch water rights, causing the Authority to quickly reach its monthly volumetric limitations for 
those water rights. This leaves virtually no consumptive use remaining for augmentation later in 
a given month. As a result, by forcing the Authority to use the Brett and Creamery Ditch water 
rights rather than the EDWF, the Order is directly contrary to what was approved and violates 
the decrees in Case No. 09CW 160 and Case No. l 5CW3032 (see paragraph G. l 0. below). 
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7. The Order is also in error as it utilizes the Written Instruction and Order 2007-2, 
Instruction and Order Concerning the Administration of Storage Rights by Seniors First, dated 
May 31, 2007 (the "2007 Written Instruction"). However, as the Order notes, the 2007 Written 
Instruction is not codified by statute or stated in a rule. Moreover, the 2007 Written Instruction 
directs the Division Engineers to administer different water rights decreed to the same reservoir 
by priority so that the senior water right is stored and used first. It does not expressly apply this 
rule to direct flow water rights decreed for multiple types of uses, like augmentation purposes 
and direct use, and it certainly does not go so far as to dictate that a water user must attribute 
diversions in the manner required by the Order in instances where a water right can be used for 
either augmentation or a direct supplemental use. Moreover, there is no precedent for the Order's 
reliance on the 2007 Written Instruction to apply the so-called Seniors First Policy to the facts in 
the case at hand, as indeed there is no statutory or case law basis for the Seniors First Policy. See 
Upper Eagle Regional Water Auth. v. Wolfe, 371 P.3d 681 (Colo. 2016) holding that a water user 
may choose to divert a junior conditional water right over a senior conditional water right. It 
should also be noted that the Upper Eagle case was decided five years after the Upper Yampa 
case. 

8. By eliminating the augmentation use and requiring the use of a scarce, pre-Compact 
senior water right when there is no call, the Order further violates the doctrine of maximum 
utilization. Under Article XVI, § 6 of the Colorado Constitution, "[t]he right to divert the 
unappropriated waters of any natural stream to beneficial uses shall never be denied." The 
Colorado Supreme Court has held that "[i]t is implicit in these constitutional provisions that, 
along with vested rights, there shall be a maximum utilization of the water of this state." 
Fellhauer v. People, 447 P.2d 986, 994 (Colo. 1968). Maximum utilization is "a doctrine 
intended to make water available for as many decreed uses as there is available supply." Pagosa 
Area Water & Sanitation Dist. v. Trout Unlimited, 170 P.3d 307, 313 (Colo. 2007). "Within the 
priority system, maximum utilization spreads the benefit of the public's water resources to as 
many uses as possible, within the limits of the physically available water supply, the constraints 
of interstate water compacts, and the requirements of United States Supreme Court equitable 
apportionment decrees." Id. at 313- 14. 

The Engineers can provide no evidence to the Court and no explanation why the 
unpublished so-called Seniors First Policy promotes maximum utilization of water in the context 
of this case. In this case, the Authority is making an informed decision regarding its own 
portfolio of water rights, determining how it can best satisfy the demand of the water users that it 
is obligated to serve (the Engineers have no similar obligation to serve water customers). 
Because it is considering all of the applicable conditions surrounding its water rights, including 
their respective utility in the future when the materially different terms might apply, it is the 
Authority that is maximizing the utilization of its water rights portfolio. 

Furthermore, the Authority's decision to first use and make absolute the EDWF in no 
manner diminishes maximum utilization. Given that free river conditions existed, there could be 
no waste, injury to other water rights or preservation of water for those with an actual need. The 
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Authority's position to use the EDWF does the best job of satisfying the goals of maximum 
utilization, preventing waste, and preserving water for an actual need. 

9. J\s described above, the Order requires that the Authority burn through its historic 
consumptive use augmentation credits by forcing ce1iain diversions to be attributed to the direct 
use portion of the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights. Utilization of the Authority's 
augmentation in such a manner hardly maximizes the beneficial use of its water rights. In fact, 
the Order directly contradicts the doctrine of maximum utilization by limiting how the Brett and 
Creamery Ditch water rights arc used, even though such water rights are decreed in a way that 
maximizes operational flexibility needed by the Authority to provide a reliable supply of water to 
its customers. further, the Order places a limitation on how the physical supply of water is 
managed by forcing diversions to occur in a manner that burns through the Brett and Creamery 
Ditch water rights when in-priority diversions at the EDWF are otherwise available. In no 
manner is this a matter of '·hoarding" water rights; rather, it is an effort to responsibly manage 
the use of a scarce water resource. 

10. The Order effectively renders portions of the Authority's augmentation credits 
meaningless and undennines the augmentation plan decreed in Water Court Case No. 
15CW3032, where the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights are a principal source of 
augmentation water. In Case No. l 5CW3032, the historic consumptive use credits from the Brett 
and Creamery Ditch water rights were decreed as sources of augmentation water to replace out
of-priority depletions caused by the Lake Creek Wells Nos. 1-6. Because the Order essentially 
eliminates use of historic consumptive use augmentation credits derived from the Brett and 
Creamery Ditch water rights, the Order is contrary to the plan for augmentation in Case 
No.15CW3032 and renders the augmentation use of the Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights 
unavailable for use to augment other water rights in the Authority's system. 

WHEREFORE, the Order is not grounded in any precedent under Colorado case law, 
statute, or policy. Furthermore, because the Order violates Colorado's constitutional based 
doctrine of prior appropriation and Colorado's doctrine of maximum utilization of beneficial use, 
and is contrary to the decrees in Case Nos. 09CW160 and 15CW3032, the Authority respectfully 
requests that 0.336 cfs of the EDWF water right be made absolute for all decreed uses. At a 
minimum, 0.221 cfs of the EDWP water right should be made absolute based on in priority 
diversions on March 27, 2017 (see paragraph 7 of Exhibit B), as the Brett and Creamery Dich 
water rights did not historically diveri in March. 
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Respectfully submitted this 14th day of June, 2021. 

PORZAK BROWNING & BUSHONG LLP 

Glenn E. Porzak (#2793) 
Cassidy L. Woodard (#48824) 
Attorneys.for the Upper Eagle Regfonal Water Authority 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this / 4+/iay of June, 2021, a tme and correct copy of the 
foregoing UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY'S MOTON FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND ENTRY OF DECREE was filed and served via the Colorado 
Courts E-Filing system, addressed to the following: 

W,-alT~ ame Party Type Attorney Name 

Division 5 Engineer Division Engineer Division 5 Water Engineer (Slate of 
CoJorado DWR Division 5) 

State Engineer State Engineer Colorado Division of Water Resources 
(State of Colorado - Division of Water 
Resources) 
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DISTRJCT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 5, DAT :. FILED: June 14, 2021 11:43 AM 

STATE OF COLORADO FILH JG ID: 8511 BF0 I FF6A4 
CAS NUMBER: 2019CW3079 

Garfield County Courthouse 
I 09 8th Street, · 
Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 
CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR WATER 
RIGHTS OF UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER 
AUTHORITY 

In the Eagle River and its tributaries, 

A COURT USE ONLY A 
IN EAGLE COUNTY, COLORADO 

Case Number: 19CW3079 

(02CW403) 

Water Division No. 5 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND 

DECREE OF THE WATER COURT 

The above captioned Application was filed on July 30, 2019, and was referred to the 
undersigned as Water Referee for Water Division No. 5, State of Colorado, by the Water Judge 
of said Court in accordance with Article 92 of Chapter 3 7, Colorado Revised Statutes, known as 
the Water Right Determination and Administration Act of 1969, and re-referred to the Water 
Judge by order dated April 27, 2021. 

The Court having made such investigations as are necessary to determine whether or not 
the statements in the Application are true, and having become fully advised with respect to the 
subject matter of the Application, does hereby make the following determinations and in this 
matter. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

I. Application. The statements in the Application are true, except as may be otherwise 
stated herein. 

2. Name and Address of the Applicant. Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority 
("Authority"), c/o Manager, 846 Forest Road, Vail, Colorado 81657. 

3. Jurisdiction. All notices required by law have been duly given, and the Water Court has 
jurisdiction over the Application and all parties affected thereby, whether or not they have 
chosen to appear. 
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4. Objectors and summary of consultation. No statement of opposition to the Application 
was timely filed, the State and Division Engineers for Water Division No. 5 have sought to 
intervene in this case, and the time for filing statements of opposition has now expired. The 
Court has considered the Division Engineer's summary of consultation dated October 23, 2019, 
and the Authority's response thereto. 

5. 
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Description of conditional water rights: 

A. Edwards Drinking Water Facility Diversion: 

1. Original Decree: Decreed by the District Court in and for Water Division 
No. 5 ("Water Court") in Case No. 02CW403 on July I 5, 2013 
("02CW403 Decree"). 

11. Location: The point of diversion is located at a point in the NWl/4 of the 
SWl/4 of Section 4, T. 5 S., R. 82 W. of the 6th P.M., Eagle County, on 
the northerly bank of the Eagle River at a point I ,393 feet north of the 
south section line and 654 feet east of the west section line in said Section 
4. 

iii. Source: Eagle River. 

1v. Amount: 0.40 cfs, conditional. 

v. Appropriation Date: May 3 I, 2000. 

vi. Uses: domestic, irrigation, recreation, commercial, and all municipal 
beneficial uses within the Authority's service area, as that area may 
expand from time to time, such expansion to be limited to an area within 
three miles of the boundaries of the Authority's service area as it exists at 
the time of the 02CW403 Decree as shown on the attached Figure 1. 

B. 02CW403 Decree Exchanges: The 02CW403 Decree granted the Authority the 
right to divert by exchange the water rights described in Paragraph 5.B.i below at 
the points of diversion more particularly described in Paragraph 5.B.ii below: 

1. Source Water Rights: A total of 33.08 consumptive acre-feet per year from 
the following described water rights: 

a. 18.38 consumptive acre-feet ·ofthe 140.25 acre-feet of historic 
consumptive use credits attributed to the O'Neill & Holland Ditch 
First Enlargement, Priority No. 404, as quantified by the Water 
Court in Case Nos. 93CW189 and 96CW373, and being 
attributable to 3.29 cfs of the 13.17 cfs in the O'Neill & Holland 
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Ditch First Enlargement, Priority No. 404, decreed by the Eagle 
County District Court in Case No. CA963 with an appropriation 
date of June 8, 1907, and an adjudication date of October 3, 1936, 
the source of which is the Eagle River, which historic consumptive 
use results from the irrigation of 85 acres generally located in the 
SW/ 14 of Section 3 and SEl/4 of Section 4, T. 5 S., R. 82 W. of 
the 6th P.M., Eagle County, Colorado. The decree in Case No. 
93CWI 89 changed the point of diversion for the O'Neill & 
Holland Ditch water right to the Howard Ditch Headgate. 

b. 14.70 consumptive acre-feet of the 160.9 acre-feet of historic 
consumptive use credits attributable to the Howard Ditch First 
Enlargement, Priority No. 385, as quantified by the Water Court in 
Case No. W-3999, and being attributable to 5.27 of the 11.92 cfs in 
the Howard Ditch First Enlargement, Priority No. 385, decreed by 
the Eagle County District Court in Case No. CA 963 with an 
appropriation date of June 13, 1899, and an adjudication date of 
October 3, 1936, the source of which is the Eagle River, which 
historic consumptive use results from the irrigation of 51.6 acres 
generally located in the SWl /4 and SWl/4 NWl/4 of Section 4, T. 
5 S., R. 82 W. of the 6th P.M. Eagle County, Colorado. The 
season of use during which the historic consumptive use credits 
attributable to the Howard Ditch First Enlargement may be used is 
from May 13 through October IO of each year. 

ii. Points of Diversion: 

a. 

b. 

C. 

Metcalf Headgate, located on the Eagle River in the SEl /4 SWl/4 
of Section 7, T. 5 S., R. 81 W. of the 6th at a point from which the 
Southeast Corner of the SW I /4 of said Section 7 bears South 
53°00'40" East a distance of I 446 feet. 

Raw Water Booster Pump Headgate, located on the Eagle River in 
the NWl/4 NW1/4 of Section 12, T. 5 S., R. 82 W. of the 6th P.M. 
at a point from which the Southwest Corner of the NW 1 /4 of said 
Section 12 bears South 18°01 '34" West a distance of 1,551.13 feet. 

UERWA Point A {a/k/a UERWA Pipeline}, located on Lake Creek 
in the SEl/4 NEl/4 of Section 6, T. 5 S., R. 82 W. of the 6th P.M. 
at a point whence the NE corner of said Section 6 bears North 
14°30' East a distance of 1,750 feet. Diversions at this alternate 
point of diversion may not place a direct call against water rights 
that divert from Lake Creek. 
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Ill. 

IV. 

V. 

Decreed Locations: The downstream terminus of the exchanges to the 
Metcalf Headgate and the Raw Water Booster Pump Headgate is the 
Howard Ditch Headgate, located in the NWl/4 NWl/4 Section 11, T. 5 S., 
R. 82 W. of the 6th P.M. at a point 600 feet from the North line and 1,150 
feet from the West line of said Section 11, and the upstream termini are 
the points of diversion described in Paragraphs 5.B.ii.a and 5.B.ii.b above. 
The downstream terminus of the exchange to the UER WA Point A is the 
confluence of the Eagle River and Lake Creek, and the upstream terminus 
is the point of diversion described in Paragraph 5.B.ii.c above. 

Amounts: The rate of exchange is 0.40 cfs, which is the anticipated 
maximum rate of instantaneous diversion at all described points of 
diversion for the claimed exchanges. 

Priority Date: December 31, 2002. 

A map denoting the above referenced diversion points is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

6. Absolute diversion of the Conditional Exchange. By the Application, the Authority seeks 
to make absolute 0.336 cfs out of 0.4 cfs of the Edwards Drinking Water Facility Diversion 
described in paragraph 5 above for all decreed uses. In support of its request to make this 
amount of the conditional water right absolute, the Authority submitted evidence that on July 6, 
2017, 0.336 cfs of the Edwards Drinking Water Facility Diversion was diverted in priority and 
used for all decreed beneficial uses. Thus, the Court finds that 0.336 cfs of the Edwards Drinking 
Water Facility Diversion can be made absolute for all decreed beneficial uses. 

7. Finding of Diligence. The Application requests a finding that the Authority has exercised 
reasonable diligence in the development of the remaining amount of the Edwards Drinking 
Water Facility Diversion and the subject conditional exchanges not made absolute. The Court 
finds the Authority operates an integrated water system such that work done on any component 
of the system advances the whole, and that the work and expenditures described in the 
Application constitute reasonable diligence in the development of the remaining conditional 
water rights. Therefore, the Court finds that the remaining conditional portion of the Edwards 
Drinking Water Facility Diversion and the 0.4 cfs of the 02CW403 Decree Exchanges should be 
continued in full force and effect for all decreed uses. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

8. To the extent they constitute legal conclusions, the foregoing Findings of Fact are 
incorporated herein. 

9. All notices required by law have been properly made, including as required under C.R.S. 
§ 37-92-302(3). The Water Court has jurisdiction over the Application and over all entities or 
persons who had standing to appear, even though they did not do so. 
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I 0. The Application is complete, covering all applicable matters required pursuant to the 
Water Right Determination and Administration Act of 1969. C.R.S. §§ 37-92-101-602. 

11. The Authority has fulfilled all legal requirements for a decree for the requested finding of 
diligence. 

DECREE OF THE 'COURT 

12. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as set forth above are incorporated herein 
by reference and are hereby modified as necessary to constitute part of the Ruling and Final 
Judgment and Decree. 

13. The Court does conclude that the Application should be granted and orders that the 
Authority has made absolute 0.336 cfs of the Edwards Drinking Water Facility Diversion 
described in paragraph 5 for all decreed beneficial uses, and that the Authority has exercised 
reasonable diligence with respect to the remaining 0.064 cfs of the Edwards Drinking Water 
Facility Diversion and the 0.40 cfs of the 02CW403 Decree Exchanges. Thus, the application for 
finding of reasonable diligence with respect to the remaining portion of the conditional water 
rights is granted, and these water rights described above are continued in full force and effect for 
all decreed purposes. 

14. If the Authority desires to maintain the remaining conditional water rights, an application 
for finding of reasonable diligence shall be made before the end of the month six years from the 
date set forth below, or a showing made on or before such date that the conditional water rights 
have become absolute by reason of completion of the appropriation, or otherwise disposed of. 

15. Pursuant to Rule 9 of the Uniform Local Rules for All State Water Court Divisions, upon 
the sale or other transfer of the conditional water rights described herein, the transferee shall file 
with the Division 5 Water Court a notice of transfer which shall state: 

(A) The title and case number of this Case No. 19CW3079 and Case No. 02CW403. 

(B) The description of the conditional water right transferred; 

(C) The name of the transferor; 

(D) The name and mailing address of the transferee; and 

(E) A copy of the recorded deed. 

The owner of said conditional water rights shall also notify the Clerk of the Division 5 
Water Court of any change in mailing address. The Clerk shall place any notice of transfer or 
change of address in the case file of this Case No. 19CW3079 and in the case file of Case No. 
02CW403. 
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A copy of the Decree shall be filed with the Division Engineer for Water Division No. 5 

and with the State Engineer. 

It is further ORDERED that this Decree shall be filed with the Water Clerk, subject to 
judicial review. 

Dated: ----------

110715 

Hon. James B. Boyd, Water Judge 
Water Division No. 5 
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DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 5, 
Ln-\lL I II LLL/ , JUIII;; 1 '"t , .;.u'"- I I I , '"t.) /"\IV! 

FILING ID: B511 BFO I FF6A4 
STATE OF COLORADO CASE 't'- UMBER: 2019CW3079 

l 09 Eighth Street, Suite l 04 
Glenwood Springs, CO 8160 l A COURT USE ONLY A 
CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR WATER RIGHTS Case No. l 9CW3079 
OF THE UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY (02CW403) 

IN EAGLE COUNTY, COLORADO Div. 5 
AFFIDAVIT OF THOMAS A. WILLIAMSEN AND DANIEL J. GILLHAM 

We, Thomas A. Williamsen and Daniel J. Gillham, being duly sworn, state as follows: 

l. I, Thomas A. Williamsen, have been a Professional Registered Engineer since 1979 and 
have been a water resource engineer for the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority (the 
"Authority") since 1992. 

2. I, Daniel J. Gillham, have been a Professional Registered Engineer since 2008 and have 
been a water resource engineer for the Authority since 2004. 

3. We are familiar with the Application for Findings of Reasonable Diligence and to Make 
Water Rights Absolute filed by the Authority in the above-captioned case. We are also 
familiar with the pleadings filed therein, including the Water Referee's Order regarding 
Allocation of Water to the EDWF Water Right, dated April 12, 2021 (the "Order"). After 
reviewing the Order, we provide the background information, comments, and opinions 
herein based upon our knowledge of the facts and experience as water resource engineers. 

4. The water right involved in the subject case is the conditional water right of 0.4 cfs for the 
Edwards Drinking Water Facility decreed in Case No. 02CW403 which decree also 
included a change of water rights, plan for augmentation, and exchange. The conditional 
water right was decreed for "domestic, irrigation, recreation, commercial, and all municipal 
beneficial uses within the Authority's service area ....... with an appropriation date of May 
31, 2000." The plan for augmentation involved using the historical consumptive use credits 
derived from water rights associated with the O'Neill & Holland and Howard Ditches 
which were previously quantified for augmentation purposes and storage releases from 
Eagle Park Reservoir to replace out-of-priority depletions caused by diversions by the 
Metcalf Headgate, Raw Water Booster Pump, Edwards Drinking Water Facility, UERW A 
Point A, and June Creek Ranch Well Nos. 2 and 6. 

5. In Case No. 09CW160 the Authority changed the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water 
rights "to be used as a source of supply for new development that is not included in any of 
the existing plans for augmentation of the Authority or its members, and as a supplemental 
supply of water for its direct use throughout its entire service area .... " (paragraph 4 ). This 
decree contains daily, monthly, and annual volumetric limits on the use of the quantified 
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historical consumptive use, diversion rate limitations, and season of use limitations, May I 
through October 31. The Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water rights can be used directly 
for diversions by the Metcalf Headgate, Raw Water Booster Pump Headgate, Edwards 
Drinking Water Facility, and UERWA Point A. 

6. We prepare and review the water rights accounting spreadsheets for the entities within the 
Authority's service area receiving potable water, consisting of 5 metropolitan districts and 
the Town of Avon (the original 6 member entities), 3 metropolitan districts by contract, 3 
sub-entities within the Edwards Metropolitan District (an original member entity) which 
were not included in Edwards' original augmentation plan, and numerous other 
residential/commercial properties that are not associated with other entities' plans for 
augmentation but instead are covered by the Authority's decreed plans for augmentation 
including the decree in Case No. 02CW403. For each entity the accounting spreadsheets 
identify the daily water use and diversion point and assigns the entities' daily water use to 
water rights specified in their decrees or determines the entities' daily out-of-priority 
depletions and assigns the augmentation source such as historical consumptive use credits, 
out-of-basin storage releases by exchange, or in-basin storage releases directly. 

7. We assign the 0.4 cfs water right, when in priority, to the water diverted for the Miller 
Ranch subdivision and the Authority's residential/commercial properties that do not have 
specific direct flow water rights associated with these properties. It is our opinion that the 
decree in Case No. 02CW403 specifies this manner of assignment. When the 0.4 cfs direct 
flow water right is out-of-priority the quantification of the depletion are based on the terms 
and conditions of the decree. 

8. We believe that the decree in Case No. 09CW 160 provides a supplemental water supply 
to the augmentation supplies identified in the decrees for the original member entities, 
contract entities, sub-entities, and unassociated residential/ commercial properties served 
by the Authority. The residential/commercial uses identified in the decree in Case No. 
02CW403 is an augmentation plan as well as establishing the 0.4 cfs conditional water 
right. When the demand by the unassociated residential/commercial properties exceeds the 
in-priority diversion under the 0.4 cfs, the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water rights, 
Case No. 09CW 160, are available to supplement the 0.4 cfs water right as well as to 
supplement the augmentation needs when the 0.4 cfs is out of priority. This is the manner 
we are applying to the accounting for the use of the 0.4 cfs water right. 

9. If the interpretation of the CDWR's "seniors first" is strictly applied to all of the 
Authority's water users, the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water rights are used up in the 
first 15 days of each month. The Authority's combined daily demands for all water users in 
May through October far exceed the yield available to the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch 
water rights. 

I 0. The Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water rights may only be applied during May through 
October. There are times when the 0.4 cfs water right has been applied in priority from 
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November through April. Our accounting shows that the peak daily use of this water right 
during these months was 0.221 cfs on March 27, 2017. On this date 0.128 cfs was assigned 
to the unassociated residential/commercial accounts and 0.093 cfs was assigned to the 
Miller Ranch subdivision. The 2017 water year accounting for the Authority shows this 
diversion, which was treated and placed to the decreed beneficial uses. 

11. It is our opinion that the 0.4 cfs water right decreed in Case No. 02CW403 is being 
accounted properly and that the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water rights changed in 
09CW160 are being accounted properly as a supplemental supply for all of the 
Authority's water users. 

BY THOMAS A. WILLIAMSEN, P.E. 

71~1 A . wdt.v~ 
Thomas A. Williamsen, P .E. 

ST A TE OF COLORADO 

COUNTY OF LllA©I"-~ 

) 
) ss. 
) 

BY DANIEL J. GILLHAM, P.E. 

Daniel J. Gillham, P.E. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me th.is~ day of June, 2021, by Thomas A. Williamsen, 
P.E., water resource engineer for the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority. 

My commission expires: os 2.1 ZolY 

DANIEL MCCORD 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF COLORADO 
NOTARY ID 20164030286 

STA TE OF COLORADO 

COUNTY OF ~\Cil.6 

Olll1 

) 
) ss. 
) 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this (Jtl. day of June, 2021. by Daniel J. Gillham, P.E., 
water resource engineer for the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority. 

118787 

DANIEL MCCORD 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF COLORADO 
NOTARY ID 20164030286 

OMMl1810N IXPIFll!l 08/21/2024 
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DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION 5, 
COLORADO 
Garfield County Courthouse 
109 8th Street, Suite 104 
Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 
(970) 928-3065 

CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR 
WATER RIGHTS OF: 

THE UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER 
AUTHORITY 

IN EAGLE COUNTY, COLORADO 

Attorneys for the State and Division 
Engineers: 
PHILIP J. WEISER, Attorney General 
CHRISTOPHER R. STORK 
Assistant Attorney General, Reg. No. 47555* 
PATRICKL. BARKER 
Assistant Attorney General, Reg. No. 42962* 
Water Resources Unit 
Natural Resources & Environment Section 
Office of the Colorado Attorney General 
1300 Broadway, 7th Floor 
Denver, CO 80203 
Telephone: (720) 508-6311 (Stork); 

(720) 508-6297 (Barker) 
Email: christopher .stork@coag.gov; 

pa trick. barker@coag.gov 
*Counsel of Record 

.... COURT USE ONLY .... 
Case No. 19CW3079 

RESPONSE TO UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY'S 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND ENTRY OF DECREE 

The State Engineer and the Division Engineer for Water Division No. 5 

("Division Engineer") (collectively, "Engineers"), by and through undersigned 

counsel, hereby respond to the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority's 

("Authority") Motion for Summary Judgment and Entry of Decree filed on June 14, 



2021 ("Motion"). The Engineers state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

The Authority's Motion requests that 0.336 cfs of the conditional Edwards 

Drinking Water Facility water right ("EDWF Right") be made absolute for all 

decreed uses based on diversions during free river on July 6, 2017 or, at a 

minimum, 0.221 cfs of the EDWF Right be made absolute based on in-priority 

diversions on March 27, 2017. The Engineers agree that 0.221 cfs of the EDWF 

Right may be made absolute for municipal use. However, as to the alleged 

diversions of the EDWF Right on July 6, 2017, genuine issues of material fact exist 

that preclude the Court from granting summary judgment. 

The Authority has failed to show that it had a need to divert at the EDWF on 

July 6, 2017 that could not be satisfied by its existing absolute decrees. The 

affidavit of the Authority's own engineers confirms that the Brett Ditch and 

Creamery Ditch water rights can be used directly for diversions at the EDWF under 

the absolute change decree in Case No. 09CW160. Accordingly, the Motion should 

be granted in part as to the amount of the diversion on March 27, 2017 but 

otherwise denied as to the amount of the diversion on July 6, 2017. The Court 

should hold that, as a matter oflaw, the Authority must show that the absolute 

decree in Case No. 09CW160 was insufficient to meet the Authority's need on July 

6, 2017 before the Court can make the conditional EDWF Right absolute based on 
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the diversion that day. 

RESPONSE TO THE AUTHORITY'S UNCONTESTED FACTS 
AND THE ENGINEERS' ADDITIONAL UNCONTESTED FACTS 

The Engineers generally agree with the factual assertions listed within the 

Motion's "Uncontested Facts," subject to the following clarifications and additions: 

1. The diversion date cited in paragraph 2 of the Uncontested Facts is at 

odds with the claim in the Authority's application. The application claimed that 

June 3, 2017 is the date of the in-priority diversion of .35 cfs, rather than 0.336 cfs 

diverted on July 6, 2017. The Authority's motion for the entry of a ruling and 

decree by the Water Referee, filed on November 27, 2019, included a proposed 

ruling based on the June 3, 2017 diversion. However, as indicated in the Referee's 

Order Regarding Allocation of Water to the EDWF Water Right ("Referee's Order"), 

a proposed ruling emailed to the Referee on February 3, 2021, included the 

allegation of an in-priority diversion of the EDWF Right on July 6, 2017 in the 

amount of 0.336 cfs as the basis for making the EDWF Right absolute. Referee's 

Order, p. 1. This alleged diversion is referred to hereafter as the "July Diversion". 

2. Through the decree in Case No. 09CW160, the Brett Ditch and 

Creamery Ditch water rights (collectively, the "Senior Water Rights") were decreed 

for the same point of diversion, place of use, and beneficial uses as the EDWF Right. 

Decree of the Water Court, Case No. 09CW160, Water Div. 5, ,r 5. Uses decreed for 
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the Senior Water Rights are "all municipal uses, including without limitation 

domestic, irrigation, livestock watering, mechanical, manufacturing, recreation, fire 

protection, piscatorial, aesthetic, sewage treatment, street sprinkling and the 

watering of parks, lawns and grounds, directly or by augmentation or exchange." Id. 

(emphasis added). The place of use decreed for the Senior Water Rights, in 

pertinent part, is "throughout the entire service area of the Authority, as such 

service area may from time to time be expanded .... " Id. 

3. The decree in Case No. 09CW160 authorized the Authority to begin 

direct diversion of the Senior Water Rights at the EDWF and other alternate points 

of diversion. No augmentation or replacement use of these rights, including by 

exchange, could occur without subsequent approval by the Court in a case seeking 

approval of a plan for augmentation. Id., p. 7, ,i 6(b). The decree changed the 

Senior Water Rights as a "source of supply for new development that is not included 

in any of the existing plans for augmentation of the Authority or its members, and 

as a supplemental supply of water for its direct use throughout its entire service 

area .... " Id., p. 2, ,i 4. The decree established a direct diversion rate up to 4.2185 

cfs at the EDWF and other alternate points of diversion for all uses, including 

irrigation, and limited diversions only for irrigation to 3.0 cfs. Id., pp. 5-6, ~I 5(c). 
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4. The affidavit of the Authority's own water resource engineers, Thomas 

A. Williamsen and Daniel J. Gillham, states that the Brett Ditch and Creamery 

Ditch water rights can be used directly for diversions by the EDWF. Mot., Ex. B, 

5. On February 26, 2017, the Authority obtained a decreed plan for 

augmentation in Case No. 15CW3032 that includes the Senior Water Rights as the 

only direct flow irrigation season water rights to be used to augment Lake Creek 

Wells 1-6, which withdraw groundwater tributary to Lake Creek and the Eagle 

River at a cumulative rate of 3.1 cfs. Decree of the Water Court, Case No. 

15CW3032, Water Div. 5, p. 2,, 5. This cumulative well pumping rate is 1.1185 cfs 

less than the rate of 4.2185 cfs at which the Senior Water Rights can be diverted at 

the EDWF for municipal uses under the decree in Case No. 09CW160. 

6. The Case No. 15CW3032 Decree does not limit the use of the Senior 

Water Rights to augmentation use under that decree. 

7. The Authority completes its accounting for each month in arrears, i.e., 

at the end of the month and could evaluate the availability of the Senior Water 

Rights during July, 2017, before submitting its accounting to the Division Engineer 

by the 10th of the following month. See Exhibit 1, Affidavit of Division Engineer 

James Heath. 

8. The Authority has not supplied any evidence as to whether the Senior 

Water Rights were not legally or physically available for diversion at the EDWF at 
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a rate of0.336 cfs at the time of the July Diversion, including whether the 

augmentation plan in Case No. 15CW3032 was operating in July, 2017 and, if so, to 

what extent. 

9. The Authority's present Motion does not allege the Senior Water 

Rights were not available for the July Diversion but instead states that: "In this 

case, the Authority determined that the EDWF was preferable to the Brett and 

Creamery Ditch water rights because it wanted to utilize those water rights for 

their decreed augmentation use when there would be a call on the Eagle and 

Colorado Rivers." Mot., at 6. To date, the Authority has provided no evidence to 

show the full amount of the Senior Water Rights was unavailable in July, 2017, 

because it was needed for augmentation use under the decree in Case No. 

15CW3032 or any other decree. 

10. The Authority's present Motion points to the affidavit of Thomas A. 

Williamsen and Daniel J. Gillham in Exhibit B to the Motion regarding the Senior 

Water Rights being divertible only from May to October, and attesting to in-priority 

use of the EDWF Right from November through April with the peak daily use of the 

EDWF Right made on March 27, 2017, as evidence that the EDWF Right should be 

made absolute in the amount of 0.221 cfs. Mot., at 10. The Engineers do not 

contest this fact, and agree that the EDWF Right can be confirmed absolute in the 

amount of 0.221 cfs for municipal use. 
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LEGAL STANDARD 

The Engineers agree with Authority's recitation of the legal standards 

applicable to the Motion. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Court should confirm that the Authority has made the EDWF 
Right absolute for municipal use in an amount no greater than 0.221 
cfs. 

The Engineers agree with the Authority's engineers that the EDWF Right 

was needed and diverted in priority on March 27, 2017 and placed to municipal use. 

Thus, the Court may enter a partial summary judgment making the EDWF Right 

absolute for municipal use in the amount of 0.221 cfs based on the March 27, 2017 

diversion and beneficial use. 

II. The Court should hold that the Authority must show that the 
absolute decree in 09CW160 was insufficient to meet the Authority's 
need on July 6, 2017 before the Court can make the conditional 
EDWF Right absolute based on the July Diversion. 

The Colorado Supreme Court has held that the requirement that a water 

user prove need does not end when a water right is conditionally decreed. 

Municipal Subdistrict, Northern Colorado Water Conservancy Dist. v. Oxy USA, Inc. 

("Oxy"), 990 P.2d 701, 709 (Colo. 1999); City of Thornton v. Bijou Irr. Co., 926 P.2d 

1, 52-53 (Colo. 1996) ("Thornton"). In Oxy, the court explained that, as long as a 

water right remains conditional, the applicant has a continuing burden to establish 
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a need for the right. Oxy, 990 P.2d at 709. This is the case because "a conditional 

right, or some portion of that right, may become speculative over time." Id. 

Similarly, in Thornton, the Colorado Supreme Court affirmed the Division 1 

water court's requirement that the City of Thornton make current and future 

"reality check" showings of continued need for its conditional water rights. In doing 

so, the Court endorsed water courts' ability to take into consideration a water user's 

current water supply, as well as the amount of a conditional water right at issue. 

Thornton, 926 P.2d at 52-53. The Court noted: "we approve the ... consideration of 

Thornton's use, treatment, and disposition of its existing water rights as a factor in 

the 'reality checks' review. Our rationale for this conclusion is simple: the conduct of 

Thornton with regard to its existing water rights may be indicative of the reality of 

its need for the newly decreed rights." Id. Accordingly, a water court must continue 

to examine whether a water user, particularly a water supplier with a portfolio of 

water rights, has a need for its conditional water rights so as to guard against 

speculation, hoarding, and waste. 

In Upper Yampa Water Conservancy District v. Wolfe, 255 P.3d 1108, 1113 

(Colo. 2011) ("Upper Yampa"), the Supreme Court affirmed the Division 6 water 

court's application of the absolutes first doctrine. Like this matter, Upper Yampa 

involved an application to make conditional water rights absolute which were junior 

or of equal priority to existing absolute water rights. The water rights at issue were 
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all decreed for diversion at the same point, for use at the same place of use, and for 

the same beneficial uses. Moreover, like this matter, the water user attempted to 

selectively allocate diversion and use to the conditional water rights. 

There, largely in reliance on Oxy and Thornton, the Colorado Supreme Court 

affirmed the duty of the water court to assess a water user's non-speculative need 

for a conditional water right under an application to confirm the conditional water 

right as absolute. Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1114-15. The Court noted: "First, this 

Court has held that a water court may review whether a water user has a need for a 

conditional right, even after the conditional right has been decreed." Id. 

' Additionally, "we have long held that once a conditional water right has been 

decreed, its holder has the continuing burden to establish a non-speculative need for 

that right." Id. at 1113-14. Continuing its reliance on Thornton, the Court further 

confirmed that a water court may consider a water user's "use of its existing water 

rights portfolio in determining ... need for its ... conditional water rights." Id. 

(citing Thornton, 926 P.2d at 52). 

On these bases, and the fact that the applicant-appellant possessed senior, 

absolute water rights with identical diversion location and use characteristics under 

which it did not divert in deference to the conditional water rights, the Court 

rejected the applicant-appellant's argument that the "the water court's so-called 

'absolutes first' doctrine is incorrect." Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1113-14. 
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Accordingly, the Court concluded that, "the [applicant-appellant] cannot show need 

to perfect its conditional water unless it can demonstrate that it has exhausted its 

absolute rights first." Id. at 1113. 

This is true even with respect to a governmental agency, like the Authority, 

that argues it is "best positioned to determine which of its water rights it wishes to 

divert and use, and to make absolute," Mot., Arg., ,r E, in order to balance its water 

rights portfolio. As noted by the Supreme Court in Upper Yampa, governmental 

agencies still need to comply with applicable law and their interests in enhancing 

their portfolios, while acknowledged by the Engineers as important, do not 

"supersede existing statutes and case law." Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1115. On 

these bases, this Court should reject the Authority's arguments to the contrary with 

respect to the July Diversion and deny its Motion. 

The Authority's Motion mischaracterizes Upper Yampa and its current effect. 

First, the Authority argues that the principal holding of Upper Yampa "has been 

rendered moot by the enactment of C.R.S. § 37-92-301(4)(e)." Mot., A.i.-g., at ,r G.2. 

The Engineers disagree. Senate Bill 41 of 2013 merely created a statutory 

exception to the absolutes first doctrine affirmed in Upper Yampa by defining 

storage as a beneficial use under section 37-92-103(4)(a), C.R.S., and excepting from 

the absolutes first doctrine only conditional storage rights that are part of a project 

or integTated system that contains more than one water storage feature under 
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section 37-92-301(4)(d), C.R.S. By creating this statutory exception, the General 

Assembly affirmed the general rule of the absolutes first doctrine set forth in Upper 

Yampa, but the statutory exception is to be construed narrowly. See City of Aurora 

ex rel. Util. Enter. v. Colorado State Eng'r, 105 P.3d 595, 608 (Colo. 2005) 

("Exceptions to the general laws should be narrowly construed."). 

Second, the Authority argues that Upper Yampa is distinguishable from this 

matter because the "[senior, absolute] water right at issue ... had already been 

made absolute for a flow rate of 151 cfs," and the diversions claimed to be made 

absolute "did not exceed 151 cfs". Mot., Arg., at ,r G.2. This scenario is far from 

distinguishable from the facts of this case. In fact, the two scenarios are nearly 

identical. 

The applicant-appellant in Upper Yampa possessed, as pertinent here, a 

portfolio of thirty distinct water rights decreed for fill of the storage structure 

(Stagecoach Reservoir) involved in the case. Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1109; 

Applicant-Appellant's Opening Br., Case No. 09SA352, at 5-6, Exhibit 2. These 

water rights are collectively known as the "Four Counties" water rights ("Four 

Counties Rights"). Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1109. Sixteen of the Four Counties 

Rights have equal priorities that are senior to the remaining fourteen equal-priority 

Four Counties Rights. Applicant-Appellant's Opening Br., Case No. 09SA352, at 5-

6. All of the Four Counties Rights are decreed for diversion into the storage 
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structure and for identical use characteristics. Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1109-10; 

Applicant-Appellant's Opening Br., Case No. 09SA352, at 5-6. Despite the Four 

Counties Rights being decreed for storage, they are decreed only with flow rate 

volumetric amounts or limitations, and not storage volumetric amounts or 

limitations, such as acre-feet. Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1110. 

When the underlying water court application was filed in the Division 6 

water court, nine of the sixteen senior Four Counties Rights had been decreed 

absolute, in part, at a cumulative rate of diversion of 151 cfs. Confession of J. , Case 

No. 06CW43, Water Div. 6, at~ 5, Exhibit 3. The application sought to make three 

of the remaining entirely conditional senior Four Counties Rights, and two of the 

entirely conditional junior Four Counties Rights absolute on the basis of a 108 cfs 

diversion. Id. This is the cumulative diversion that "did not exceed 151 cfs" cited by 

the Authority. Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1110. The fact that the diversion fell 

short of the cumulative 151 cfs rate of diversion already confirmed absolute was 

critical, in that it reflected a lack of appropriation in excess of the appropriations 

already decreed absolute. Accordingly, in a confession of judgment in the water 

court, the applicant-appellant conceded that the entire 108 cfs it claimed to have 

diverted under the conditional rights and sought to be made absolute could have 

instead been diverted under its existing absolute water rights. Thus, the applicant

appellant did not need to divert any water under its conditional water rights, and it 
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therefore failed to satisfy the absolutes first doctrine. Id. at 1115. This was the 

crux of the Supreme Court's holding regarding exhaustion of identical absolute 

water rights as a condition of showing need: 

The applicant must also show that it in fact appropriated water in excess 
of its existing absolute decrees allowing for storage; in other words, it 
must show that it has exhausted its absolute rights before its conditional 
rights can be perfected. 

Upper Yampa, 255 P.3d at 1009. 

Similarly, here, the Authority has a portfolio of water rights containing 

absolute rights - the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water rights - and a junior, 

conditional water right- the EDWF Right- both allowing municipal use through 

the EDWF within the Authority's service area. Also similarly, the Authority is 

attempting to pass over the Brett Ditch and Creamery Ditch water through the July 

Diversion, which did not exceed the decreed rate for either of the Senior Water 

Rights, let alone their cumulative rate of diversion. Therefore, under Upper Yampa 

and its application of the absolutes first doctrine, the Authority similarly fails to 

demonstrate need for the EDWF Right on July 6, 2017. 

As decreed in Case No. 09CW160, the absolute Brett Ditch water right can be 

diverted for direct application at a rate of 2.069 cfs. Decree of the Water Court, 

Case No. 09CW160, ,r 4(a)(3). The absolute Creamery Ditch water right can be 

diverted for direct application at a rate of 2.1495 cfs. Id. at ,r 4(b)(2). Thus, unde1· 
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Upper Yampa and the absolutes first doctrine, the Authority must demonstrate that 

it diverted at least 4.2185 cfs of water at the EDWF, unless it can show that the 

Senior Water Rights or a portion thereof have or has been fully dedicated to 

augmentation use or that some or all of the Senior Water Rights were being 

diverted at their approved alternate points of diversion, before this Court can 

determine that the Authority needed the EDWF Right for the July Diversion. The 

Authority has not done this and genuine issues of material fact exist as to this 

required showing. Thus, the Court must deny the Authority's Motion based on the 

July Diversion. 

III. In Upper Eagle, the Colorado Supreme Court endorsed its holding 
in Upper Yampa on the absolutes first doctrine. 

Decided only five years after Upper Yampa, Upper Eagle involved the 

Authority's claim to make a junior conditional water right absolute prior to a senior 

conditional water right decreed for the same purpose. Unlike Upper Yampa and its 

examination regarding selective allocation of water diversion and use as between 

senior, absolute water rights and junior, conditional water rights with identical 

diversion location and use characteristics, Upper Eagle's examination was limited to 

selective allocation between wholly conditional water rights. As noted by the 

Supreme Court with respect to the Engineers' invoking Upper Yampa, "the 

Authority's demonstrated, legitimate need for a conditional water right is not at 
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issue in this case," and "the Engineers' reliance on Upper Yampa is misplaced." 

Upper Eagle, 371 P.3d at 685. Consequently, the Court did not entirely re-examine 

Upper Yampa, specifically noting that its holding in Upper Eagle is "limited to 

conditional water rights, and does not extend to a choice between senior and junior 

absolute water rights." Id. at 684. 

The Court, however, endorsed and cited to the Upper Yampa holding and 

ensured interplay of the absolutes first doctrine with its Upper Eagle holding on the 

seniors first doctrine that "the owner of a portfolio of water rights is entitled to 

select which of its different, in-priority conditional water rights it wishes to first 

divert and make absolute," provided "there is no evidence of waste, hoarding, or 

other mischief." Id. at 682 (emphasis added). This was accomplished through the 

Court stressing that such selection right is then constrained once a water user 

makes any part of a hitherto conditional water right absolute, noting: "the water 

user must live with its choice." Id. 

In that case, the Engineers had argued that permitting a water user to select 

from among its conditional rights was inappropriate and contrary to the priority 

administration of water rights established by the statutory scheme, in that such 

practice would allow a user to change its allocation of diversions from one day to the 

next, and appropriate an arguably unlimited number of absolute water rights for 

the same water. Id. at 686. This practice in turn would interfere with water 
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availability analyses by other prospective water users, and endanger the entire 

water rights administration system. Id. 

Rejecting the Engineers' argument, the Supreme Court noted that "[t]he 

contemplated mischief is forbidden, however, by the rule of Upper Yampa." Id. at 

687. Specific to the facts of the case, the Court continued: 

Id. 

Because it has chosen to make 0.4 7 cfs of the [junior conditional water 
right] absolute, the Authority may not now seek to make any portion of 
the [senior conditional water right] absolute unless it can show that it 
needs to divert to Cordillera more than the 5 cfs decreed to the [junior 
conditional water right] for the same claimed beneficial uses. 

In short, the Authority must live with its choice. 

As such, through its citation to and reliance on Upper Yampa, the Supreme 

Court, while providing water users with increased flexibility in choosing one time 

between their conditional water rights, plainly endorsed the absolutes first doctrine 

of Upper Yampa. 

After all, all water users, including government users with large portfolios of 

water rights, still must comply with this and all other applicable law. Here, the 

Authority has not shown that it had exhausted its Senior Water Rights on July 6, 

2017 or at any point during July, 2017 such that it had a need to divert under the 

EDWF Right. Consequently, this Court must deny the Authority's Motion with 

respect to the July Diversion. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons explained above, this Court should only grant the Motion in 

part to make 0.221 cfs of the EDWF Right absolute for municipal use based on the 

Authority's diversion and use on March 27, 2017. The Court should further hold 

that, as a matter oflaw, the Authority must show that the absolute decree in 

09CW160 was insufficient to meet the Authority's need on July 6, 2017 before the 

Court can make the conditional EDWF Right absolute in a greater amount based on 

the diversion that day. 

Respectfully submitted this this 13th day of July, 2021. 

PHILIP J. WEISER 
Attorney General 

Filed pursuant to C.R.C.P. Rule 121 § 1-26. 

Is I Patrich L. Bar her 

CHRISTOPHER R. STORK, #47555* 
Assistant Attorney General 
PATRICK L. BARKER, #42962* 
Assistant Attorney General 
Natural Resources and Environment Section 
Attorneys for the State and Division Engineers 
*Counsel of Record 
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Authority Attachment 1 

Water Agenda Item 

Attachment Name: Order on Motion to Intervene 

Attachment Date (if applicable): July 14, 2021 

Purpose of Agenda Item: 

IZ!Background for board meeting discussion (information only) 

IZI Enter into public record 

□ Request board inpuUdirection 

Topic: Brett and Creamery Ditch water rights 

Summary of Topic: : Attached is Judge Boyd's order granting the State and Division Engineers' 
motion to intervene in Case No. 19CW3079. This was not unexpected. 
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DISTRJCT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 5, C~SE NUMBER: 2019CW3079 

COLORADO 
Court Address: Garfield County Courthouse 

109 8th Street, Suite 104 
Glenwood Springs, Colorado 81601 

Phone Number: 970-928-3065 

Concerning the Application for Water Rights Of: 

UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY 
C COURT USE ONLY C 

In Ea2le County 

The Honorable James B. Boyd Case Number: 19CW3079 

Division 5 

ORDER on MOTION TO INTERVENE 

This matter comes before the Court on the motion to intervene of the State and 

Division Engineers ( collectively the Engineers). The Court has considered the 

pertinent record and is otherwise fully advised. Therefore, the Court finds, 

concludes and orders as follows: 

1. This case was filed in July 2019. It was proceeding in front of the Water 

Referee until April 2021. In the period at least October 2020 until April 2021, the 

Referee was addressing concerns and questions with Applicant and the Engineer 

related to the Seniors First Policy as it might affect the outcome of this application. 

On April 12, 2021, the Referee issued an order that invited the submission of 
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additional evidence and that indicated the nature of the Ruling that would issue in 

the absence of additional evidence. On April 26, 2021, Applicant moved to strike 

the Referee's order. On April 27, 2021, the Referee re-referred the case to the 

Water Judge. On May 14, 2021, the Engineers moved to intervene. The Engineers 

state they were actively pursuing their concerns in the proceedings before the 

Referee. Their concerns remain the same ones set forth in the Engineers' summary 

of consultation. 

2. Persons who do not timely file a statement in opposition to an application 

may intervene "upon a showing of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 

neglect" so long as the motion to intervene is filed at least 35 days before a pretrial 

conference and the intervention will not "unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication 

of the rights of the original parties." § 37-92-304(3), C.R.S. 

3. The Engineers state they did not previously enter as a party to "conserve ... 

limited resources" and state they believed in good faith that their concerns could be 

addressed through the summary of consultation process. They now state their 

failure to join was a mistake and the result of excusable neglect. 
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4. The meaning of the "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect" 

showing required by§ 37-92-304(3), C.R.S., is not further defined in the statute. 

Analyzing the similar language in subsection 10 (which does not include "surprise" 

but which is otherwise identical) of the same section, the Supreme Court has held 

excusable neglect is "an elastic concept" that requires evaluation of more than the 

movant's reasons for failing to act; a court must balance the equities to include 

consideration of 

among other things the danger of prejudice to the non-moving party, the 
length of the delay and its potential impact on judicial proceedings, and the 
good faith of the movant. 

SL Grp., LLC v. Go W. Indus., Inc., 42 P.3d 637, 641 (Colo. 2002). 

5. The Engineers have a role distinct from other applicants or opposers. The 

Engineers are responsible to administer and distribute the state's waters. § 37-92-

301(1), C.R.S. Even without intervention as an objector, when an application is 

before the Court rather than the Referee, the Division Engineer remains obliged "to 

appear to furnish pertinent information." § 37-92-304(3), C.R.S. 

6. If the application had proceeded to a ruling of the Referee, like anyone else, 

the Engineers could have joined as a party to protest the ruling. § 37-92-304(2), 
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C.R.S. Here, the case was rereferred without a Ruling, thereby eliminating the 

protest process. In the context of standing to appeal, the Supreme Court noted this 

happenstance and concluded putting the Engineers in a position of need to enter as a 

party in every case would impose a "heavy procedural burden" on the Engineers 

and "frustrate" the statutory purpose to allow the Engineers to participate without 

becoming a party in every case. Bar 70 Enterprises, Inc. v. Tosco Corp., 703 P.2d 

1297, 1305 (Colo. 1985). 

7. The Court also has a role distinct from a typical civil case. 

The trial court, in this type of proceeding, is required to do more than 
passively hear the evidence; it has an active role in the administration of 
valuable and vital rights .... 

Mannon v. Farmers' High Line Canal & Reservoir Co., 360 P.2d 417, 423 (Colo. 

1961). The water court must "assist" in structuring a decree to prevent injury. 

Farmers High Line Canal & Reservoir Co. v. City of Golden, 975 P.2d 189, 193 

(Colo. 1999). This is an "affirmative duty" of the court. Hallenbeck v. Granby 

Ditch & Reservoir Co., 420 P.2d 419,427 (Colo. 1966). Although the power is 

properly exercised with care and restraint, cognizant of the duty of impartiality, the 

Court does have the power to call and question witnesses. CRE 614. 
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8. Here, if the Court denied intervention, the Court would remain obliged to 

assert an active role in completing the adjudication, and the Court could call upon 

the Engineers to help the Court fulfill this role. 

9. Here, applying the balancing of the equities standard identified above, the 

Court finds the Engineers have shown excusable neglect for not previously entering 

as a formal party. Their substantive concerns were raised early, pursued since then 

and known to the other parties. Their unique role in a water case shifts the equities 

in their favor in a manner that would not apply to other potential intervenors. 

IO.No trial or pretrial conference has yet been set. Since the Engineers' issues 

have been long raised and pursued, intervention will not cause "undue" delay or 

prejudice. Intervention is permissible and proper under§ 37-92-304(3), C.R.S. 

1 I.In light of the Court's conclusion, the Court need not address the Engineers' 

alternative theory under C.R.C.P. 24(b). 

12.The Engineers' motion to intervene is granted. 

Done on July 14, 2021. 
BY THE COURT 

~:?~ 
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Authority Attachment 3 

Water Agenda Item 

Attachment Name: Response to Summary of Consultation 

Attachment Date (if applicable): July 14, 2021 

Purpose of Agenda Item: 

IZI Background for board meeting discussion (information only) 

lZI Enter into public record 

□ Request board input/direction 

Topic: Stag Gulch Wellfield 

Summary of Topic: Attached is a copy of the Response to the Division Engineer's Summary of 
Consultation in the diligence case for the Stag Gulch Wellfield, together with a copy of the 
proposed decree. Staff has decided not to pursue the application to make any additional 
portions of this wellfield absolute at this time as the wellfield is being improved to bring it up to 
the decreed production capacity. When that occurs, the additional conditional amount can be 
made absolute. 



DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 5, 
STATE OF COLORADO 

109 8th Street, Suite 104 
Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 
CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR WATER 
RIGHTS OF THE UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER 
AUTHORITY 

IN THE EAGLE RIVER OR ITS TRIBUTARIES 

IN EAGLE COUNTY, COLORADO 
Glenn E. Porzak (#2793) 
Cassidy L. Woodard (#48824) 
Porzak Browning & Bushong LLP 
2120 13 th Street 
Boulder, CO 80302 
Telephone: (303) 443-6800 
Fax: (303) 443-6864 
Email: gporzak@pbblaw.com; kmoseley@pbblaw.com; 

.A. COURT USE ONLY .A. 
Case No. 20CW3158 
(05CW23, 98CW8, 

91CW77) 

cwoodard@obblaw.com Div. 5 
RESPONSE TO SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION 

Applicant, the Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority (the "Authority"), by and through 
its undersigned counsel, hereby responds as follows to the Concerns raised in the Summary of 
Consultation: 

CONCERNS 

1. Applicant must provide the Court with additional evidence that they have placed the 
water diverted to beneficial use. The evidence should include the amounts and beneficial 
uses claimed for each well and the well field in aggregate. 

The Authority has chosen to forego making additional portions of the Stag Gulch Wellfield 
absolute as described in the Application and instead obtain a finding a reasonable diligence for all 
remaining conditional portions. The proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Ruling of the 
Referee, and Decree of the Water Court (the "Proposed Decree"), attached as Exhibit A, is drafted 
accordingly. 

2. Applicant may not claim a pumping rate greater than what is reported in the evidence of 
pump installation submitted for each well permit for the Fenno Well Nos. 1-7, unless 
proof of a higher rate is provided. Applicant's claim to make 450 gallons-per-minute 
absolute for the wellfield appears to be based on pumping rates in excess of the rates 
reported in the evidence of pump installation: 

Page 1 of3 
118021 



a. Fenno Well No. 3 is claimed to have pumped at 156 GPM, but evidence only supports 
85GPM, 

b. Fenno Well No. 4 is claimed to have pumped at154 GPM, but evidence only supports 
30GPM, 

c. Fenno Well No. 5 is claimed to have pumped at 34 GPM, but evidence only supports 
30GPM, 

d. Fenno Well 7 is claimed to have pumped at 62 GPM, but evidence only supports 50 
GPM. 

Applicant must provide additional evidence to support the claimed pumping rates. 

The Authority's engineering team has spoken to the Division Engineer's office directly 
regarding this. However, as mentioned above, the Authority has chosen to forego making 
additional portions of the Stag Gulch Wellfield absolute at this time. 

3. The Application omits a reference to Case No. 1995CW0040, which changed the Stag 
Gulch Wellfield conditional groundwater right and amended its plan for augmentation 
decreed in Case No. 1991CW0077. It also appears that the plan for augmentation decreed 
in Case No. 1991CW0077 may have been amended in Case Nos. 1996CW0021, 
1997CW0280, 1999CW0170, and 2000CW0011 and possibly others. Any Ruling in this 
case must include reference to and description of all Water Court cases that either modify 
the Stag Gulch Wellfield water right or provide sources of replacement water through 
plans for augmentation that allow the Stag Gulch Wellfield water right to operate when 
out-of-priority. 

118021 

The Proposed Decree incorporates references to the above-mentioned cases. 

a.-
Respectfully submitted this /'/ day of July, 2021. 

PORZAK BROWNING & BUSHONG LLP 

Glenn E. Porzak (# 793) 
Cassidy L. Woodard (#48824) 
Counsel for Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority 

Page 2 of3 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this_ day of July, 2021, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
RESPONSE TO SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION was filed and served via the Colorado 
Courts E-Filing System addressed to counsel for each of the parties in the above-captioned matter 
as follows: 

t•urt.) mne Party Type Attorney Name 

Division S Engineer Division Engineer DI VISIONS WATER ENG INEER (State of Colorado 
DWR Division 5) 

State Engineer State Engineer COLORADO DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES 
(State of Colorado - Division of Water Resource~) 
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DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 5, 
STATE OF COLORADO 

109 8th Street, Suite 104 
Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 .& COURT USE ONLY .& 
CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR WATER Case No. 20CW3158 
RIGHTS OF THE UPPER EAGLE REGIONAL WATER (05CW23, 98CW8, 
AUTHORITY 91CW77) 

IN THE EAGLE RIVER OR ITS TRIBUTARIES 

IN EAGLE COUNTY, COLORADO Div. 5 
FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, RULING OF THE REFEREE, AND 

DECREE OF THE WATER COURT 

The above-captioned Application was filed on December 23, 2020 ("Application"), and 
was referred to the undersigned Water Referee for the District Court, Water Division No. 5, State 
of Colorado ("Water Court") by the Water Judge of said Water Court in accordance with C.R.S. § 
37-92-101, et seq., known as the Water Right Determination and Administration Act of 1969. 

The undersigned Referee, having made such investigations as are necessary to determine 
whether or not the statements in the Application are true, and having become fully advised with 
respect to the subject matter of the Application, does hereby make the following determination and 
Ruling as the Referee: 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The statements in the Application are true to the extent such statements are confirmed herein. 

2. Name and Address of Applicant: Upper Eagle Regional Water Authority (the "Authority"), c/o 
Manager, 846 Forest Road, Vail, CO 81657. Direct all pleadings to: Porzak Browning & 
Bushong LLP, 2120 13 th Street, Boulder, CO 80302, (303) 443-6800. 

3. Jurisdiction: All notices required by law have been duly given, and the Water Court has 
jurisdiction over the Application and all parties affected thereby, whether or not they have 
chosen to appear. 

4. Opposition: There were no statements of opposition filed. The time for filing statements of 
opposition has now expired, and no party has sought to intervene in this case. 

5. Report of the Division Engineer: The Water Referee has given consideration to the Report of 
the Division Engineer, dated April 1, 2021, and the Authority's response thereto. 
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6. Description of Conditional Water Rights: The Water Court entered a decree in Case No. 
91CW77 for the Stag Gulch Wellfield, which includes up to thirty-five individual Stag Gulch 
Wells, all located in the County of Eagle, State of Colorado. In Water Court Case No. 98CW8, 
portions of the conditional water rights were made absolute and findings of reasonable 
diligence were entered for the remaining conditional portions. In Case No. 05CW23, the Water 
Court made subsequent findings of reasonable diligence on the remaining conditional portions. 

A. Names of the Structures: Stag Gulch Wellfield, which includes up to thirty-five individual 
Stag Gulch Wells, all located in the County of Eagle, State of Colorado. 

B. Locations of the Structures: 

116985 

1. Stag Gulch Wellfield (the "Wellfield"): The boundaries of the Wellfield were originally 
decreed in Case No. 91CW77 but were subsequently expanded in Water Court Case 
No. 96CW21 and are described as follows: 

a. As originally set forth in the decree in Case No. 91 CW77, lands located in Tract 
73, which is part of Sections 10 and 11, Tract 53, which is part of Sections 10, 11, 
and 14, Tract 55, which is part of Sections 11 and 14, Tract 62, which is part of 
Sections 14 and 15, Tract 63, which is part of Sections 14 and 15, Tract 51, which 
is part of Section 10, Tract 48, which is part of Sections 9 and 10, Tract 54, which 
is part of Sections 10, 11, 14, and 15, and a tract of land designated as the "Cliff 
Tract" lying in the northeast comer of said Tract 53; all in Township 5 South, Range 
83 West of the 6th P.M., Eagle County, Colorado, according to the Independent 
Resurvey accepted June 6, 1923, all as more particularly described in Exhibit A. 

b. As expanded in the decree in Case No. 96CW21, lands consisting of333.871 acres, 
more or less, located in Tracts 55, 60, and 61 in Sections 13 and 14, Township 5 
South, Range 83 West of the 6th P.M., Eagle County, Colorado, according to the 
Independent Resurvey thereof as approved June 20, 1922, by the U.S. Surveyor 
General and more particularly described in Exhibit B. 

u. Individual Stag Gulch Wells (the "Wells"): The decree in Case No. 91CW77 granted 
the right to drill up to a total of thirty-five (35) wells within the Wellfield boundaries 
as alternate points of diversion for the Wellfield. The thirty-five (35) original proposed 
well locations are listed in Exhibit C and legal descriptions are set forth therein with 
reference to Comer No. 3 of Tract 48, Township 5 South, Range 83 West of the 6th 
P.M. and to Comer No. 3 of Tract 55, Township 5 South, Range 83 West of the 6th 
P.M. In Paragraph 13.a.(9) of the decree in Case No. 91CW77, the applicant was 
granted the right to develop the ground water supplies through the wellfield concept in 
order to facilitate and give flexibility in developing the ground water supplies without 
having to amend the decree each time a new well location is determined. Accordingly, 
the decree in Case No. 91CW77 provides, "Applicants shall be entitled to have well 
permits issued by the State Engineer to constmct and use ground water from wells 
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within the Wellfield at the locations stated herein or from relocated wells within the 
decreed Wellfield boundaries, so long as said well permit applications state they will 
be subject to the terms and conditions ofthis Decree and so long as the applications are 
for wells within the Wellfield no closer than 600 feet from permitted wells outside the 
boundaries of the Wellfield owned by third parties, subject to review by the State 
Engineer under C.R.S. 37-90-137(2) for any relocated wells. Any wells constructed by 
the Applicants are hereby decreed to be points of diversion in the Wellfield and the 
amount of water decreed for each well and the Wellfield is 450 gallons per minute 
conditional. Prior to use of each well in Applicants' Wellfield, a meter shall be installed 
on each well to record cumulative withdrawals." Because the ground water supplies are 
to be developed in accordance with the wellfield concept, as described in Paragraph 4.i 
of the decree in Case No. 91CW77, the Authority's predecessors obtained permits and 
drilled wells at the sites described in the table attached as Exhibit D, which includes 
the legal descriptions, State Engineer's permit numbers, and amounts for the individual 
wells which have been permitted and/or drilled to date. 

C. Decreed Sources of Water for the Wellfield and the Wells: Groundwater from bedrock 
aquifers hydraulically connected to the Eagle River, a tributary to the Colorado River, or 
to Squaw Creek, a tributary to the Eagle River, tributary to the Colorado River. 

D. Decreed Appropriation Date: April 26, 1990. 

E. Decreed Amount of Water: 450 gallons per minute for the Wellfield with each well to be 
a point of diversion within the Wellfield, of which 250 gallons per minute was previously 
made absolute in the decree in Case No. 98CW8 for all uses listed in Paragraph 6.F below 
except for augmentation, replacement, and exchange purposes. 

F. Decreed Uses of Water: Irrigation, domestic, municipal, stockwatering, augmentation, 
replacement, exchange, commercial, storage, recreation, piscatorial, golf course hazard and 
fire protection purposes. 

G. Depth: The proposed depth of each well is 500 feet. 

H. Irrigated Lands: Lands in the various filings of the Cordillera subdivisions in Eagle County, 
Colorado, whose plats are listed in the attached Exhibit E. A general location map of the 
Cordillera Metropolitan District water service area and the Wellfield is attached hereto as 
Figure 1. The service area was originally described in the decree in Case No. 91CW77 but 
additional places of use were added in the decree entered by the Water Court in Case No. 
95CW40, the decree in Case No. 96CW21, and the decree entered in Water Court Case 
No. 97CW280. 

I. Remarks: The Wellfield is augmented by the plan for augmentation decreed in Case No. 
91CW77, which was subsequently amended by the decree in Case No. 95CW40 and the 
decree in Case No. 96CW2l. In Water Court Case No. 97CW280, the plan for 
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augmentation in the decree in Case No. 91CW77 Decree (as amended) was consolidated 
with the plan for augmentation in Water Court Case No. 86CW153 (as amended by Water 
Court Case Nos. 87CW310, 89CW217, 91CW78, and 95CW41). The consolidated 
augmentation plan was subsequently amended in Water Court Case No. 99CW170 and 
Water Court Case No. 00CWl 1. 

7. Findings of Reasonable Diligence: The Authority hereby foregoes its request to make 
additional portions of the Wellfield absolute at this time. Rather, the Authority requests a 
finding that it has exercised reasonable diligence in the development of the remaining 
conditional portions of the Stag Gulch Wellfield. This includes 200 gallons per minute for 
irrigation, domestic, municipal, stockwatering, commercial, storage, recreation, piscatorial, 
golf course hazard, and fire protection purposes and 450 gallons per minute for augmentation, 
replacement, and exchange purposes. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

8. To the extent they constitute legal conclusions, the foregoing Findings of Fact are incorporated 
herein. 

9. All notices required by law have been properly made, including as required under C.R.S. § 37-
92-302(3). 

10. The Water Court has jurisdiction over the Application and over all entities or persons who had 
standing to appear, even though they did not do so. 

11. The Application is complete, covering all applicable matters required pursuant to the Water 
Right Determination and Administration Act of 1969. C.R.S. §§ 37-92-101-602. 

12. The Authority has fulfilled all legal requirements for a decree for the requested finding of 
diligence. 

RULING OF THE REFEREE 

13. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as set forth above are incorporated herein by 
reference and are hereby modified as necessary to constitute part of the Ruling and Final 
Judgment and Decree. 

14. The Water Referee does conclude that the request for findings of reasonable diligence should 
be granted and orders that that the Authority has exercised reasonable diligence with respect 
to all conditional water rights described herein not made absolute at this time. This includes a 
finding of reasonable diligence for the Wellfield in the amount 200 gallons per minute for 
irrigation, domestic, municipal. stockwatering, commercial, storage, recreation, piscatorial, 
golf course hazard, and fire protection purposes and 450 gallons per minute for augmentation, 
replacement, and exchange purposes. 
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15. If the Authority desires to maintain the remaining conditional water rights, an application for 
finding of reasonable diligence shall be made before the end of the month six years from the 
date of the Water Judge's Order set forth below, or a showing made on or before such date that 
the conditional water rights have become absolute by reason of completion of the 
appropriation, or otherwise disposed of. 

16. Pursuant to Rule 9 of the Uniform Local Rules for All State Water Court Divisions, upon the 
sale or other transfer of the conditional water rights described herein, the transferee shall file 
with the Division 5 Water Court a notice of transfer which shall state: 

A. The title and case number of this Case No. 20CW3158 and Case No. 91CW177; 

B. The description of the conditional water right transferred; 

C. The name of the transferor; 

D. The name and mailing address of the transferee; and 

E. A copy of the recorded deed. 

The owner of said conditional water rights shall also notify the Clerk of the Division 5 
Water Court of any change in mailing address. The Clerk shall place any notice of transfer or 
change of address in the case file of this Case No. 20CW3158 and in the case file of Case No. 
91CW177. 

A copy of the Ruling shall be filed with the Division Engineer for Water Division No. 5 
and with the State Engineer. 

It is further ORDERED that this Ruling shall be filed with the Water Clerk, subject to 
judicial review. 

Dated: ----------

116985 

Susan Ryan, Water Referee 
Water Division No. 5 
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DECREE OF THE WATER COURT 

No protest was filed in this matter. The foregoing Ruling is confirmed and approved and 
is hereby made a Decree of this Court. 

Dated: 

116985 

----------

Hon. James B. Boyd, Water Judge 
Water Division No. 5 
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EY.!ST!NG ROM> A.ND r.~~ c~ UN::: 0: A 50 :OCT w:D::: ~cc~ss 
:::;,.s:::Y-::NT; T:-::::NCZ ;..LONG SAID £.:;5'!'-=-:u.Y !.:>G::: 0: :::x:s:-!NG :RC;..JJ ;...ND 
ACC~S :::,.1-..5~ C~~~ '!'F~ FOLLQW":"NG S:X ( 6) COt,zi.S'.::S: 

J.) NOR=--:. Jl DEG::<· • S 36 ~.Zl'cu':'~ 03 s:::c::nms -, _..,. 
~.;.. 230.22 : .:..:.'l' 

. 
2) NOR.:':. 38 n:::c;:-~--:::s 22 Y.::NUTZS 27 s:::cONDS ~-: 175.61 -::-:--;-r, 

3 ) NO?.'!'E 1.9 DEG?.Z~ 45 ~"':"~ 
, "I s:::coNns -:-, ~'T' 

;;;..r_ - i, C - " --- . , .... ~'!' 

4) NORTE 53 DEG?..:::ZS 33 Y.:!:N"u':":::S "I -_.:, s:::coNDS ~!' 53.69 : :...:.""1' 

,ORT!: 65 DEG~~S 21 Y.:.::NJ:.!.'~S 4i SZCONDS ::_i_s-r 136.64 :.=.:::'!' 

6) NOR'::-: 48 D:::G?.Z:::S 4~ ?:!~S C7 s:::c::>NDS ~,e.,. _.,.__ :l 57 .15 ~ ---· 
':'0 A ?0:1-1-::' ON !...a..-W.:: 6-5 0: SJ: ~D T?.AC: .5 5 '.!.'.::.=.NC::: DE?A?.':'!NG SA.Zu 
~:'.:..?.LY :::'.DG:::: O: ~ST!.~G ROAD ;._,-,D ACC~SS :::,_;..s~'!' C~.z..=N;:, 
.?-..!.ONG s;...::D LIN.:. c-5 0: '!?.AC: 55, soc·_,:: S 9 D:::G?..:::~ ~ 7 M:1't"u':'.:.S 4 9 
s:::::coNDS ~;sT 661.5~ ::.;.~ TO COP~'"Z?. NO. 5 0: Sr.~D ~~C":' 55, A 2 
1/2 " DZ).-~.!.~=l :?-~S CA: :!'!Oh~ ON r. 1" D!.?._M...:._.:...--. ~ON 
?!?~; T:-3NCZ .ALQNG !.1N'.:: 5-~ O? s;,~n '!'R.;C'!' 55, SuOl~ 00 DEG&~S 
Cl M::"N~l~S 46 SZCONDS ~.ST 507.SS ?2~ '!'O A ?OZN':' ON~=-=
NOR~.!.Y L.7-i.:. 0: A ?P.O?os:::~ ~DAD RIG~ 0: wAY; T.::..=.NC::: ALONG 
,....._-:- NO~T:-:Z:?..!..Y >..ND W'E.:s'.!.'.:.:.LY ";"" ~ 0: SA:D :ao?OSED ?..:Gr.'!' 0: w;._y 
":"""~ FOL:..O~NG ::::::G~l.:..:.N (lo) COC:5'ES: 

2 ) 21 S . 3 O ?'E:::::' ;....:,ONG T:-:.:: A..~C 0: .A Cu.--:v:: '!'O ~ :U:?T w:::-: n 
;:_;n:-us o: l4e. 4 l ~::::T, T:-:z c-:o:w o? i-i::!C~ 3:;:;._~s NOR:':-: 60 
D:::G~:::::s 11 :!'!=~~-~s l] S!CONDS ~~s~ 199.l5 ~~-:-?" 

~ ) 29. 7J ?":=:~'!' ;. r DNG T"S -~~c 0: A ct~v3 '!'O '::-:.3 RI G=!' riI7..:: A 
-Ds 0: 22.ll :~:::T , ~::_:. C:~O~D 0: ~:::c:-: 3~~.?S s oc ~~ o0 D~G?2~5 

~ ~ • .2Y-u""':'~S 57 S~CON"I)S W~S~ 29.5 7 ?~~~ 

j ?2c2 ,., cf 111 



• • 

6 ) 94. ~SI I.:.Z'!' J..LONG '.!.'.::Z ;._~c 0: 'A C..,r,v'"E TO T::Z ~?:' i-w":':'~ 'A 
RAD~OS OF 145.78 ::::~T, T:-:Z CHORD 0? WEIC~ E::::;...?.s soc::~ 7l 
DEG::E~S 44 ~NUTES 17 SECONDS WEST 93.32 ~T 

a) 66. 02 :-~ ]...!.ONG T.~ ;._~c 0: A CGV'E TO ~ ; -::--::-..,, w-:"'T'"'..: :;.. 

?..A.D!US or 2 4;. 14 FEET, TE::: c:-:o:R!J o:: W::.-:rc:-: 5~..?.s sou_~ 4 5 
DEG~~~s 2~ M!N'UTES 03 SECONDS ~-ZST E5.S2 ?:::~T 

- -7 o-G---s ·- M-~'l':"T"T""!'"~ SJ s-coN~s ~.,....~~ 6~ o· -=-=-~~ 9) SOtr!'r. ., ..:. ·.:'..:..:. .. .:> •• .:.~, v ~ .:...i .:. .... ".:.- _ - • ... • -- .. 

lo) 51 • 6 S ?'.=:::;'! A:,ONG '!;-...:. ;..Re 0: A ~v-::: '!'O T:=..:. R.!G::.'"':' 'i-i..:.. T:-: ?. 
:V..DITIS O? 73. 43 :.::~, '!':-:Z CEOR!l 0: l-1"":~!C;: 5.::_:._-=t5 SOCJ~ SS D!:G?~S 
JO ¥..INU".!".::S 27 s:::coNDS WZST 50.81 ::;.:;.~ 

Ll) SOGT:~ 78 DEG:U:ES 15 Y~..:.S 01 SECONDS WEST 20.59 :":::::::-:' 

.2) 122.a~ :.:..:.'!' J...I.ONG '.!.'.:-...:. ~-"=tC 0: A c.., .... :v.:. TO '!'.::..:. I.2:?:' w-Z~ ;.. 
~.DI"C'S 0: J.55. 44 :"::::£'!', '!'.::..:. C:O?..D 0: w::::::::c.-=: ::::.A.?.S SOu-0:-:: 55 
J:;.-:-;:,~5 36 :!-f":"'N1.,_E$ 36 SECONDS i-1-ZS'I' ll:.57 :.:..:.1' 

( 
.Jr SOC~= 32 DEG?~S 5o ~NOT.:.S 11 SECON~S ~-ZS~ 4o . 4B ~ .:..:,. _ 

,. 
-4) lJ. 6. 3 0 :.:..:.--:!' ;..:.ONG '.:.'.::..:. .A?.C 0: J.. ~~ ':O '.!..::...:. 
.AD!US o:: 2 a 5. 5 o : .:..:.. .:.', '!.:-...:. C:-:O?.D o:: wr.~C:-: :S:::J...?.s 
<EG:r:·-;::,s 53 M:::N1.." 1l'~ 07 SECONDS W.:.ST ll.5.50 FZ.:..--r 

'j-,.. ........ 
... ~'-7::...:. w-..... .: r. 

SO'C.:'":'"= 72 

6) l.l.2 . 5 0 :.:..:.--r }..:.ONG '.!..::..:. )..?..C O? J.. Gm v.:. '!'O '!.':...:. LE:':' i'i=:':-: ."!. 
AD!"US O? 5/3. 00 :':::E':', '1':-..:. C:-:O?.D 0: w'::!CE ::~"!..?.S 501..,;.~ 55 
EG:-"'2ZS 37 M::~u~.:.S 50 S~CONDS WEST l.12.J2 F:::ZT 

7) 57. 02 ?~~ ).:.ONG T::~ ]...?..C 0: A C'O?.V.:. ':'O .:...:. :RIG!:!' w:::~ _; 
~.DiuS 0: :a 9. ~ 6 :':::~'!, ::-:z C:ORD 0: wr.!C-: :s::;...?.s SO'C.:7~ 05 
~G~~~s 52 ~:~-u:.:.s 57 S~CONDS w:~.ST 56.Sl :.:..:.r 

J A L::N::: 3:::-:'"'w'"E:::N CO~~:::~ NO. 4 0: T?.J:.C!' 55 ~.ND CO?~'E~ NO. 4 0? 
~;cT 60, ::-~c== .;:.ONG s;,,::i :::..::~r::: :S.:..!.'~.:.~ CO~lE':l NO. 4 0: '!'?-!.c:' 
5 A.ND CO?~.:...~ NO. 4 0: '!?.ACJ: 60, NOR~ 69 D~G:'~S So ~.ili'C'!'ZS Oo 
~CONDS w-:::ST 266.72 ::..:.-::::, '!':-:.~CZ A.LONG s.;z:i L:N.:. :a:::Tw:.::::N COR..l-c-Z~ 
). 4 0: '!?_;er 60 ~-'1'7D CO?_"I-~ NO. 6 0: '!'?-~.c 55, NOR'!':-: 00 
:r--:-:--zs 07 .!-'"_:1-1-J''!':::S ll S".::GJNCS V.S:' 53 6. 6:!.. .:-Z::::' :10 ..-:-- ?OIN':' O? 

:ENG. 

ge ' .. 



------ . - - - . 
- ► 

A S::-:R!? 0: LA.ND :OR A U'!':Ll::'Y ~.S~, :I::'~ ( 50) ~-r :N 
'1,;ID':'E, EZ:ING ':'"'l'l'~TY-:!~ ( 25 ) ~T ON :::AC~ SIDE 0: A CT:~"l'.!.',:_-'.L_ti.=.. 
E:::ING MO.iE PA..~TIGJLA..~Y DE..SG..1:5ED AS ?GI.LOWS: 

EEG!NNZNG AT A ?OINT ON s;.,zn :t.=N.:: 5-6 0: S;.ID ':':'...ACT 55, F?.OM 
WE!CE co~ NO. 5 OF SA!D '13.ACT 55 =~.?5 SOC':'"~ 89 DEG?~S 4; 
MINUT-:S 49 s:::coNDS EAST 464.92 :.:..:.~, '!':~CE SOC~= 51 o:::c;:-~s 40 
MIN01~S ~J S~CONDS WZST 1028.66 ~:::::' '.!'O ~POINTON~~~ 
C::N'l'.:.."RT,7N;; OF 'I:;.~ ?~v!OUSLY DESC?..1:3:SD 50 FOO'.!' i-i~D::: JI.CC-.=.5S 
E).5~ :ROM w-~!CE SA!D CORN!:~ NO. 6 OE' '1':"-v.C' 55 E~-=ts NOR':'"":: 
07 DEc;-'~S 37 M:N'(.;1~ 03 SECONDS W~T 649.75 :"=:~. 

AN EAS~"'T· FOR D-~T:~N FILL DE?OS:T ~.:K::Ji.. BE!NG MOR!: 
?>-~T!Cu..:..A--:..l.Y DESC?.IEED AS FOLLOWS: 

EZGINNZNG AT A ?O!NT EEING SAID co~ NO. 4 or T?..i\CT 60, 
z:~~ NO~T".!: 00 D~G?:::~S 07 ¥..INU'r~ 11 S~CONDS :::AST 2S0.20 :..:..:..-:' 
r-.:..ONG s;. -:-n !.I~ E.:.!'w~ COR..'111.-:...!{ NO. 4 0: T:"~C'!' 6 0 AND COP.NZ3. 
t-10. 6 0: '!:t~CT 55; T.:-..zN~ NOR!':: 63 D:::G~F-=-s 40 ~.=.S 27 
5ZCONDS :::.?\ST 200.S4 :.::..=.~; ~.::...:.NCZ SOOT~ Sl DEG?.:::ZS 28 M::h"U".:'~S 55 
:~r~NDS :::)...S~ 159.70 :.=..=.~ TO r:-:::: w~s~~-..LY ~DGE 0: A ?RO?OS~D 
. : o: w7-.~, TE::N~ ;...LONG SAID ?Ro?cs:::o ? -:" GE'! o:: w;..Y :::AS~ 
::':~ :OU..Ow--niG '!:-~ ( J ) CO'Ci.:lSZ:S: 

~) 112.so :.:..:.~ Al.ONG =~ ;._~c 0: A C"..i:i.il~ TO :·--~ ::Z:!' tii~T= A 
t.~res 0: 573.00 :~-, '.!..-...:. C:-:ORD OF WE!C= :::::;..?5 SOC'.!.~ 55 
)~e:3-:--:-5 : 7 ~.:.S 5 0 S'!CONDS 'h~S'!' ll2 • : 2 :::::..:,7 

: ) 57. 02 :.:.;.-r' r...LONG 'l=.;. },3C 0: A c.:i'R~ TO ~..z ?.IG.c.'.!.' WITE A 
!...~IuS 0: l Z~.46 : .=..=.'! .. .' , '.!.'.:-...:. C=O?.D OF i-t'"E!C::: E:::J:...?.5 SOOT:-: 05 
>~G?~ZS 52 ¥~S 57 SZCON'DS W~ST 56.8 1 ~T 

·o ":=.3 s;..:n :.:::::N.:. 3.:..-:W.:..- !II' CO?_llf.::R NO. 4 0: '!'?-~C"'.:' :5 )_~D CORN-~ 
C. 4 0: '!?~CT 60, T"'.:-~~c~ ~..LONG s~:D T-:"~~ NO~'!':-: 89 D~G::U:~S 5S 
=mn~s OS SZCON~S w.=..S7 256.72 :FZ:::T TO~.:-...:. ?O~N'!' 0: 3ZGINN~NG. 
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w · '=!OCNDAR Y DESCRIPTION 

A P:!!c!l of u.nri loc:i.ted in Trac:s 55, 60 md 6i in Se::::ions 13 and 14-, Town.ship 5 Soucti. 
R,.m!!e 83 WeSr. of the Siuh · Princ:p21 Metidi~. i=-,~ie Councy, Colorado, ac::miim: to the 
inde;~de::ii Resurvey the:e~f a.s approved 20 June 1~:~ by c:he U.S. Surteyor G~::.e:--d.-~ich ail 
i;d..ngs conc:ti.ned he!"e.:.n based upon N89°59'01"E be~wee::i Corne:s No. d and 3 of said Trac: 
61, boch being foUI:d 2-1/2 incb. ciiame~: G.LO. br~ ~p rnonume:m on 1 incJ riime~r iron 
pipes, being more pa.rtici..12.rly described as follows: 

BeZ!.!llllil~ ac Corner No. 5 of said Trac: 61, a fotmd 2-1/2 incb. G.L.O. bru.s ~n wonumem on 
1 ~c:i ir;n oioe; thence along the Lt-5 line of said Tr~: 61 N00°07' 19"W, 1310.05 fee~ to said 
Corner No. 4 of Trac~ 61; thence along che 3-4 !ine of said Trac: 61 N89° 59'02"E, 1306.43 f~~ 
to said Corne: No. 3 of Tract 61; the:ice along the 2-3 line of said Tr~ 61 N00°03'42"E, 
l.3li.97 fee~ to Corner No. 2 of Tr~: 61, a 2-1/1 inch G.LO. brass ~p monume::it on 1 inc:i 
iron oioe; thC!lC! NS9°58'23"E, 1306.25 fee: to Corner No. 1 of Tnc: 61, bein!? also Cor.1er 
No. 4 of Tru:t 60, a 2-1/1 incb. G.LO. br~· cp rnoamnem on 1 ioc=i iron pipe; thenc:, on a 
line be~ee!l Corner No. l of Traa 61 and Corner No. 6 of Trac: 55, N00°08'21 "E, 5:6.38 
feet to a Paine on the ce!lter!ine of a fifty (50) foot wide Ac:::ss 1= .. se:ne:it from whicJ. Coner 
No. 6 of Traa 55, a 2-1/2 inch G.L.O. brass ~p monume:n on 1 inch iron pipe, bem 
N00°08'21 "E, 783.49 feet; thence departing said line betwee!l Corner No. 1 of Tra..c: 61 il!ld 
Corner No. 6 of Tract 55 a!ld along szid Access E::semenc ce!lerline che following si."t (6) 

~u..-ses: 

1) N31 °36'03"E, 230.73 feet; 
2) N38°22'27"E, 175.61 fee:; 
3) Nl9°45'1l"E, 119.74 feet; 
-i) N53°33'15"E, 58.69 fee:; 
5) N65°21 '47"E, 136.8~ feet; 
6) N48 ° .. ~ 'OT'E, 367 .15 fee:; to 2. Point on the 5-6 line of Tract 55 from whicJ. 

Corner No. 6 of said Trac~ 55 bem N89:i47'49"W 716.07 feet; 

thence de:iar..fu!! said Ac::ess &semem ce::icer!ine and alon!? 52..id 5-6 be of T:::.c: 55 . - -
S39°47'49"E, 661.59 feet to Corner No. 5 of Tract 55, being al.so Coraer No 2 of Trac~ 60, 
a 2-1/2 inch G.L.O. brass cap monument on l inc!i i.roo. pipe; thence along the 1-2 li:'le oi s~ci 
Tract 60 N89°50' l0"E, 886.80 feet to a Point on the E. B. Subciiv;_.sion boundary as ~orded 
in Book 525 2.t Page 637 of the .Ea:le Councy Re:::ords from which Corne: No. 1 of said Ti2.C~ 

60, a 2-1/2 inch G.LO. brass cap monl!I!le:n on 1 inc!J. iron pipe, bem N89° 50' l0"E, 492.76 
fee:; Llience depar\!!1g s2id 1-2 line of Tn~ct 60 and along said E. B. Subdivision boundary the 
following thineen (l;) courses: 

I) S05°36'15"W, 509.77 fee~; 
2) S02°.1T21 "W, 215.85 feet; 
3) S09°42'!5"W, 161.40 feet; 
.1) S05°20'33 "E, 289 .79 fee!; 
5) S01°:30 '45 "W, 2.22.15 feer; 
6) Sl8°49'33 "E, 13.d..23 feet; 
7) S09°21'09"E, 221.97 feet; 

Page I oi 2 



3) 
9) 
10) 
11} 
12) 
13) 

S1 •0 'il' __ ,,T" ·- 00 • -~ _ .;J :c.. . JJ. 1ee!: 
S08°:29'33"E, 279.92 feet; 
s1s 0 1+'39"E. 15: .o 1 fee~ 
s05:i-1-:'39"E, ISJ..58 feet: 
SZ1°!.6'5l"E, 11:.7.!. fc!t; 
,-· 0 ·0·-1"- -o -- - . . ..,J..; ) .:i t., , . ..:..; ree~; to a pcun on me 
bd descibed in Book 631 ar Page 3:1; 

bounau:, of char ce:-..tin P~ce! of 

the!l.ce cie~ari.:.n~ stid E. B. Subdivision bound.a.rv :md :llon~ s2.id P?:c!! boundai-,, the follo,;;,ua 
• - J - # = 

r.e:i (10) courses: 

1) 
2) 

j) 

-4) 
5) 
6) 
7) 

8) 
9) 

10) 

S36°09'09"W, 21.15 f~~ 
61.48 feet alon!? the m: of a non-tan!?e::u cune co the left havin!? a racius of - - -
175.00 feer., the chord of whicb. bem S5i 0 09'05"E, 61.17 fee~ 
S6i 0 12' 58"E, 34.06 feet; 
S06°26'4-l"E, 18 . .21 fee~ 
N88°00'3i"E, j7.95 fee~ 
S6i 0 l2' 58"E, 17.86 fee:; 
lli.27 f~t along the.arc of a C'JIVe to the right having a radius of 125.00 feet, 
the c~ord of which be!t.--s S-40°20'23"E, 113.02 fee:; 
S13°17'48"E, 109.62 fee!; 
15.10 feet along the :u-c of a C'..lrve to the left having a radius of 175.00 fee~ the 
cb.ord of which be.?..rs Sl5°56'07"E, 15.10 feet; 
S18°24-'26"E, 15.05 f~t to a Point on the 8-1 li!!.e of Tract 60 from whic:i 
C ,.7 1 . . . T 60 b ' 700°00'00"W ?o-o • ., - . orae: !'10. or saia rac~ em !'1 , _,., .)_ reet; 

the:1ce a!oI!g Sc.id 1-8 line of Trac~ 60 soocoo'OO"E, 1027.59 feet to Corne!' No. 8 of Trac: 60, 
a 1-1/2 i.nc.:i G.L.O. brass ~p momm1e:::i.t on 1 incb. L.-on pipe, being al.so a Point on tile Nori.h 
line of E.!:'e Mounr:in R.anc:i: rhe:i.C! along the 7-8 line of Trace 60, being also the Nor".h line 
of a!?!e Mountain R.:!.och, S89;)53'02"W, 1380.10 fee~ co Coraer No. 7 of Tract 60, bein~ tlso - -
Corae!' No. 6 of Tract 61. a 2-1/2 inc~ G.L.O. bru:s cap monume!'lc on 1 inch iron pipe; 
the.:1ce 2.1ong the 5-6 li.'le of Tr::.ct 61 and contincing along said Nor~ line of 8-~'e Moum~i..11 
R.:nc:i N89°.!S'50"W, j991.69 fe:~ to Ca□e: No. 5 of said Tract 61, th.e Point of Begin.r.1,g. 

Said pa:ce! concai.1.S 333 . 871 ac:-e.s, more or less. 



WELL LOCATIONS - STAG GULOi WELL FIELD 

APPROXIMATE BEARING & DISTANCE FROM CORNER NO, 3 OF TRACT 48 

WEll 
NO. BEARING DISTANCE 3r - , SECTTON 

1 N 21 ·oo•E 1,980 I NWSE 9 
2 N 28·00 1E ·- 1,610 I NWSE 9 
... .N 37°30 1E 3,050' NESE 9 ~ 

4 N 39"45'E 2,ns• NESE 9 
5 N 49"05 1 E 2,3Q5' NESE 9 
6 N 51°15 1 E 2,155 • NESE 9 
7 N S3·45 1 E 3,510 I NWSW 10 
8 N 59·25 1E 3,060 I NWSW 10 
9 N 60·00 1E 1,590 1 SESE 9 

10 N 81 •20 1E 2,725' swsw 10 
11 N 84°l0 1E 2,055 1 SE SE 9 
12 N 87·45 1 E 1,150' SE SE 9 
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APPROXIMATE BEARING & DISTANCE FROM CORNER NO. 3 OF TRACT 55 
.. .. ,._ · - - -

'WELL 
NO. BEARING DISTANCE 

' - 3r 
SECTION 

13 N 71 ·00'W 2,220' NENE 15 
14 N 70•CX)'W 1,940 I NWNW 14 
15 N 65·15 1 W 1,625' NWNW 14 
16 N 56·25 1 W 1,980 I NWNW 14 
17 N 53•35,w 2.;1.75' NWNW 14 
18 N 45•45,w 1,880 I NWNW 14 
19 N 44·05 1 W 2,370 1 SWSW 11 
20 N 42·4S•W 2,9l5 I SWSW 11 
21 N 42•00 1 W 1.145' NWNW 14 
22 N 37·05 1 W 1,490 I NWNW 14 
23 N 3o•so•w 2,345, SWSW 11 
24 N 29·20 1 W 1,815 1 swsw 11 
25 N22•00•W 800 1 NENW 14 
26 N 7•'2.S•W 1,185 1 NENW 14 
27 N 2·20 1 W 1,640' SESW 11 
28 N S·05 1 E 665 I NENW 14 
29 N 11 ·30 1 E 400, NENW 14 
30 N 13·15 1 E 1.805 I SESW 11 
31 N.19·00 1 E 2,080 1 SWSE 11 
32 N 35·25 1E 1,740 I SWSE 11 
33 N 40·05 1E 810 1 NENW 14 
34 N49·45 1 E 1.335 I NWNE 14 
35 N 52•36 1 E 545, NENW 14 
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STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

I NIA NIA 

2 NIA NIA 

3 NIA NIA 

4 NIA NIA 

5 NIA NIA 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040587-F NW ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

1,860 feet from South section line, 
1,750 feet from East section line 

040588-F NW ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

1,430 feet from South section line, 
I, 700 feet from East section line 

040589-F NE¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

2,450 feet from South section line, 
640 feet from East section line 

040590-F NE ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

2,170 feet from South section line, 
710 feet from East section line 

040591-F NE ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

1,540 feet from South section line, 
730 feet from East section line 

Page 1 of 10 

PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 

Approved January 23, 1992 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 

Approved January 23, 1992 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 l -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

6 NIA NIA 

7 NIA NIA 

8 NIA NIA 

9 NIA NIA 

10 NIA NIA 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040592-F NE¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

I ,380 feet from South section line, 
780 feet from East section line 

040593-F NW¼ SW ¼, Section IO, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

2,150 feet from South section line, 
340 feet from West section line 

040594-F NW¼ SW ¼, Section IO, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

1,620 feet from South section line, 
160 feet from West section line 

040595-F SE ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

830 feet from South section line, 
I ,080 feet from East section line 

040596-F SW¼ SW ¼, Section IO, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

480 feet from South section line, 
250 feet from West section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, I 992 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under9I-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, I 992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

II NIA NIA 

12 NIA NIA 

13 NIA NIA 

14 NIA Fenno Test/ 
(Fenno Well Monitor Well 

No. I) No. I 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Statz Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040597-F SE ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

260 feet from South section line, 
390 feet from East section line 

040598-F SE ¼ SE ¼, Section 9, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

80 feet from South section line, 
I ,290 feet from East section line 

040599-F NE ¼ NE ¼, Section 15, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

820 feet from North section line, 
90 feet from East section line 

040600-F NW¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
(91-CW-077) Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

880 feet from North section line, 
180 feet from West section line 

043969-F NW ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
(TSSP) Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

880 feet from North section line, 
180 feet from West section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, I 992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I-CW-077 

Extended to January 23, I 994 - Now Expired 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
50 gpm maximum pumping rate 

58.73 acre-feet average combined annual 
amount diverted from Fenno Wells Nos. I, 2 
3, 6 and 7, limited to use of Cordillera Lodge 
and existing residential development on east 
side of Squaw Creek. 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

15 NIA NIA 

16 NIA NIA 

17 NIA NIA 

18 NIA NIA 

19 NIA NIA 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae: Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040601-F NW ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

870 feet from North section line, 
530 feet from West section line 

040602-F NW¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

450 feet from North section line, 
360 feet from West section line 

040603-F NW¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

200 feet from North section line, 
190 feet from West section line 

040604-F NW¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

220 feet from North section line, 
670 feet from West section line 

040605-F SW ¼ SW ¼, Section 11, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6"' P.M. 

I 60 feet from South section line, 
380 feet from West section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, I 992 
under 9 J -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 J -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual amount 
for decreed well field 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

20 NIA NIA 

21 NIA NIA 

22 NIA NIA 

23 NIA NIA 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040606-F SW ¼ SW ¼, Section 11, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

600 feet from South section line, 
40 feet from West section line 

040607-F NW ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

680 feet from North section line, 
1,250 feet from West section line 

040608-F NW ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

350 feet from North section line, 
I, 120 feet from West section line 

040609-F SW ¼ SW ¼, Section 11, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

4 70 feet from South section line, 
830 feet from West section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, 1992 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decreed wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, I 992 
under 9 J -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 I -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 9 J -CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed wellfield 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

24 NIA Fenno Test/ 
(Fenno Well Monitor Well 

No. 2) No.2 

25 NIA NIA 

26 NIA NIA 

27 NIA NIA 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040610-F SW ¼ SW ¼, Section I I, 
(91-CW- Township 5 South, 

077) Range 83 West 6th P.M. 

50 feet from South section line, 
1,130 feet from West section line 

043968-F SW¼ SW¼, Section I I, 
(TSSP) Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

50 feet from South section line, 
1,130 feet from West section line 

040611-F NE¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

800 feet from North section line, 
1,700 feet from West section line 

040612-F NE ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

350 feet from North section line, 
1,850 feet from West section line 

040621-F SE ¼ SW ¼, Section I I, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

I IO feet from South section line, 
1,950 feet from West section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, I 992 under 9 I -
CW-077 (not expired) 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
August 30, I 994 issued for operation 
underTSSP 

50 gpm maximum pumping rate 

58.73 acre-feet average combined annual 
amount for Fenno Wells Nos. I, 2, 3, 6 
and 7, limited to use of Cordillera Lodge and 
existing development on east side of 
Squaw Creek. 
Approved January 23, I 992 under 9 I -
CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, I 992 under 9 I-
CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed wellfield 
Approved January 23, 1992 under 91-
CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed wellfield 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

28 NIA NIA 

29 NIA NIA 
(Fenno Well 

Nu. 3) 

30 NIA NIA 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

040620-F NE¼ NW¼, Section 14, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

860 feet from North section line, 
2,060 feet from West section line 

040619-F NE ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
(91-CW- Township 5 South, 

077) Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

1,130 feet from North section line, 
2,080 feet from West section line 

045410-F NE¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
(TSSP) Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

1,130 feet from North section line, 
2,080 feet from West section line 

040618-F SE ¼ SW ¼, Section 11, 
Township 5 South, 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

240 feet from South section line, 
2,430 feet from West section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, 1992 under 91-
CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
Approved January 23, I 992 under 91-
CW-077 (not expired) 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decree wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
Approved under TSSP August 29, 1995 

50 gpm maximum pumping rate 

58.73 acre-feet average combined annual 
amount diverted for Fenno Wells Nos. I, 
2, 3, 6 and 7, limited to use of Cordillera 
Lodge and existing residential 
development on east side of Squaw 
Creek. 
Approved January 23, 1992 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decreed wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field. 



EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Sta2 Gulch Wellfield -
STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION PERMITTED AMOUNT 

WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS PERMIT NO. 

31 NIA NIA 040617-F SW ¼ SE ¼, Section 11, Approved January 23, 1992 
Township 5 South, under 9 I -CW-077 
Range 83 West, 6 th P.M. 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
460 feet from South section line, wellfield 
2,710 feet from West section line 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 

32 NIA NIA 040616-F SW ¼ SE ¼, Section 11, Approved January 23, 1992 
Township 5 South, under 91-CW-077 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M . 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
IO feet from South section line, well field 
3,020 feet from West section line 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 

33 NIA NIA 040615-F NE 1/4 NW ¼, Section 14, Approved January 23, 1992 
Township 5 South, under 91-CW-077 
Range 83 West, 6 th P.M. 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
900 feet from North section line, wellfield 
2,530 feet from West section line 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 

34 NIA NIA 040614-F NW¼ NE¼, Section 14, Approved January 23, 1992 
Township 5 South, under 91-CW-077 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
640 feet from North section line, well field 
3,030 feet from West section line 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 

35 NIA NIA 040613-F NE¼ NW ¼, Section 14, Approved January 23, 1992 
Township 5 South, under 91-CW-077 
Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for decreed 
I, I 80 feet from North section line, wellfield 
2,430 feet from West section line 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 
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STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

Fenno Well NIA NIA 
No.4 

Fenno Well NIA NIA 
No. 5 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

042227-F, NW¼ NE¼, Section 15, 
045411-F Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 61h P.M. 

I 00 feet from North section line, 
1,480 feet from East section line 

045412-F NE ¼ NE ¼, Section 15, 
042226-F Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 61h P.M. 

1,020 feet from North section line, 
600 feet from East section line 
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PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved January 23, I 992 under 9 I -
CW-077, 
2nd pennit approved August 29, 1997 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decreed wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field. 

Approved August 29, 1995 under 91-
CW-077 (not expired) 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decreed wellfield 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field. 



STAG GULCH REPLACES TEST/MONITOR 
WELL NO. WELL NO. WELLS 

fenno Well NIA NIA 
No.6 

fenno Well NIA NIA 
No. 7 

EXHIBITD 
WELL PERMIT INFORMATION 

Stae: Gulch Wellfield 
WELL LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PERMIT NO. 

045413-f SE¼ NE¼, Section 15, 
042225-f Township 5 South, 

Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

2,040 feet from North section line, 
380 feet from East section line 

042224-f SW ¼ NW ¼, Section 14, 
043967-f Township 5 South, 
056606-f Range 83 West, 6th P.M. 

2,275 feet from North section line, 
730 feet from West section line 

Page 10 oflO 

PERMITTED AMOUNT 

Approved August 29, 1995 
under 91-CW-077 

450 gpm maximum pumping rate for 
decreed well field 

758.59 acre-feet total average annual 
amount for decreed well field 

Approved April 9, 1993 
under 9 I -CW-077 

50 gpm maximum pumping rate 

44.37 acre-feet combined average annual 
amount for fenno Wells 
Nos. 4, 5, 6 and 7 

56606-f-Average annual 
amount shall not exceed 724.5 
AF for combined wells. 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE 
CORDILLERA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

SERVICE AREA 

1. The Cordillera Subdivision, as described in the folJowing documents: 

ABOS91 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g. 

h. 

), 

J. 

k. 

m. 

n. 

o. 

p. 

q. 

r. 

s. 

t. 

Plat recorded on September 24, 1987 at Reception No. 366908 of the Eag]e 
County records. 
Plat recorded on September 28, 1987 at Reception No. 367126 of the Eagle 
County records. 
Plat recorded on August 29, 1988 at Reception No. 386394 of the Eagle County 
records: 
Plat recorded on December 14, 1989 at Reception No. 415921 of the Eagle 
County records. 
Plat recorded on January 9, 1990 at R eccption No. 417067 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded ~n August 20, l 990 at Ree:eption No. 432197 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on September 20, 1990 at Reception No. 434438 of the Eagle 
County records. 
Plat recorded on June 25, 1991 at Reception No. 452979 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on June 26, 1991 at Reception No. 453088 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on August 30, 1991 at Reception No. 457337 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on December 18, 1991 at Receptfon No. 465383 of the Eagle 
County records. · 
P)at recorded on December 23, 1991 at Reception NC'. 465613 of the Eagle 
County records. 
Plat recorded on May l 2, 1992 at Reception No. 4"75955 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on November 3, 1992 at Reception No. 489255 oftbe Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on April 27, l 993 at Reception No. 503520 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on June 24, 1993 at Reception No. 508384 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on August 10, 1993 at Reception No. 512092 ofthe Eagle County 
records. · 
Plat recorded on August 31, 1993 at Reception No. 51437-5 of the Eag]e County 
records. 
Plat recorded on November J, 1993 at Reception No. 51966 I of the Eagle CoW1ty 
records. 
Plat recorded on November 9, 1993 at Reception No. 520513 of the Eagle County 
records. 
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u. 

v. 

w. 

X. 

y. 

z. 

aa. 

bb. 

cc. 

dd. 

ee. 

ff. 

gg. 

hh. 

ii. 

jj. 

kk. 

mm. 

nn. 

00. 

pp. 

qq. 

Plat recorded on January 7, 1994 at Reception No. 525~86 of the ·Eagle County 
records. 
P1at recorded on January 18, 1994 at Reception No. 526322 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on February 15, 1994 at Reception No. 528656 of the F.agle Cowity 
records. 
Plat recorded on March 3, 1994 at Reception No. 529959 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on March 17, 19.94 at Reception No. 531090 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on May 20, 1994 at Reception No. 536909 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on June 8, 1994 at Reception No. 538277 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on July 28, 1994 at Reception No. 542410 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on August 19, 1994 at Reception NQ. 544243 of the Eagle County 
records . 

. Plat recora'ed on September 6, 1994 at Reception No. 545363 of the Eagle County · 
records. 
Plat recorded on September 23, 1994 at Reception No. 546917 of the Eagle 
County records. 
Plat recorded on October J 3, 1994 at Reception No. 548534 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on·October 14, 1994 at Reception .No. 548650 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on October J 8, 1994 at Reception No. 548878 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on October 24, 1994 at Reception No. 549381 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on November 2, 1994 at Reception No. 550069 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on November 15, 1994 at Reception No. 551083 of the Eagle 
County records .. 
Plat recorded on November 21, 1994 at Reception No. 551596 of the Eagle 
County records. 
Plat recorded on July 18, 1995 at Recept1on No. 567528 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on July 19, 1995 at Reception No. 567590 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on .February 21, 1996 at Reception No. 584415 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on February 29, 1996 at Reception No. 584915 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on May 1, 1996 at Reception No. 589493 of the Eagle County 
records. 
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AB0591 

rr. Plat recorded on May 1, 1996 at Reception No. 589494.ofthe Eagle Cowity 
records. 

ss. Plat recorded on May 7, 1996 at Reception No. 589898 of the Eagle Cowty 
records. 

tt. Plat recorded on May 7, 1996 at Reception No. 589902 of the Eagle County 
records. 

uu. Plat recorded on June 6, 1996 at Reception Nq. 592357 of the Eagle Cowity 
records. 

vv. Plat recorded on June 20, 1996 at Reception No. 59403 7 of the Eagle County 
records. . · 

ww. Plat recorded on July 2, 1996 at Reception No. 594832 of the Eag]e County 
records. 

xx. P)at recorded on July 8, 1996 at ~eception No. 595240 of the Eagle Cowity 
records. 

yy. Plat recorded on July 30, 1996 at Reception No. 597179 of the Eagle County 
records. 

zz. Plat recorded on September 19, 1996 at Reception No. 601782 of the Eagle 
County records. 

aaa. PJat recorded on November 12, 1996 at Reception No. 607244 of the Eagle 
County records. 

bbb. Plat recorded on December 17, 1996 at Reception No. 610061 of the Eagle 
County records. 

ccc. Plat recorded on Apn1 3, 1997 at Reception No. 618749 of the Eagle County 
records. 

ddd. Plat recorded on June 9, 1997 at Reception No. 624874 of the Eagle County 
records. 

eee. Plat recorded on June 9, 1997 at Reception No. 624875 of the Eagle County 
records. 

fff. Plat recorded on June 9, 1997 at Reception No. 624876 of the Eagle County 
records. 

ggg. Plat recorded on June 9, 1997 at Reception No. 624877 of the Eagle County 
records. 

hhh. Plat recorded on September 3, 1997 at Reception No. 632018 of the Eagle County 
records. 

m. Plat recorded on September 15, 1997 at Reception No. 633213 of the Eagle 
County records. 

JJJ. Plat recorded on January 21, 1998 at Reception No. 645033 of the Eagle County 
records. 

kkk. Plat recorded on February 24, 1998 at Reception No. 647956 of the Eagle County 
records. 

lll. Plat recorded on April 27, 1996 at Reception No. 653 889 of the Eagle County 
records. 

mmm. Plat recorded on May 26, 1998 at Reception No. 657679 of the Eagle County 
records. 

rum. Plat recorded on August I 0, 1998 at Reception No. 665486 of the Eagle County 
records. 
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000. 

ppp. 

qqq. 

m. 

sss. 

ttt. 

uuu. 

vvv. 

WWW. 

XXX • .. 

yyy. 

z:z:z.. 

aaaa. 

bbbb. 

cccc. 

dddd. 

eeec. 

ffff. 

gggg. 

hhhh. 

iiii. 

JJJJ. 

kkkk. 

ABOS'91 

Plat recorded on August ·10, 1998 al Reception No. 665487 of the Eag]e County 
reco.rds. 
Plat recorded on September 8, 1998 at Reception No. 668666 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on September 9, 1998 at Reception No. 668R48 of the Eag]e County 
records. · 
Plat recorded on December 7, 1998 at Reception No. 676911 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on December 7, 1998 at Reception·No. 678912 of the Eagle County 
records. \, 
Plat recorded on January 5, 1999 at Reception No. 682634 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on February l, 1999 at Reception No. 685287 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on March 9, 1999 al Reception No. 689124 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on May l 0, 1999 at Reception No. 695398 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on May J 7, 1999 at Reception No. 696220 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on May 17, 1999 at Reception No. 696221 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on June 21, 1999 at Reception No. 700419 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on June 22, 1999 at Reception No. 700501 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on June 29, 1999 at Reception No. 701251 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on August 30, 1999 at Reception No. 707093 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on September 27, 1999 at Reception No. 710045 of the Eagle 
County records. · 
Plat recorded on October 26, 1999 at Reception No. 712943 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Pl at recorded on December 6, 1999 at Reception No. 716606 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on January 3, 2000 at Reception No. 719419 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on January 3 I, 2000 at Reception No. 721641 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on February 8, 2000 at Reception No. 722159 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on February 28, 2000 at Reception No. 723595 of the Eagle County 
records. 
Plat recorded on February 28, 2000 at Reception No. 723596 of the Eagle County 
records. 
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]II]. Plat recorded on April 25, 2000 at Reception No. 728153 of the Eagle County 
records. 

mmrnm. Plat recorded on May 23, 2000 at Reception No. 730389 of the Eagle 
Co\lllty records. 

nnnn. Plat recorded on June 19, 2000 at Reception No. 732428 of the Eag]e County 
records. 

0000. Plat recorded on July 24, 2000 at Reception No. 735240 of the Eagle County 
records. 

pppp. Plat recorded on August 21, 2000 at Reception No. 737188 of the Eagle County 
records. 

qqqq. Plat recorded on September 11, 2000 at Reception No. 738817 of the Eagle 
County records. 

rrrr. Plat recorded on October 2, 2000 at Reception No. 740644 of the Eagle County 
records. 

ssss. Plat recorded on November 6, 2000 at Reception No. 743412 of the Eagle County 
records. 

tttt. Plat recorded on November 20, 2000 at Reception No. 744649 of the Eagle 
County records. 

uuuu. Plat recorded on December 5, 2000 at Reception No: 745638 of the Eagle County 
records. · 

vvvv. Plat recorded on December 19, 2000 at Reception No. 746470 of the Eagle 
County records. 

wwww. Plat recorded on December 19, 2000 at Reception No. 746472 of the Eagle 
· County records. 

xxxx. Plat recorded on January 4, 2001 at Reception. No. 747480 of the Eag)e County 
records. 

yyyy. Plat recorded on February 20, 2001 at Reception No. 750210 of the Eagle County 
records. 

'lZZZ. Plat recorded on June 19, 2001 at Reception No. 759998 of the Eagle County 
records. 

aaaaa. Plat recorded on August 29, 2001 at Reception No. 766115 of the Eagle County 
records. 

bbbbb. Plat recorded on September 11, 2001 at Reception No. 767100 of the Eagle 
County records. 

ccccc. Plat recorded on September 18, 2001 at Reception No. 767523 of the Eagle 
County records. 

ddddd. Plat recorded on September 18, 2001 at Reception No . 767537 of the Eagle 
County records. 

eeeee. Plat recorded on October 2, 2001 at Reception No. 768889 of the Eagle County 
records. 

fffff. Plat recorded on December 4, 2001 at Reception No. 777919 of the Eagle County 
records. 

ggggg.. Plat recorded on December 5, 2001 at Reception No. 778129 of the Eagle County 
records. 

hhhhh. Plat recorded on Decern~er 5, 2001 at Reception No. 778-130 of the Eagle County 
records. 
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iiili. Plat recorded on December 11, 2001 at Reception No. 779445 cifthe Eagle 
County records . 

.filjj. Plat recorded on April 23, 2002 at Reception No. 793303 of the Eagle County 
records. 

kkkkk. Plat recorded on May J 0, 2002 at Reception No. 795289 of the Eagle OJunty 
records. 

11111. Plat recorded on May 14, 2002 at Reception No. 795616 of the Eagle County 
records. 

mmmmm. Plat recorded on June 18, 2002 at Reception No. 799100 of the Eagle 
County records. 

nnnnn. Plat recorded on June 18, 2002 at Reception No. 799105 of the Eag]e County 
records. 

00000. Plat recorded on August 6, 2002 at Reception No. 803635 of the Eagle County 
records. . 

ppppp. Plat recorded on August 13, 2002 at Reception No. 804269 of the Eagle County 
records. 

qqqqq. Plat recorded on January 14, 2003 at Reception No. 820221 of the Eagle .County 
records. 

mrr. Plat recorded on June 17, 2003 at Reception No. 837072 of the EagJe County 
records. 

sssss. Plat recorded on July 22, 2003 at Reception No. 841260 of the Eagle County 
records. 

mtt. Plat recorded on August 19, 2003 at Reception No. 844550 of the Eag.le County 
records. 

uuuuu. Plat recorded on September 23, 2003 at Reception No. 850985 of the Eagle 
County records. 

vvvvv. Plat recorded on September 24, 2003 at Reception No. 851195 of the Eagle 
County records. 

wwwww. Plat recorded on January 13, 2004 at Reception No. 864906 of the Eagle 
County records. · 

2. The Territories at Cordillera, as described in the following documents, except for those 
residential parccls served by private wens as described in Paragraph 1 of this Agreement: 

a. Plat recorded on September 27, 1999 at Reception No. 710048-1999 of the Eagle 
County records. 

b. Plat recorded on November 20, 2000 at Reception No. 744649-2000 of the Eagle 
County records. 

3. The Chaveno Subdivision, as described 1n the foBowing documents: 

a. 

b. 

c. 

A.80591 

Plat recorded on February 26, 1991 at Book 548 and Page 330 as Reception No. 
444472-1991 of the Eagle County records. 
Plat recorded on January 29, 1992 at Book 571 and Page 690 as Reception No. 
467808-1992 of the Eagle County records. 
Plat recordt:d on September 24, 2003 at Reception No. 851195-2003 of the Eagle 
County records. 
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4. The Beatty Tract as descnoed in the Warranty Deed dated October 1, 1990 and recorded 
on December 31, 1990 at Book 544 and Page 898 as Reception No. 441043 of the 'Eagle 
County reco~ds. 

. . 
5. The following parcels in the East Squaw Creek P.U.D., as described in the document 

6. 

7. 

AB0S9I 

recorded on February 26, 1991 at Reception No. 444472-1991 :_ 

a. Tract B, as descnbed·in the plat recorded on January 29, 1992 at Book 571 and 
Page 680 as Reception No. 467808-1992 of the Eagle Com1ty reconis. 

b. Lot 9, as described in the plat recorded on September 24, 2003 at Reception NO. 
851195-2003 in the Eag]e County records. 

c. Tract C, as descxibed in the plat recorded on January 29, 1992 at Book 571 and 
Page 68Q as .Reception No. 467808-1992 of the Eagle County recor~s. 

The former Finkel Ranch, as described in the Deed dated May 1, 1996 and recorded on 
May J 5, 1996 at Book 694 and Page 555 as Receptfon·No. 590550 of the Eagle County 
records. 

The .. Equestrian Center'', fonnerly part of the Finkel Ranch, as described in the Warranty 
Deed dated April 25, 1997 and recorded on April 25, 1997 at Book 725 and Page 309 as 
Reception No. 621275 of the Eagle County.records. 
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